# On the Doping of Silicon Nanowires Grown by Molecular Beam Epitaxy

### Dissertation

zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades

doctor rerum naturalium (Dr. rer. nat.)

vorgelegt der

Naturwissenschaften Fakultät II

der Martin-Luther-Universität Halle-Wittenberg



## von Herrn Pratyush Das Kanungo

geb. am 29.06.1980 in Calcutta (Indien)

Gutachter:

Verteidigt am 26<sup>th</sup> November, 2010

1. PD. Dr. Hartmut Leipner

2. Prof. Dr. Ted Kamins

3. Prof. Dr. Marius Grundmann

Halle (Saale), 28<sup>th</sup> April, 2011

This thesis is dedicated to my former supervisor and director of the Max Planck Institute of Microstructure Physics, Halle, Prof. Ulrich Gösele who left for his heavenly abode in November, 2009.

## Contents

Ackno	owledgement	i
Abstra	act	iv
Prefac	e	vi
Chapte	er 1: Introduction and Literature Review	
1.1.	The Background of Nanowire (NW) Based Electronics	1
1.2.	The Vapor-Liquid-Solid (VLS) Growth of Si NWs	7
1.3.	Doping Si NWs	9
1.4.	Dopant Profiling and Doping Mechanism in Si NWs	12
1.5.	Devices with Doped Si NWs	15
1.6.	Motivation of this Work	17
Chapte	er 2: Growth, Doping and Characterization Techniques for Molecular	
Beam	Epitaxy (MBE)-Grown Silicon Nanowires	
2. 1.	The Si MBE Process	20
2. 2.	Si NW growth in MBE	21
2.3.	In-situ Doping of Si NWs in MBE	23
2.4.	Ion Implantation as an Ex-situ Doping Process	25
2.5.	Doping MBE-grown Si NWs by Ion Implantation	28
2. 6.	Electrical Transport Measurement	29
	2.6.1.Basics of Transport Properties of Semiconductors	
	2.6.2.Current-Voltage Measurement	
	2.6.3.Measurement of the NW Resistance	34
	2.6.4.Measurement of the NW Carrier Profile	35
2.7.	Morphological and Structural Characterization by	
	Electron Microscopy (SEM and TEM)	36
Chapte	er 3: Experimental Details on Nanowire Growth and Doping	
3. 1.	In-situ Doping of Si NWs in MBE	
	3.1. 1. Calibration of the Dopant Sources	
	3.1. 2. Uniform Boron Doping of Si NWs	40
	3.1. 3. Nominally Undoped Si NWs	42
	3.1.4. Modulated Boron Doping of Si NWs	42
	3.1. 5. Boron Doped Silicon Films for Mobility Measurements	43

3.2.	Removal of Gold from Si NWs	43
3.3.	Ex-situ Doping of Si NWs by Ion Implantation	45
	3.3. 1. Uniform Doping with a Single Dopant Specie	46
	3.3. 2. Formation of an Intra-NW p-n Junction	46
	3.3. 3. Post-implantation Annealing	46
3.4.	TEM Sample Preparations	48
3. 5.	Electrical Measurement Setups	51
	3.5. 1. Measurement of Hall Mobility in Doped Si wafers/films	51
	3.5. 2. Measurement of the NW Resistance	51
	3.5. 3. Measurement of NW Carrier Profiles	53
Chapte	er 4: Results and Discussions	
4.1.	Morphology of the In-situ B-doped NWs	55
4. 2.	Gold in Si NW	56
4.3.	Microstructure of the In-situ B-Doped NWs	59
4.4.	Hall Mobility in Doped Si Films	59
4. 5.	Electrical Property of the In-situ B-doped NWs	61
	4.5. 1. Resistance of the B-doped NW	61
	4.5. 2. Surface Depletion in the NWs	64
	4.5. 3. Error Analysis I	67
	4.5. 4. Carrier Profile in a Single B-doped NW	68
	4.5. 5. Error Analysis II	70
4. 6.	Uniformly Ion Implanted Si NWs	72
	4.6. 1. Microstructure of the Implanted NWs	73
	4.6. 2. Recrystallization of Fully Amorphized NWs	73
	4.6. 3. Resistance of the Uniformly Implanted NWs	81
	4.6. 4. Origin of Discrepancies in the NW Resistivity	81
	4.6. 5. Error Analysis III	
	4.6. 6. Carrier Profile in a Single P Implanted NW	85
	4.6. 7. Error Analysis IV	
4.7.	Intra-NW p-n junction	
	4.7. 1. The p-n Junction Formation	
	4.7. 2. The NW Diode	90

5.1.	Conclusions	94
5.2.	Outlook	95
Bibliog	raphy	97
Append	lix	A1
Erkläru	ng an Eides statt I	C1
Erkläru	ng an Eides statt II	C2
Curricu	lum Vitae	C3
Publica	tion List	C6

### Acknowledgement

A Ph.D. work not only requires a long term commitment of the primary contributor, but also a fullscale and sustaining support from a number of individuals tangibly or intangibly related to the work. Therefore, it is imperative on me to acknowledge the wonderful people that have whole-heartedly supported me for the last three years in completing my thesis.

First and foremost, I acknowledge the enormous support I received from my former supervisor and director of Max Planck Institute of Microstructure Physics, Halle, late Prof. Ulrich Gösele who passed away last November leaving us in a shock from which we are still recovering. Over the time I realized that not only was he an extra-ordinary scientist and a true leader, but also an amazing human being who would always reach out to people and walk that extra mile with them. His death is an irreplaceable loss for the scientific community as a whole.

Secondly, I would like to acknowledge my scientific supervisor Dr. Peter Werner who has provided me guidance almost on daily basis. I acknowledge Dr. Hartmut Leipner at the Martin Luther University, Halle who is my formal supervisor now, and has helped me in organizing my thesis.

My acknowledgement goes out to the colleagues in the group of Semiconductor Materials in Forschungszentrum, Dresden where a major part of the work was conducted. The group leader Dr. Wolfgang Skorupa has provided us generous access to the facilities, Dr. Reinhard Kögler has provided scientific consultation and taken care of the ion implantations of my silicon nanowires and Dr. Xin Ou has helped measuring spreading resistance profiles.

Back at MPI, I am grateful for the support of Ms. Sigrid Hopfe who has patiently prepared a number specimen for transmission electron microscopy (TEM) and scanning spreading resistance microscopy (SSRM), and Dr. Nikolai Zakharov, Dr. Ronald Scholz, Dr. Eckard Pippel and Dr. Herbert Hoffmeister who have helped me in doing TEM. I am thankful to Dr. Otwin Breitenstein, Dr. Jan Bauer and Dr. Marin Alexe for the helpful discussions on electrical measurements. I thank Dr. Wilfried Erfurth, Mr. Kai-Uwe Aßmann, Mr. Horst Blumtritt and Mr. Norbert Schammelt for the help with scanning electron microscope (SEM) and focused ion beam (FIB). I am really grateful to Mr. Andreas Frommfeld, Dr. Alexander Tonkikh, Dr. Kien Nguyen-Duc and Dr. Andreas Wolfsteller for their assistance in experiments with molecular beam epitaxy (MBE). I appreciate the help of Mr. Ren Bin Yang on various material processing that we have done together. I acknowledge Dr. Ousama Moutanabbir for the scientific discussions on various aspects of nanotechnology.

In addition to colleagues that are directly related to my work, I have been fortunate enough to be associated with other scientists who not only broadened my horizon of scientific understanding, but also helped me explore different aspects of human creativity. I acknowledge Dr. Pawel Buzcek, Dr. Brian Rodriguez, Dr. Seung-Mo-Lee, Dr. Corina Etz, Dr. Nicholas Sedlmayer, Dr. Somendra Parihar, Dr. Guillemin Rodary, Mr. Hossein Mirhosseini, Mr. Nitin Shingne, Ms. Claudia Kegel, Ms. Katharina Tepper and Mr. Thiago Peixoto to name a few for all the intellectually stimulating discussions we had, and the Max Planck Movie-Nights and various social gatherings that we organized together.

Last but not least, I acknowledge my family back home in India and friends allover the world. All of them have consistently given me moral support when I decided to pursue a Ph.D. leaving a job in the semiconductor industry.

"There is no place for dogma in science. The scientist is free, and must be free to ask any question, to doubt any assertion, to seek for any evidence, to correct any errors."

J. Robert Oppenheimer

### Abstract

Silicon nanowires (Si NWs) are expected to offer a viable solution for an alternative downscaling of the complementary metal oxide semiconductor (CMOS) circuits beyond Moore's law and for harvesting alternative energy. Because of their quasi one-dimensional structure and tunable semiconducting properties, they are one of the most well researched nanomaterials in recent years. Two of the most crucial requirements for using the NWs in real devices are controlled doping and a reliable carrier profiling with a nanoscale resolution. In this work, doping of Si NWs is explored in details. The NWs are grown by molecular beam epitaxy (MBE) with gold as the growth-initiator and doped both in-situ as well as ex-situ. In-situ doping was performed by co-evaporating boron and silicon in the MBE chamber while ex-situ doping was achieved by separately implanting the NWs with boron, phosphorus and arsenic ions. Along with a uniformly doped NW, an intra-NW p-n junction was also fabricated by combining modulated in-situ doping with ion implantation. Scanning electron microscope (SEM) imaging revealed that the NWs are mostly of uniform cylindrical shape implying that the dopant incorporation did not affect the morphology by altering the silicon deposition rate which is often the case in other growth techniques. Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) revealed a single-crystalline structure of the NWs, oriented in the <111> direction. A special investigation was done on the recrystallization of the NWs that were fully amorphized by heavy arsenic ion implantation. It was observed that a sequential annealing comprising of a low temperature (~550°C) first annealing and a high temperature (~950°C) second annealing is required to completely recover the single-crystalline structure of the amorphized NWs. Electrical characterization of individual NWs was performed by two different techniques. By contacting the NWs with a Pt/Ir metal tip fitted to a micro-manipulator inside an SEM, the current-voltage characteristics of the NWs was measured. This provided information about the NW resistivity, the free carrier concentration and the effect of carrier compensation by surface charges. It was observed that in-situ boron doped NWs are heavily depleted by surface charges unless the doping level is above 10<sup>18</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>. In case of implanted NWs, the boron implanted ones showed the expected resistivity indicating 100% electrical activation of the implanted dopant atoms. The phosphorus and arsenic implanted ones, however, showed 1-2 orders of magnitude higher resistivity than expected, indicating low electrical activation and/or dopant deactivation. The p-n junction NWs showed diode characteristics with an ideality factor of around 2 indicating heavy recombination through the surface states. The second electrical characterization was done by scanning spreading resistance microscopy (SSRM) across the radial and axial cross-section of a NW. The measured spreading resistance was duly converted to carrier concentration using an appropriate calibration with respect to the growth substrate of known carrier concentration. It revealed a significant segregation of electrically active dopant atoms in all cases.

### Preface

The prerequisite for any scientific literature that demonstrates a scientific phenomenon is that it must follow a logical sequence. Therefore, this thesis is divided into five chapters that maintain a smooth flow of logic, and are briefly discussed below.

The first chapter, i.e. *Introduction and Literature Review* begins with the background of silicon nanowire (Si NW) based one dimensional electronics and illustrates it with several examples. It briefly discusses the vapor-liquid-solid (VLS) growth of Si NWs and subsequently introduces the topic of doping the NWs which is the central theme of this thesis. Different doping techniques that have been used to dope Si NWs are discussed. The difficulties in controlled doping and reliable dopant profiling are pointed out and they subsequently served as the motivation for this work.

In the second chapter titled *Growth and Doping Techniques for Molecular Beam Epitaxy* (*MBE*)-*Grown Silicon Nanowires* (*Si NWs*), the physics the growth and characterization techniques used for this work are briefly discussed. It is explained how the Si NW growth by molecular beam epitaxy (MBE) is different from that by chemical vapor deposition (CVD), the most widely used growth technique for Si NWs. It is also explained how in-situ doping is achieved by co-evaporation of silicon and a dopant in the MBE chamber, and how ex-situ doping by implanting the dopants onto the Si NWs is performed. The two different electrical characterizations to asses the doping levels in the Si NWs are briefly discussed next. In the first one, the current-voltage characteristics of the whole NW is measured inside a scanning electron microscope (SEM) by contacting the NW with a micro-manipulator, while in the second one local spreading resistance of a NW is measured by scanning spreading resistance microscopy (SSRM) and it is duly converted to a carrier profile in the NWs are to be done by electron microscopy.

After setting up the stage in the first two chapters, the third chapter titled *Experimental Details* on Nanowire Growth and Doping provides the actual experimental data. The key growth parameters including those for control experiments on silicon thin films are provided along with the key doping parameters, both for the case of in-situ and implant doping. For implant doping, an additional step is to activate the dopants by a thermal annealing for which the time and temperature are provided. Some specific details on the sample preparation for transmission electron microscopy (TEM) and electrical characterizations are given and the possible sources of error are mentioned.

The fourth chapter titled *Results and Discussions* elaborates the experimental results followed by relevant discussions. The results are often explained with respect to some of the physical

models available and compared with the results of other groups working in this field. Overall, the results show that Si NWs can be doped both in-situ and ex-situ. However, the electrical properties of the doped NWs are heavily curtailed by the surface states.

The fifth and final chapter titled *Conclusions and Outlook* provides the conclusions drawn from this work. These included the results from which a definite conclusion can be drawn, as well as the results for which there still is no definite explanation. An outlook is also provided that can help the reader understand what will be the next steps to carry forward the knowledge gathered from these investigations.

In addition to the main content, the thesis also contains an Appendix that provides some supporting materials for a better understanding of some of the results. Due to a constrain on space, these materials are included in the Appendix.

## Chapter 1 Introduction and Literature Review

#### 1.1 The Background of Nanowire (NW) Based Electronics

The modern age of microelectronics started with the fabrication of the first solid-state transistor by Shockley, Bardeen and Brattain at Bell Laboratories, New Jersey in 1947 which earned them the Nobel Prize in Physics in 1956 [1.1]. Although this transistor was made of germanium, eventually silicon based field effect transistors (FETs) took over due to the superior quality of defect free silicon dioxide that can be easily grown on silicon. In 1967, a new technology known as complementary metal oxide semiconductor (CMOS) [1.2] emerged by combining the existing FETs and led to a drastic reduction of static power dissipation, high noise immunity and above all, an ease of very large scale integration (VLSI). Since the end of 1960s, the evolution of silicon based VLSI technology that is the backbone of today's microelectronics industry has followed an empirical relation [1.3] known as Moore's Law predicted by Gordon Moore, a cofounder of Intel Corp., in 1965. Moore's law states that 'the number of transistors that can be placed inexpensively on a logic circuit has doubled approximately every two years.' Figure 1.1(a) shows the evolution of transistor counts in a microprocessor-chip of personal computers from 1971 to 2010 on a semi-logarithmic scale and they generally follow the Moore's Law.

The international technology roadmap for semiconductors (ITRS) [1.4], a guideline published by the leading semiconductor manufacturers compiling the existing trends in research and development, measures the evolution of CMOS technology in terms of technology nodes. A node, expressed in nanometers, refers to the half-pitch between a set of equally wide, equally spaced lines etched into a dynamic random access memory (DRAM) chip [1.4]. From 2003 to 2009/10, the technology moved on from 90nm to 32nm node. This is depicted in Figure 1.1(b) with the corresponding cross-sections of a metal oxide semiconductor field effect transistor (MOSFET) of that node. Along with the half-pitch, the gate width of a MOSFET also decreased (37nm in 2003 and only 13nm in 2009) in successive nodes as shown in Figure 1.1(b), making the transistors smaller and smaller. It is believed [1.4 - 1.8] that aggressive geometric and equivalent scaling of the MOSFETs will keep Moore's law valid for one more decade (i.e. till 2020). But, eventually scaling will saturate as the device size will reach the atomic/molecular scale. However, even before hitting the atomic scale, dealing with the thermal effects can be challenging itself [1.4 - 1.8]. One of the possible solutions in order to overcome the roadblocks



(b) Transistor scaling in the past few years



(c)

#### Future transistors - change in architecture!



**Figure 1.1** (a) Moore's law for microprocessors of personal computers plotted on a semi-logarithmic scale. (Reprinted from Ref. 1.7) (b) Scaling of the MOSFET from 2003 to 2011 with the corresponding cross-sectional transmission electron microscopy (TEM) image. It can be seen from the images that the gate width decreased from 37nm in 2003 to 13nm in 2009. (Reprinted from Ref. 1.7) (c) Scanning electron microscope (SEM) images of future three-dimensional MOSFETs, i.e. a FinFET (Reprinted from Ref. 1.9) and a nanowire (NW)-FET (Reprinted from Ref. 1.10)

on transistor scaling is to change the architecture of the MOSFET itself, i.e. to make it vertical rather than horizontal [1.4 - 1.8] as shown in Figure 1.1(c). Both the MOSFETs shown in Figure 1.1(c) use a vertical nanostructure, an etched Fin and a grown nanowire (NW) respectively, where the current conduction channel is formed. Figure 1.2 illustrates the difference between a planar MOSFET (Figure 1.2(a)) and a vertical nanowire-FET (NW-FET) (Figure 1.2(b)) such as the one shown in Figure 1.1(c). In case of the NW-FET, the gate wraps all around the cylindrical NW which allows a better electrostatic control of the gate potential [1.8] on the electrons in the channel formed in the NW (see Figure 1.2(b)) as compared to the planar MOSFET (see Figure 1.2(a)). This reduces the short-channel effects [1.11] which are the cause of rapid heating up of the planar MOSFETs as their dimensions reduce.

In addition, theoretical calculations showed [1.12 - 1.14] that it is possible to observe new phenomena like quantum confinement of electrons and to engineer the band gap of elemental semiconductor like silicon in nanostructures once their lateral dimension is reduced below their corresponding Bohr radius. The Bohr radius of silicon is around 5 nm. The task for the experimental materials scientists and device physicists is to exploit these new properties to break the barriers set by the fundamental limits on VLSI scaling.

From another perspective, there has been a surge in the effort to find alternative energy resources given the fact that earth's reserve of fossil-fuel is going to run out within a few decades. A plethora of alternative techniques have emerged [1.15, 1.16] to generate 'clean' electricity from non-fossil fuels. Out of them, solar and thermoelectric power generations are particularly promising. However, when compared with the fossil-fuels, the unit cost for these alternative energy generations is astronomical, especially for solar cells (1 - 4 US cents/kWh for coal as compared to 25 - 50 US cents/kWh for solar cells [1.16]). This is primarily because silicon, the starting material for solar cells, is still quite expensive. Recently, theoretical calculations have shown [1.17, 1.18] that an array of silicon NWs with a core-shell p-n junction can provide higher efficiency for conversion of solar energy to electricity than planar silicon. This is schematically shown in Figure 1.3 for a core-shell Si NW array grown on a cheap transparent substrate and contacted with a transparent electrode. The radial junction between the core and shell offers a much shorter charge carrier collection path that should lead to a much higher carrier collection efficiency compared to planar silicon. Parallely, it has also been predicted [1.19] that efficient thermoelectric power generators can be built by assembling arrays of p- and n-type NWs. Since the nanostructures use only a tiny fraction of material, the production cost for these nano-power- generators can be drastically reduced. This opens up the opportunities to develop Si NWs for 'greentech' applications.



**Figure 1.2** (a) Scheme of a planar MOSFET with a horizontal flow of current through the electron channel. (b) Scheme of a vertical wrap-gated NW-FET with a vertical flow of current through the electron conduction channel

The principal approach of VLSI fabrication is the 'top-down' approach. In this approach, small features (up to tens of nm) are patterned on a substrate by different processing steps involving



**Figure 1.3** Scheme of a core-shell p-n junction Si NW array formed on a cheap transparent substrate and contacted with a transparent electrode to harvest solar energy.

lithography, etching and material deposition [1.20]. Most of the processes used in the sequence of fabrications are self-aligned so that it is easy to build up an IC by interconnecting the patterned building blocks, i.e. the devices. The top-down approach has been well-exploited since 1990s [1.21, 1.22] to fabricate vertical NWs. It is worth noting that Tada et al. [1.21] already achieved sub-10nm diameters in the NWs way back in 1998. Recently, metal assisted chemical etching of patterned or masked

silicon wafers [1.23], and deep reactive ion etching [1.24] have been used successfully to form large area arrays of Si NWs. These etched Si NWs are particularly interesting for applications in solar cells because of their superior light absorption capability [1.25 - 1.28] compared to Si wafers. Technologically they are also easy to process and are fully compatible with the VLSI technology. However, it has been observed that the etching process used to fabricate these NWs often introduce unwanted structural changes in them such as porosity and roughness [1.23, 1.29] which can adversely affect the electrical transport properties of them [1.23, 1.29].

An alternative approach to form nanostructures in general and NWs in particular is the 'bottomup' growth [1.30]. In nanotechnology, bottom-up approach means growing zero or one/quasione dimensional nanostructures from solid/gaseous materials on a solid substrate. In successive steps, the bottom-up grown nanostructures can be processed to form a single electronic device, and even can be assembled to form an integrated circuit. A hierarchical structure of bottom-up electronics with NWs is outlined in Figure 1.4. As indicated in the scheme, along with technological benefits, studying bottom-up grown NWs will also strengthen the basic understanding of solid-state physics.



**Figure 1.4** A schematic outlining key challenges (rectangles) and specific research areas (ellipses) required to enable the bottom-up approach to functional nanosystems with NWs (adapted from Ref. 1.30)

Interestingly, the first bottom-up growth of Si NWs, referred as whiskers at that time, was observed in 1964 by R. S. Wagner and W. C. Ellis [1.31] at Bell Laboratories, a year before Moore's prophetic law was formulated. However, it did not take the center stage in the materials science research until the end of 1990s when efforts to go 'beyond Moore' gathered momentum. Another important bottom-up grown nanostructure that entered the scene in the 1990s is carbon nanotube (CNT) [1.32]. Both CNT and Si NWs are being projected as 'emerging materials for 'emerging devices' by ITRS since 2005 [1.4]. However, one of the limiting factors for CNTs to be used in real devices is that the same batch of fabrication may contain metallic as well as semiconducting NTs [1.32], which is a heavy compromise with the reliability when it comes to large scale manufacturing. On the other hand, Si NWs can be grown with controlled semiconducting properties [1.30, 1.33 - 1.36], and can easily fit into the hierarchy of device (such as wrap-gated FETs illustrated in Figure 1.2(b)) and circuit fabrication. The NWs are generally cylindrical structures of diameter less than 200nm, and length from several hundred nms to a few microns, although occasionally even millimeter long NWs have been reported [1.37]. This essentially makes them quasi-one dimensional with a high surface to volume ratio. Surface studies of small dimensional Si NWs by scanning tunneling spectroscopy (STS) have already shown evidences of quantum confinement [1.38] which was theoretically predicted before [1.12 – 1.14].

In short, Si NWs are technologically important nanostructures that can offer solutions for post-CMOS microelectronics and cheap, sustainable alternative energy generation, as well as enable observation of intriguing physical phenomena in quasi-one dimension. Therefore, it is worth investigating them in details.

#### 1.2 The Vapor-Liquid-Solid (VLS) Growth of Si NWs

The principal mechanism by which the bottom-up growth of Si NWs proceeds is called the vapor-liquid-solid (VLS) mechanism [1.31, 1.39, 1.40]. Generally a metal is pre-deposited on the growth substrate to catalyze or initiate the growth once the supply of Si in solid or gaseous form starts inside the growth chamber. This metal is most often gold, but can also be Al, Pt, Ni, Pd etc. [1.35]. The basics of the VLS growth are briefly explained with the scheme in Figure 1.5. For the Au-Si phase diagram (see Figure A1.1 in Appendix 1) the Eutectic point is at 363°C at around 19% atomic percentage of Si. When a thin film of Au is deposited on a Si substrate (Figure 1.5(a)), and subsequently the substrate is heated up beyond 363°C, the Au film breaks up into Au/Si Eutectic droplets (loosely referred as Au droplets as well) as shown in Figure 1.5(b). Generally this droplet exists in liquid form, however there are debates over it [1.35]. Since they form on a Si substrate, the composition of the droplets is given by the right hand side

of the liquidus curve of the Au-Si phase diagram (see Figure A1.1 in Appendix 1), i.e. it is Sirich. When additional Si is supplied in gaseous form (Figure 1.5(c)), i.e. through a precursor gas such as silane (SiH<sub>4</sub>) in a chemical vapor deposition (CVD) chamber, the gas preferentially cracks at the droplet rather than at the Si substrate surface due to lower activation energy at the former (19 kcal/mol vs 35 kcal/mol [1.35]). This subsequently increases the Si concentration in the droplet pushing the phase equilibrium further



**Figure 1.5** Different phases of NW growth by the VLS process. (a) Au film deposition on Si (111) substrate. (b) Heating up the substrate and subsequent formation of liquid (L) Au/Si Eutectic droplets. (c) Deposition of Si vapor (V) and growth of a solid (S) Si NW. (d) A post-growth of Si NW capped with solidified Au that initiated the NW growth.

to the right hand side of the phase diagram. When the liquid droplet is supersaturated with Si, pure Si precipitates as a solid underneath the droplet (Figure 1.5(c)) in the form of a Si NW. The growth is terminated by stopping the silicon supply resulting in a cylindrical Si NW with a gold cap on top (Figure 1.5(d)). The justification of the name VLS comes from the fact that the supplied Si exists in vapor phase, the Au droplet exists in liquid phase and the resulting Si NW exists in solid phase. A comprehensive review of VLS growth can be found in Refs. 1.33 - 1.36. Two of the important aspects of VLS-grown Si NWs, i.e. diameter and crystal orientation, are briefly discussed here.

The diameter of a VLS-grown NW depends on three factors -1) the size of the Au droplet that catalyzes the growth, 2) the growth temperature that determines the solubility of Si in Au and hence the supersaturation and 3) the vapor pressure of the precursor gas. From thermodynamics, the minimum diameter of a NW can be predicted as [1.30]

$$d_{\min} = \frac{4\sigma_{LV}V_L}{RT\ln\sigma}$$
[1.1]

where  $\sigma_{LV}$  is the liquid-vapor surface free energy,  $V_L$  is the molar volume of the liquid,  $\sigma$  is the vapor phase supersaturation, R is the gas constant and T is the temperature. The smallest diameter reported for VLS-grown Si NWs is around 3nm [1.30]. It must be mentioned that the diameter distribution of Si NWs for a growth experiment may not exactly correlate to that of the original Au droplets because of Ostwald ripening [1.41], i.e. the coalescence of smaller Au droplets into bigger ones to minimize the surface energy. Thus, the original Au droplet distribution gets modified. In case of classic VLS growth [1.33 – 1.36], the NW growth velocity is determined by the rate of incorporation of Si into the liquid Au droplet and this is inversely proportional to the NW diameter with a negative slope. This implies that for a given growth time, NWs of smaller diameter are shorter than those of larger diameter.

The VLS-grown NWs are generally single-crystalline and free of extended defects like dislocations or stacking faults. Schmidt et al. [1.42] observed and argued that for larger diameter (>20nm), the preferential crystal orientation is <111> as it offers the lowest interface energy between the Au droplet and the solid NW, and for smaller diameter NW (<20nm), the preferential crystal orientation is <110> which offers the lowest surface energy. Therefore, use of a Si (111) wafer leads to an epitaxial growth of Si NWs in most cases.

The first Si NWs were grown by CVD [1.31] and the classical VLS growth model as explained above is essentially based on CVD growth. Since then a variety of techniques such as laser ablation [1.43], super-critical solution [1.44], silicon monoxide evaporation [1.45], and molecular beam epitaxy (MBE) [1.46 - 1.50] have been used to grow Si NWs.

In conclusion, VLS growth of Si NWs results in single crystalline NWs with a range of diameter distribution depending on the size of the growth catalyst droplet, temperature and vapor pressure of the precursor gas.

#### **1.3 Doping Si NWs**

Doping in semiconductor technology refers to the process of introducing foreign atoms [1.20, 1.51, 1.52] into the substitutional lattice sites in a semiconductor, and subsequently modifying its electrical properties of the host semiconductor. Dopant atoms known as acceptor or p-type dopant, accept an extra electron each from a single host atom while dopant atoms known as donors or n-type dopant, donate an extra electron each to a single host atom. This is schematically illustrated in Figure 1.6.

For a Group IV element of the periodic table like silicon, common p-type dopants are boron (B) and gallium (Ga), and common n-type dopants are phosphorus (P), arsenic (As) and antimony

(Sb). So, a B atom in a Si lattice accepts an electron from a Si atom, thus reducing the number of electrons or increasing the number 'holes' (see Figure 1.6(a)) that act as the majority charge carriers. On the other hand, a P atom in the Si lattice creates excess electrons (see Figure 1.6(b)) which serve as the majority carriers.



**Figure 1.6** Schematics of cross-sections of doped silicon lattices. (a) B-doped p-type silicon with an extra hole (b) P-doped n-type silicon with an extra electron

Controlled doping of silicon is an essential part of device fabrication as the doped silicon forms the active region of the devices where the generation of electrons or holes takes place [1.20, 1.51, 1.52]. In terms of energy band diagram [1.51, 1.52], a p-type dopant lowers the Fermi level ( $E_i$ ) of an intrinsic or pure Si moving it close to the valence band ( $E_v$ ) and thus lowering the energy barrier for the holes to contribute to electrical conductivity, while an n-type dopant shifts the Fermi level upward moving it closer to the conduction band ( $E_c$ ), thus lowering the barrier for electrons. This is illustrated in Figure 1.7(a) where  $E_{Fp}$  and  $E_{Fn}$  refer to the Fermi levels for p-type and n-type silicon respectively, and ex refers to the electron affinity of silicon. When a p-Si is metallurgically joined to an n-Si, a p-n junction is formed (see Figure 1.7(b)) which constitutes the basic building block for most of the microelectronic devices [1.51, 1.52]. The diffusion of the majority charge carriers (electrons in n-type Si, holes in p-type Si) across the junction establishes a built-in electric field (E) that results in a built-in potential (eq<sub>i</sub>) against further flow of charges (see Figure 1.7(b)). Only upon application of an external bias against the built-in potential, the charge carriers can drift across the junction, and thus allow a unidirectional current flow. This way a current rectification is achieved. Generally dopants are introduced into Si either in-situ, i.e. during growth, or ex-situ, i.e. post growth [1.20]. In case of Si NWs, doping has mostly been done in-situ [1.53 - 1.62] due to the relative ease of process control. However, ex-situ doping has also been demonstrated [1.63 - 1.68]. In-situ doping of Si NW in connection with VLS growth requires supply of the dopants in gaseous or solid form along with silicon. In case of CVD, the most prevalent VLS growth



**Figure 1.7** Energy band diagram of (a) a p-type (left) and an n-type (right) Si.  $E_{Fp}$  and  $E_{Fn}$  refer to the Fermi levels of the p-Si and n-Si respectively, e $\chi$  the electron affinity of Si (b) Scheme of a p-n junction joining the p- and n-type Si together. The red circles are electrons and green circles are holes.  $E_{Fp}$  and  $E_{Fn}$  align to form  $E_F$  across the junction. As a result a built-in electric field (E) is created forming a built-in potential barrier (e $\varphi_i$ ) against further flow of charge carriers.

technique, this is achieved by introducing a precursor gas containing the dopant element. For pdoping with boron, diborane ( $B_2H_6$ ) is most commonly used [1.53, 1.57 – 1.60]. For n-doping with phosphorus, phosphine (PH<sub>3</sub>) [1.53 – 1.56] and n-doping with arsenic, arsine (AsH<sub>3</sub>) [1.56] have been used. It should be noted that all of these precursor gases are highly toxic. The dopant concentration in the NW which determines its resistivity is modulated by the ratio of the precursor gas for the dopant and silane. Schmid et al. [1.56, 1.57] have shown that for phosphine, the resistivity of the doped NW is inversely proportional to the ratio of phosphine and silane. However, as the ratio is increased, the density of NWs reduces, and beyond a ratio of 0.02 the NW nucleation stops completely [1.56].

Ex-situ doping of Si NWs has been demonstrated by ion implantation [1.63 - 1.66] which is by far the most favored doping process for VLSI technology, and by in-diffusion of spin-on-dopants [1.67, 1.68]. However, ex-situ doping is not as profoundly investigated as the in-situ one.

Overall, doping has worked on Si NWs and allowed certain degree of control over their electrical properties which is discussed in Section 1.4.

#### 1.4 Dopant Profiling and Doping Mechanism in Si NWs

Although doping of Si NWs was first demonstrated in early 2000s [1.53], the exact dopant incorporation mechanism was not clear. A fundamental understanding of the doping process from an atomistic point of view is essential if the NWs are to be used in real devices where a positioning of the dopant atoms is critical.

For planar silicon structures and devices, there are a number of characterization techniques available to chemically map the dopants as well as to electrically profile them along the depth [1.69]. As a result, an atomic concentration profile of the total number of dopants as well as the number of electrically active dopants can be independently measured and compared. This helps to understand how the physical processes that are responsible for doping, such as diffusion, adsorption, interaction between dopants and defects etc are influenced by experimental parameters such as temperature, vapor pressure of the precursor gases, parameters of dopant implantation etc. However, these techniques, designed for two-dimensional structures, can not be directly applied to measure the atomic profiles of dopants in a single NW, primarily because of the nanoscale lateral dimension of the NWs. Neither is high resolution transmission electron microscopy (HRTEM) that allows visualization of the Si lattice with an atomic resolution, sensitive enough to identify the dopant atoms. Therefore, either new characterization techniques are to be invented or the NWs are to be prepared in special ways so that the conventional techniques can be applied to them.

The most direct technique to profile a NW atom by atom is atom probe tomography (APT) [1.70] wherein atoms are evaporated from the tip of a single NW with laser pulses and subsequently detected by a position-sensitive detector. Atoms of each element present can be mapped provided the concentration is above a certain threshold ( $\sim 10^{18}$ cm<sup>-3</sup> [1.70]). From the two dimensional mappings of the detected atoms, a three-dimensional reconstruction of the NW can be done with near atomic resolution. This was successfully applied by Perea et al. [1.71] on phosphorus-doped Ge NWs. It was observed that phosphorus, which was introduced into the NWs in-situ by cracking PH<sub>3</sub> was mostly concentrated in a shell as shown in Figure 1.8. They suggested that phosphorus incorporates into the NW via two different pathways at two different rates [1.71 - 1.73]. The first incorporation which proceeds at a faster rate is through the sidewalls via a vapor-solid (VS) mechanism. The VS mechanism results from preferential cracking and subsequent adsorption of the dopants on the sidewalls of the growing NW without involving the liquid catalyst droplet. The slower second incorporation is via the classical VLS

mechanism through the Ge-Si liquid droplet on top. The faster incorporation through VS is also thought to be responsible for the heavily tapered shape of the NW, i. e gradual change of the NW diameter from tip to base. Although the investigation was done with doped Ge NWs,



**Figure 1.8** Dopant (P) profile in a Ge NW measured by atom probe tomography. (a) Axial profile (b) Radial plot of P concentration for Ge NWs grown at 380°C and PH<sub>3</sub> : GeH<sub>4</sub> ratios of 1 : 1,000 (triangles) and 1 : 500 (squares) with the inset showing the radial profile. The black dots refer to the P atoms. (both reprinted from Ref. 1.71) (c) The two different dopant incorporation pathways into the NW – by cracking of PH<sub>3</sub> at the Au-Ge droplet on top an thus incorporating via Vapor-Liquid-Solid (VLS) mechanism and by cracking at the NW surface leading to uncatalyzed incorporation via Vapor-Solid (VS) mechanism. (Reprinted from Ref. 1.71 and 1.72)

the doping mechanism can be generalized to in-situ doping of NWs as similar conclusions were drawn from different doped NWs as well [1.73].

This technique, however, did not shed any light on what percentage of the total number of dopants were electrically active, i.e. contributed to electrical conduction. It was theoretically calculated by a few workers [1.74, 1.75] that significant surface segregation of the dopants will take place if the NW surface is unpassivated, i.e. if there exists a native silicon oxide at the outer surface of the NW. This Si-oxide interface generally is a sink of broken or in other words dangling bonds that serve as charge traps, i.e. they trap carriers from the volume of the NW rendering them immobile. Schmidt et al. [1.76] have calculated the diameter dependence of this surface depletion and Seo et al. [1.77] have experimentally determined the density of surface states. It was also calculated by Diarra et al. [1.78] that the activation energy of the dopants in the volume of the NW. As the diameter of the NW decreases the activation energy increases implying that 100% of the dopant atoms may not be electrically active in small diameter NWs. They estimated that for a NW of diameter 15nm, only 50% of the dopants will be electrically active at room temperature. This was indeed manifested in the experimental results obtained by Björk et al. [1.79].

In order to correlate these phenomena more atomistically, Schlitz et al. [1.80] tried to connect the dopant profiles measured by APT with that of the measured carrier concentration by current-voltage measurements. However, the samples for APT and for electrical measurements were of different compositions which may compromise with the reliability. Xie et al. [1.81] have used a sequence of low temperature chemical oxidation and subsequent etching of n-type Ge NWs to sequentially reduce the NW diameter. They measured the electrical transport across the length for each diameter, and observed that as the diameter is reduced the transport mechanism shifts from bulk-like to surface-like, i.e. for small diameter the active dopants reside mostly on the NW surface. Koren et al. [1.82] have reported non-uniform axial and radial doping in n-type Si NW using Kelvin probe force microscopy and scanning photocurrent microscopy. Garnett et al. [1.83] have reported profiles of active boron in Si NWs by capacitance-voltage measurement by fabricating an omega-gated NW FET and observed strong surface segregation of the active dopants as well. Using modulation-doped NWs, Imamura et al. [1.84] have investigated axial doping profiles by Raman microscopy and Hertog et al. [1.85] have investigated the same using off-axis electron holography.

In general, all of the experimental works agree with the theoretical calculations, i.e. a heavy surface segregation of dopants. However, at the same time all of these techniques are indirect and require extensive sample preparation and ultra-sophisticated tools. A direct, easier and more

controllable mapping of the NW conductivity in connection with the active dopant profile is lacking in the literature.

#### **1.5 Devices with Doped Si NWs**

As mentioned before, in addition to uniformly doped NWs that merely act as resistors, p-n junction NWs have also been demonstrated, either by in-situ switching of the dopant sources [1.86 - 1.91] or by implanting a NW successively with p and n-dopants [1.66]. Both axial and radial junctions have been realized, and they often performed as nano-solar cells [1.88 - 1.91]. The in-situ axial junction is formed by changing the precursor gas for dopants, e.g. from diborane to phosphine, while the radial junction is formed by modulating the growth temperature and pressure during dopant deposition, i.e. first the p-Si core is grown at a lower temperature and higher pressure and subsequently the n-Si shell is deposited at higher temperature and lower pressure. A radial p-i-n junction NW working as a solar cell is demonstrated in Figure 1.9. The NW was selectively etched to expose the p-core at one side in order to form metal contact to it (see Figure 1.9). The efficiency of this NW solar cell was 3.4% [1.92].

As in the case of the NW in Figure 1.9, for device fabrication, NWs are generally removed from the growth substrate and placed on an insulating substrate. Metal electrodes are formed lithographically to make contacts to the NWs and to measure their electrical properties subsequently.



**Figure 1.9** (a) Schematic and (b) SEM images of an as-grown coaxial p-i-n Si NW and the subsequent solar cell formed by individually contacting the core and the shell (both reprinted from Ref. 1.92)

Two metal electrodes at the two ends of a NW enable a two-probe current-voltage measurement [1.69] from where the NW resistivity can be calculated. Resistivity in turn depends on carrier concentration and mobility both of which change with doping [1.51, 1.52]. Therefore, an efficient technique often used is fabrication of an FET [1.30]. The areas of the NW directly under the contacts serve as the source and drain respectively, while the channel of the FET is formed in the segment of the NW which is in between the contacts. The insulating layer (most often SiO<sub>2</sub>) underneath the NW serves as the gate dielectric and the substrate (most often a highly doped Si wafer) as the back gate. This is illustrated in Figure 1.10(a) and (b) with a scheme and a scanning electron microscope (SEM) image of an actual device. Figure 1.10(a) and (b) actually show four contacts on top of the NW for a four-probe measurement which explicitly removes any influence from the contact resistance [1.69]. From the gate-controlled current-voltage measurements of the NW device, mobility can be extracted [1.52] which in turn can be substituted to calculate the carrier concentration from the measured resistance.



**Figure 1.10** (a) Scheme of a B-doped Si NW laid down on thermally grown SiO<sub>2</sub> on a highly doped ( $n^+$ ) Si substrate, and contacted with metal electrodes. The device constitutes an FET with the channel forming in the segment of the NW in between the contacts, and the segments directly under the contacts serving as source and drain. SiO<sub>2</sub> works as the gate dielectric and the  $n^+$  substrate as the back gate. Four contacts are formed in order to measure resistivity directly by the four-probe method [1.69] (b) An SEM image of the actual device. (Both reprinted from Ref. 1.58)

In addition, wrap-gated vertical NW FETs have been fabricated (see Figure 1.1(c)) by different groups [1.10, 1.93, 1.94]. Even more hierarchical circuits such as logic gates were demonstrated [1.95] using Si NWs as building blocks. Figure 1.11 shows an OR gate built by crossing two p-type NWs with an n-type NW. The two p-type NWs form a p-n junction each at the crossing point with the n-type NW (see Figure 1.10(a)). They are connected in parallel as shown in the scheme of Figure 1.11(a) and form the diode-diode logic [1.95]. The input-output characteristic

is shown in Figure 1.11(b) and the experimental truth table in Figure 1.11(c). They clearly show the operation of an OR gate.

Apart from these, a host of other devices including label free DNA sensors [1.96] and large area thin film transistor [1.97] were fabricated with Si NWs. It has also been shown [1.98, 1.99] that Si NWs indeed possess superior thermoelectric properties compared to bulk silicon, and hence can be used to manufacture nanoscale thermoelectric generators.



**Figure 1.11** Logic gates with crossed NWs. (a) SEM image and schematic of a diode-diode OR logic gate created by crossing an n-type NW with two p-type NWs.  $V_{i1}$ ,  $V_{i2}$  are input voltages and  $V_o$  is the output voltage. The scale bar is 1µm. (b) The output-input characteristics for four different input levels. The two input voltages ( $V_{i1}$  and  $V_{i2}$ ) can be HIGH (5V or logic 1) or LOW (0V or logic 0) resulting in either HIGH or LOW output ( $V_o$ ). Inset shows the output-input ( $V_o$ - $V_i$ ) relation. The red (blue) lines show  $V_o$ - $V_{i1}$  and  $V_o$ - $V_{i2}$  when the other input is 0 (1). (c) The experimental truth table for this NW based diode-diode logic gate which shows that it performs the OR operation. (All reprinted from Ref. 1.95)

A comprehensive review of Si NW based devices can be found in Ref. 1.100 - 1.102. Generally speaking, it has been shown that Si NW based devices can perform all the basic electronic operations, and can even be scaled up to form ICs.

#### **1.6 Motivation of this Work**

It is clear from the literature review presented above that a significant work has been done on Si NWs in recent years (more than 700 papers on Si NWs published only in 2008 [1.35]). However, there still are open questions on controlled doping and dopant profiling in individual NWs as both of them are technically challenging. The lack of control in in-situ doping in CVD can be seen in the change of morphology [1.58 - 1.60, 1.71, 1.103], and sometimes crystallinity [1.58 - 1.60, 1.103] in case of boron doping of Si or Ge NWs. As mentioned earlier, the precursor gas for the dopant increases the rate of VS growth on the NW sidewalls leading to a significant

tapering of the NW. In case of boron doping with  $B_2H_6$  it often leads to deposition of amorphous Si around a crystalline Si core. These are illustrated with electron microscope images in Figure 1.12(a) and (b).



**Figure 1.12** (a) SEM image of an extremely tapered Ge NW in-situ doped with diborane  $(B_2H_6)$  in CVD. (Reprinted from Ref. 1.103) (b) TEM image of a Si NW in-situ doped with diborane  $(B_2H_6)$  in CVD showing an amorphous shell and a crystalline core type structure. (Reprinted from Ref. 1.58) (c) Scheme of an axial NW p-n junction with radial junctions formed by dopant depositions on the sidewalls during growth and in-situ doping. (Reprinted from Ref. 1.105)

Another limitation of pure in-situ doping of CVD-grown NWs is in the formation of a sharp axial p-n junction by simply switching the dopant sources. It has been shown by Li et al. [1.104] with simulations that a long transition region exists between the two different kind of dopants even if the switching is 'abrupt'. They suggested that the transition length is inherently related to the residual first dopant atoms stored in the liquid Au droplet at the onset of introducing the second dopant. Pure in-situ doping of NWs in CVD has also led to unwanted lateral deposition of dopants [1.105] which is detrimental to the formation of an axial p-n junction in a NW (see Figure 1.12(c)). On the other hand, formation of an axial p-n junction purely by ion implantation as demonstrated by Hoffmann et al. [1.66] suffers from the problem that co-diffusion of acceptor-donor complexes [1.106, 1.107] that can anomalously increase the solubility of the donors in the acceptor-rich segments, thus affecting the p- and n-profiles.

The motivation of this work is, therefore, to investigate Si NW doping in depth. MBE-grown Si NWs will be used as a model system to study NW doping. MBE growth of nominally undoped Si NWs has already been investigated [1.46 - 1.49] and their electrical properties reported [1.108]. MBE is well known for the ease of forming sharp dopant profiles in planar Si devices [1.109, 1.110]. However, NW doping in MBE has not been attempted upto now.

Si-MBE uses solid elemental dopant sources which do not require cracking of precursor gases as in CVD, and therefore can avoid the unwanted morphological [1.58 - 1.60, 1.71, 1.103] and structural [1.58 - 1.60, 1.103] changes observed in in-situ CVD doping.

In addition, MBE-grown undoped NWs can be doped ex-situ using ion implantation. A modulated MBE doping can be combined with ion implantation to form a sharp axial p-n junction in a NW, thus avoiding the limitations of pure in-situ doping. A number of physical phenomena such as implantation induced damages, solid phase epitaxial recrystallization and electrical activation of implanted dopants etc can be studied in the implanted NWs all of which are important not only for the NW-based electronics, but for post-CMOS three-dimensional FET architectures as well. From the point of view of electrical characterization, fast, easy and inexpensive techniques and sample preparations are needed for measuring a single NW as an alternative to expensive and time-consuming lithographic techniques. This particularly concerns with current-voltage measurements and carrier profiling of a single NW.

With such ample scopes for improvements, this work will present both NW growth and doping. Both in-situ doping in MBE and ex-situ doping by ion implantation will be explored in details including structural and electrical characterizations of individual NWs. Chapter 2: Growth, Doping and Characterization Techniques for Molecular Beam Epitaxy (MBE)-Grown Silicon Nanowires

### Chapter 2

## Growth, Doping and Characterization Techniques for Molecular Beam Epitaxy (MBE)-Grown Silicon Nanowires

#### 2.1 The Si MBE Process

MBE is essentially a surface-mediated crystal growth technique at an ultra high vacuum (UHV, base pressure ~  $10^{-10}$  mbar) condition [2.1]. The UHV ensures a very clean surface. The incoming atoms first hit the surface and subsequently diffuse to settle at the energetically favorable positions in the growing crystal. A very slow growth rate (~ 1 mono layer/s) assures high quality of the grown film and epitaxial orientation with respect to the underlying substrate. As shown in Figure 2.1, in Si MBE the Si atomic flux is generated by electron beam evaporation from a silicon source and any dopant flux by thermal evaporation from a Knudsen effusion cell [1.109, 1.110, 2.1].



**Figure 2.1** Schematic of a silicon MBE chamber showing the Si, Au and the dopant (B and Sb) sources, the rotating sample/substrate and a few other essential components.

The Si source is placed almost directly below (offset by 5-10°) the substrate while the dopant sources are inclined at an angle between 30° and 60° with respect to the normal to the substrate. The substrate is rotated at a constant speed during the deposition to achieve a uniform thickness and doping in the grown film. For Si NW growth, the Si MBE machine used in this work contained a Si and an Au e-beam source for Si NW growth, and a B and a Sb effusion cell (see Figure 2.1) for in-situ doping. The Si flux is measured by a quadruple mass spectrometer (QMS), while the dopant flux has to be calibrated from secondary ions mass spectrometry (SIMS) [2.2]. The shutters in front of the sources (see Figure 2.1) can abruptly cut off the atomic flux emanating from them, thus changing the type of doping, or leaving it undoped. The in-situ morphological characterization of the growing structure can be done by reflection high energy electron diffraction (RHEED) [2.1] which involves shooting of a high energy electron beam at a very low angle to the growth substrate and forming an electron diffraction pattern corresponding to the reciprocal lattice space of the growing structure on a fluorescence screen (see Figure 2.1).

#### 2.2 Si NW Growth in MBE

Since this work is based on MBE-grown Si NWs, it is imperative on me to briefly discuss the mechanism of MBE-growth of Si NWs first. Schubert et al. [1.46] first experimentally demonstrated that epitaxial Si NWs can be grown on Si (111) substrate by MBE using in-situ deposited Au. Further investigations [1.46 – 1.50] revealed that MBE growth differs from the classical VLS growth in the following ways.

Firstly, rather than acting as a catalyst, the Au droplet merely acts as an initiator of NW growth, This is because, unlike CVD there is no cracking of precursor gases involved as the supplied Si comes from elemental Si source. Secondly, in MBE the Si ad-atoms impinge onto the liquid Au droplet as well as onto the Si substrate. This leads to - 1) incorporation of the ad-atoms on the Si substrate forming an epitaxial Si layer, 2) diffusion and incorporation of the ad-atoms through the Au droplet into the growing NW, and 3) a surface diffusion of the ad-atoms in proximity of a growing NW towards and along the NW [1.46 – 1.50]. A schematic of the MBE-growth of Si NW and a NW after growth is shown in Figure 2.2(a) and (b) respectively. Figure 2.2(c) presents snapshots of the NW growth with cross-sectional TEM images taken for NWs grown for different time durations. In Figure 2.2(a), I<sub>1</sub> refers to the Si flux resulting from direct impingement of Si atoms on the Au droplet and I<sub>2</sub> refers to the flux of Si ad-atoms due to surface diffusion. The surface diffusion occurs due to a concentration gradient along the length of the NW since the ad-atom density reduces drastically at the liquid-solid interface on top as they incorporate into the NW (see Figure 2.2(a)). Chapter 2: Growth, Doping and Characterization Techniques for Molecular Beam Epitaxy (MBE)-Grown Silicon Nanowires



**Figure 2.2** (a) Scheme of MBE growth of a Si NW with contributions from the different Si fluxes. (b) Scheme of a Si NW after growth showing the solidified Au droplet as the Au cap on top and Au/Si nanoparticles on the sidewalls. Cross-sectional TEM images of NWs grown for different durations from 0 minutes (no growth) to 45 minutes. The Au cap and Au/Si nanoparticles are indicated for NWs grown for longer times. (Reprinted from Ref. 1.48)

Schubert et al. [1.46] observed that the length of the NWs was inversely proportional to their diameter, i.e. thinner NWs grow faster than thicker ones. Such a dependence, it was suggested [1.46 – 1.50], results when the growth kinetics is primarily determined by the surface diffusion flux I<sub>2</sub>. It should be noted that thickness L<sub>1</sub> (see Figure 2.2(a)) of the Si epi-layer which grows in parallel with the NW was found to be approximately half the length (L) of the NW [1.46 – 1.49]. The minimum radius of MBE-grown NWs was experimentally found to be around 35nm [1.46 - 1.49]. The optimized growth temperature resulting in maximum NW density was found to be 525°C [1.46 -1.49]. The scheme in Figure 2.2(b) shows that Au exists in the MBE-grown Si NWs in two forms after growth. It is found as a hemispherical cap on top, and as nanoparticle decoration on the sidewall. This is also labeled in some of the TEM images of Figure 2.2(c). The Au cap is the same as the Au droplet that initiated the NW growth. It has been suggested [1.47 – 1.49, 2.3] that the Au nanoparticles migrated to the NW surface from the Au droplet and solidified during post-growth cooling.

In brief, MBE growth of Si NWs is initiated rather than catalyzed by Au and proceeds both via direct impingement and surface diffusion of Si ad-atoms.

#### 2.3 In-situ Doping of Si NWs in MBE

In MBE, in-situ doping is achieved by co-evaporating Si and the dopant [1.109, 1.110, 2.1]. This is done in this work as well. A scheme of the different Si and dopant (boron in this case) fluxes during the NW growth is shown in Figure 2.3. Like in the case of nominally undoped NWs (see Figure 2.2(a)), two different Si fluxes labeled as  $I_{Si1}$  and  $I_{Si2}$  in Figure 2.3 contribute to the NW growth via direct impingement and surface diffusion respectively. The third Si flux,  $I_{Si3}$ , leads to the growth of the Si epi-layer. It is suggested in this work that similar to the Si fluxes, there are three B fluxes,  $I_{B1}$ ,  $I_{B2}$  and  $I_{B3}$ . The first one  $(I_{B1})$  hits the liquid Au droplet directly and incorporates at the interface I in Figure 2.3 (Incorporation I), i.e. droplet-NW interface. The second one  $(I_{B2})$  hits the NW surface/sidewall and gets adsorbed and subsequently incorporated there (Incorporation II Figure 2.3), i.e. just below the surface. The third one  $(I_{B3})$  hits the growing Si epi-layer, and gets incorporated there by adsorption as well. Since the diffusion coefficient of boron and most common dopants of silicon are fairly low at the usual growth temperature (525°C) [2.4], there will be negligible surface diffusion of boron. Hence IB3 will not contribute significantly to the NW doping. The ratio between IB1 and IB2 will determine the homogeneity of the doping profiles in axial and radial directions in the NW. However, it is difficult to predict whether  $I_{B1}$  or  $I_{B2}$  will dominate. Both in case of boron [2.5] and antimony [2.6] it has been observed that the liquid Au droplet contains the dopant atoms suggesting that the incorporation I in Figure 2.3 is significant. The direct incorporation at the
surface through  $I_{B2}$ , however, depends on the sticking coefficient of the dopant, i.e. the ratio between the adsorbed and desorbed dopant atoms [1.109, 1.110, 2.7]. At the growth temperature 525°C, boron can incorporate quite well into silicon [2.8 – 2.11] as the desorption of boron from the silicon surface is negligible compared to adsorption, leading to a very high sticking coefficient. This was confirmed with control experiments with silicon films (see Chapter 3). Insitu boron doping, however, is limited by the maximum temperature reachable without damaging the Knudsen cell. In this work, it corresponded to a maximum boron concentration of  $10^{19}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> (see Chapter 3).



**Figure 2.3** A schematic of in-situ boron doping during Si NW growth in MBE. Different Si and B fluxes are indicated along with the relevant B incorporations into the NW.  $I_{Si1, 2, 3}$  are silicon fluxes and  $I_{B1, B2, B3}$  are boron fluxes.

Antimony on the other hand is known to show poor sticking coefficient at the NW growth temperature of  $525^{\circ}$ C resulting in heavy segregation [2.11 – 2.15]. In fact, this was observed in the antimony doped Si thin films grown for control experiments in this work and is reported in Chapter 3. This was also observed in case of the antimony doped Si NWs grown by CVD [2.6].

Techniques such as low energy ion embedding [2.16, 2.17], or potential-enhanced MBE [2.18, 2.19] can be incorporated into the MBE system to enhance the incorporation of Sb in Si. However, these expensive techniques were unavailable at the MBE chamber used for this work. Therefore, in-situ n-doping of the Si NWs was not pursued.

In conclusion, it is conjectured that in-situ doping of Si NWs in MBE can proceed via two different pathways which may lead to a dopant inhomogeneity in the radial direction.

#### 2.4 Ion Implantation as an Ex-situ Doping Process

Ion implantation [1.20, 2.20 - 2.23] is the process by which energetic, charged-atoms/molecules are directly introduced to a host semiconductor lattice. It is the most widely used doping technique in VLSI technology due to its high accuracy over many orders of doping levels, customized doping profiles, possibilities of selective doping with appropriate masking etc. Doping semiconductors by ion implantation generally involves two processes – 1) Ion bombardment on the substrate with the bombarded ions reaching up to a range specified by the implantation energy and dose (charge per unit area), and 2) Electrical activation of the implanted ions along with recovery of any implantation-induced damage of the crystal structure of the host semiconductor by a thermal annealing.

An ion implanter primarily consists of (see Figure 2.4) an ion source, an ion extraction and separation magnet, an ion acceleration column, a rastering system and an end station where the target (NWs for this work) resides. The ion source contains the species (dopants to Si, such as B, P, As etc) to be implanted in solid, liquid or gaseous form, and a mechanism to ionize these species. The resulting ions are extracted from the ion source with a small accelerating voltage and are subsequently separated by the separation magnet in accordance with their mass and charge. The spatially separated ions subsequently enter an acceleration tube where they are accelerated to the desired ion-energy which determines their range of penetration into the target substrate. The rastering system which is used next in line, distributes the ions uniformly over the target substrate.

As the energetic ions hit the target, they penetrate inside, lose their kinetic energy through a series of collisions with the atoms in the target (this includes both the nuclei and the bound/free electrons) substrate and finally come to a stop as shown in Figure 2.5(a). The resulting distribution of the implanted ions depends on the ion mass, energy, the target mass and the beam direction with respect to the crystal plane in case the target material is crystalline. The total distance (R) that an implanted ion travels from the surface till it comes to a complete stop in the target material is called the range (see Figure 2.5(a)). However, technologically more important



Figure 2.4 A schematic representation of the ion implantation equipments indicating the major parts

term is the distance traveled along the axis of the incident ion beam and is called the projected range ( $R_p$ ) (see Figure 2.5(a)). As the successive collisions and hence the energy losses are statistical in nature, the projected range ( $R_p$ ) can be defined as the mean of the resulting distribution of implanted ions [2.21, 2.22], and the standard deviation ( $\Delta R_p$ ) in the same direction as straggle (see Figure 2.5(b)).



**Figure 2.5** (a) Schematic showing the range (R) and projected range ( $R_p$ ) of an incident ion beam after a series of collisions. (b) Three dimensional Gaussian distribution of the dopant atoms after implantation showing the projected range and straggles in the lateral ( $\Delta R_p$ ) and transverse ( $\Delta R_\perp$ ) directions.

Using the classical theory of scattering [2.21, 2.22], depth profile (N(x)) of the implanted ions can be shown to follow a Gaussian distribution, i.e.

$$N(x) = \frac{Q_0}{(2\pi)^{\frac{1}{2}} \Delta R_p} exp[-\frac{1}{2}(\frac{x - R_p}{\Delta R_p})^2]$$
 [2.1]

where  $Q_0$  is the dose of the incident ions. This is illustrated in Figure 2.5(b). In order to obtain a rectangular shaped doping profile, i.e. to achieve a uniform dopant concentration over a target depth, multiple implantations [2.24] are used. The resulting Gaussian profiles of single implants add up to result in a flat profile over a target depth. For all practical purposes, the implantation profile for a desired projected range is obtained by performing computer simulations. The most widely used simulation program is known as transport of ions in matters (TRIM) developed by Ziegler et al. [2.25]. This program is also used in this work.

As mentioned earlier, when energetic ions strike the Si substrate, they undergo a series of nuclear and electronic collisions before coming to a complete stop. If sufficient energy is transferred the nuclear collisions can result in the displacement of Si atoms leading to isolated or clustered point defects [1.20, 2.20 – 2.22, 2.26, 2.27]. However, if a certain critical ion dose is applied for a certain beam energy, it may result in complete amorphization of the Si crystal, In that case the displaced Si atoms equal the Si density N, i.e.  $5 \times 10^{22}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>. With a beam energy of E<sub>0</sub>, the critical dose (N<sub>crit</sub>) to create a continuous amorphous layer in Si is given by [2.28]

$$N_{crit} \approx \frac{5\Delta R_p N E_d}{E_0}$$
 [2.2]

where  $E_d$  is an effective displacement threshold energy. Experimental data suggests that [2.28] for light ions  $N_{crit}$  is mainly determined by  $E_0$ , while for heavier ions it is determined by  $\Delta R_p$ . The critical dose determines the maximum achievable doping density for a specific dopant.

In order to heal out these damages and to electrically activate the implanted dopant atoms, a post-implantation thermal anneal is necessary. During annealing, the dopant atoms move into the substitutional lattice sites of Si which allows them to contribute electrons or holes for current conduction, thus enhancing the conductivity of Si. However, it should also be noted that during annealing the displaced atoms can coalesce and form secondary defects such as dislocation loops, stacking faults and micro-twins [1.20, 2.20 – 2.22, 2.26, 2.27]. There are a variety of annealing techniques that can be applied depending on the dopant species, the desired doping profile and the priority between structural healing and electrical activation. The conventional annealing, being used since the beginning of semiconductor processing, is the furnace annealing which involves heating of the implanted substrate for a duration ranging from 30 minutes to several hours inside a quartz diffusion furnace in an inert gas (Ar or  $N_2$ )

atmosphere. Although this technique can achieve good structural recovery including recrystallization of completely amorphized Si, the longer time scale at an elevated temperature can lead to significant out-diffusion and surface segregation of dopants, and hence is not very suitable for dopant activation in Si NWs. Alternatively, rapid thermal annealing (RTA) in the temperature range of  $800^{\circ}$ C –  $1200^{\circ}$ C at a time scale of a few seconds can be performed by radiative heating [2.21, 2.22] of the substrate with tungsten-halogen lamps in an inert gas atmosphere. This better serves the purpose of electrically activating the dopant atoms in Si NWs as the time scale is relatively short for significant out-diffusion of dopants.

To summarize, ion implantation is a very well developed doping technique for semiconductors that can achieve very high (up to  $10^{21}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>) doping density within a depth of few tens of nanometers, and therefore is suitable for doping Si NWs. This will be used to dope the MBE-grown NWs, both p- and n-type.

#### 2.5 Doping MBE-grown Si NWs by Ion Implantation

The implantation schemes for Si NWs are illustrated in Figure 2.6 for P implantation. The  $P^+$  ions are incident at an angle of 7° with respect to the NW axis (<111> direction) to avoid ion channeling. Channeling refers to travelling of the implanted ions along a crystal direction without encountering any collision. This can result in larger than expected projected range which is calculated by TRIM which treats the target material amorphous.

In order to uniformly dope an entire undoped NW, multiple energy implants that result in a projected range equaling the average NW length were simulated for this work using TRIM (see Chapter 3). Figure 2.6(a) and (b) illustrate an n-type NW resulting from the implantations on an undoped one. Both p- and n-doping were achieved and the details are discussed in Chapter 3. Figure 2.6(c) and (d) illustrate the P implantation process on a modulation-doped p-i type NW covered with a spin-on-glass (SOG), to form an intra-NW p-n junction. In this case the lower segment of the NW is already p-type due to in-situ doping. Therefore, the projected range for the TRIM simulations should amount to half the average NW length, i.e. only the upper segment. The resulting p-n junction NW is shown in Figure 2.6(d).

In addition, heavy As implantation was used to completely amorphize the as-grown Si NWs and subsequently study their recrystallization upon thermal annealing. It should be noted that the TRIM program used to simulate the implantation profiles for this work is originally meant for semi-infinite planar targets. Therefore no constrain regarding the dimension of the system for the ion collision cascades are considered, and the surface effects are not taken into account. Both furnace annealing and RTA were used on the implanted NWs. Furnace annealing was used to study the recrystallization of completely amorphized NWs, while RTA was used primarily for



**Figure 2.6** Implantation schemes illustrating (a)  $P^+$  ion impingement on an undoped (i-type) Si NW (b) the resulting n-type Si NW. (c)  $P^+$  ion impingement on a modulation-doped (p-i-type) Si NW covered with a spin-on-glass (SOG). (d) The resulting p-n junction NW.

electrically activating the dopants in case of non-amorphizing doses. Details are provided in Chapter 3.

#### **2.6 Electrical Transport Measurements**

This section is further subdivided into four, discussing the basics of transport properties first, and subsequently elaborating the two different transport measurements used in this work.

#### 2.6.1 Basics of Transport Properties of Semiconductors

As already mentioned in Chapter 1, the most significant change brought by the dopant atoms occupying substitutional lattice sites in Si is in the electrical properties. This is manifested in a significant increase of the electrical conductivity and corresponding decrease of the resistivity of Si owing to extra free carriers from the dopants. The resistivity ( $\rho$ ) of a semiconductor depends on the free carrier concentration (n for electron/p for hole) and mobility ( $\mu_n$  for electron/ $\mu_p$  for hole) as follows [1.51, 1.52]

$$\rho = \frac{1}{e(n\mu_e + p\mu_p)}$$
[2.3]

For a doped semiconductor of either p- or n-type, the number of majority carriers is orders of magnitude higher than the number of minority carriers, implying that for an n-type semiconductor, where n>>p

$$\rho_{\rm n} = \frac{1}{{\rm en}\mu_{\rm e}} \qquad [2.4]$$

and for a p-type semiconductor, where p>>n

$$\rho_{\rm p} = \frac{1}{e p \mu_{\rm p}} \qquad [2.5]$$

Resistivity of a material/structure can be extracted from two-point or four-point transport measurement [1.69] which is discussed in the next section. However, to get an accurate idea of the free carrier concentration (n/p) contributed by the dopants, the mobility must be known. Although doping increases n or p, it simultaneously decreases  $\mu_n$  or  $\mu_p$  at room temperature or above. The free carrier concentration (n/p) is temperature dependent and is given as [1.51]

$$n = n_i exp(\frac{E_{Fn} - E_i}{kT}) \qquad [2.6]$$

and

$$p = n_i exp(\frac{E_i - E_{Fp}}{kT})$$
 [2.7]

where  $n_i$ , is the intrinsic carrier concentration of the semiconductor,  $E_i$  is the intrinsic Fermi level,  $E_{Fn}$  and  $E_{Fp}$  are the Fermi levels of the n- and p-type semiconductor respectively, k is the Boltzmann constant and T is the temperature. At room temperature and above, the free carrier concentration in n-/p-type semiconductors is significantly higher than in an intrinsic semiconductor. This gives rise to the so called ionized impurity scattering on the application of an external electric field, i.e. the scattering between the free carriers and the ionized donors/acceptors contributing them. At room temperature and above, the semiconductor

mobility is mainly determined by the ionized impurity scattering. If all donor/acceptor atoms are ionized, mobility  $(\mu_n/\mu_p)$  is given by

$$\mu_n/\mu_p \alpha \frac{T^{\frac{3}{2}}}{n/p} \qquad [2.8]$$

An empirical-fit relationship between  $\mu_n/\mu_p$  and n/p can be formulated as [1.51, 1.52]

$$\mu_{n}/\mu_{p} = \mu_{\min} + \frac{\mu_{0}}{1 + (\frac{n/p}{N_{ref}})^{\alpha}}$$
[2.9]

where  $\mu_{min}$ ,  $\mu_0$ ,  $N_{ref}$  and  $\alpha$  are fit parameters and all of them exhibit a temperature dependence of the form [1.51]

$$A = A_0 (\frac{T}{300})^{\eta}$$
 [2.10]

where  $A_0$  is a temperature independent constant and  $\eta$  is the temperature exponent for the given fit parameter. Combining Equations 2.4/2.5 with Equation 2.9

$$\rho_{n} / \rho_{p} = \frac{1}{e[n/p(\mu_{\min} + \frac{\mu_{0}}{1 + (\frac{n/p}{N_{ref}})^{\alpha}})]}$$
[2.11]

This empirical variation of resistivity with carrier concentration in Si has been plotted in Ref. 1.51 and is included in the Appendix 2 (see Figure A2.1) and is utilized in this work to derive local carrier concentration for a measured local resistivity (see Section 2.6.4).

Mobility measurement by standard techniques such as Hall-effect [1.50, 1.51] is challenging for a vertical Si NW due to its very small lateral dimension, i.e. diameter. Therefore, Hall mobility of Si layers doped to the same levels as the NWs was measured in this work (details in Chapter 3 and 4) and it was assumed that the mobility values remain the same in the NWs. Unless the NW diameters are below the quantum confinement regime (~5nm) this assumption is reasonable [1.30].

#### 2.6.2 Current-Voltage Measurement

A scheme of a current-voltage measurement to a semiconductor with two point-contacts is shown in Figure 2.7. The total resistance ( $R_{Tot}$ ) measured in a two-point measurement is the sum of the probe resistance ( $R_p$ ), contact resistance ( $R_C$ ), device resistance ( $R_d$ ), and spreading resistance ( $R_s$ ) connected in series, i.e.

$$R_{Tot} = \frac{V}{I} = R_{p} + R_{C} + R_{d} + R_{s}$$
 [2.12]

The device is generally a semiconductor, and for this work a Si NW. For metal/highly doped semiconductor probes,  $R_p$  is very small (a few Ohms) and hence can be neglected.  $R_C$  depends on the Schottky barrier height [1.51, 1.52] at the interface between the metal/highly doped semiconductor probe – semiconductor device. A Schottky barrier height is the potential barrier an electron or hole encounters while crossing from metal to semiconductor. This is shown as  $e\Phi_B$  in the metal-semiconductor band diagram in Figure 2.7(b). In this band diagram a direct contact between the metal and highly doped n<sup>+</sup> is shown for reasons explained latter. Beyond the contact area, the semiconductor is normal doped n-type. For an n-type semiconductor,  $e\Phi_B$  is given as the difference between the work function of the metal ( $e\Phi_M$ ) and the electron affinity ( $e\chi$ ) of Si. The depletion width (w), i.e. the distance over which the Schottky barrier extends into the semiconductor is inversely proportional to the square root of the doping density. For a lower doping level (n/p <10<sup>18</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>), the carrier transport across the metal-semiconductor junction is mainly dominated by thermionic emission and the dimension independent specific contact resistance ( $\rho_C$ ) is given by [2.30]

$$\rho_{\rm C} = \frac{k}{eA^*T} exp(\frac{e\phi_{\rm B}}{kT})$$
 [2.13]

where k and  $A^*$  are the Boltzmann and Richardson constant respectively, T is the temperature. R<sub>C</sub> can then be calculated by simply dividing the  $\rho_C$  with the contact area (A<sub>C</sub>), i.e.

$$R_{\rm C} = \frac{\rho_{\rm C}}{A_{\rm C}}$$
 [2.14]

Naturally, a small barrier height leads to a low value of  $R_C$ . In case of highly doped(n<sup>+</sup> or p<sup>+</sup>) semiconductors (n/p > 10<sup>18</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>), carrier transport across the junction is determined by the so-called field emission [2.30]. This leads to narrowing down of the Schottky barrier which allows electrons or holes to tunnel through the barrier as shown for the case of a metal-n<sup>+</sup> semiconductor junction in Figure 2.7(b). When this happens,  $\rho_C$  reduces exponentially with the square root of the doping density (n/p) [2.30].

An Ohmic contact is said to be established when  $R_C$  is independent of the applied bias and this leads to a linear or quasi-linear current-voltage characteristic. From the above discussion, one can conclude that for low/medium doped semiconductors, a small barrier height is essential for an Ohmic contact, while for highly doped semiconductors (see Figure 2.7(b)) the barrier height difference is not very critical as electron tunneling effectively dominates in the transport. With a single two-point measurement, it is not possible to measure the absolute value of  $R_C$ . However, it can be estimated for low/medium doped Si NWs by using Equation 2.13. For highly doped



**Figure 2.7** (a) Scheme of a two probe measurement with metal probes on a semiconductor sample of resistance  $R_d$ . Inset is the illustration of the different resistance components measured in the total resistance. (b) The energy band diagram of a metal in contact with a heavily doped (n<sup>+</sup>) semiconductor. The contact resistance arises because of the Schottky barrier height  $e\Phi_B$  at the metal semiconductor interface. As the semiconductor is heavily doped, the depletion width (w) is thin enough to let the electrons tunnel through the barrier, thus effectively resulting in an Ohmic contact with a low contact resistance.

NWs,  $R_C$  will reduce exponentially and for practical purposes it can be neglected. Disregarding  $R_C$ , the main contribution to  $R_{Tot}$  in Equation 2.12 comes from  $R_d$  and  $R_S$ .  $R_S$  originates from the current fringes [1.69] spreading out from the probe tip as illustrated at the inset of Figure 2.7(a).

Depending on the probe size and the device geometry, either of them can be dominant, and each provides valuable information regarding the electrical property of the device.

#### 2.6.3 Measurement of the NW Resistance

The spreading resistance is inversely proportional to the apex diameter of the probe tip. By choosing appropriate probes with larger diameter (smaller spreading resistance), the resistance of a NW can be accurately measured. Figure 2.8 illustrates the measurement set-up used for measuring the resistance of MBE-grown Si NWs reported in this work.



**Figure 2.8** Schematic of the two-point electrical measurement set-up inside an SEM. The Pt/Ir tip contacts the n-type NW grown on n-type substrate in this case. The voltage (V) is swept from positive to negative using a picoammeter and the resulting current (I) is measured by the same.

A metal Pt/Ir tip of diameter ~ 200nm fitted to a micromanipulator fixed with the stage of a scanning electron microscope (SEM) is used to contact individual NWs. The NWs as well as the tip are imaged in the SEM so that the exact dimensions of each are known. Experimental details are reported in Chapter 3. In this case,  $R_{Tot}$  mainly comes from  $R_d$  which consists of the NW and the epi-layer, and the substrate underneath. The cross sectional area of the epi-layer and the substrate is much larger (~mm<sup>2</sup>) compared to that of a NW (~nm<sup>2</sup>) resulting in the fact that the dominant part of the measured resistance comes from the NW. Therefore, attributing the

measured resistance fully to the NW, it can be related to its resistivity ( $\rho$ ), length (l) and diameter (D) assuming a cylindrical shape for the NW, i.e.

$$R = \frac{\rho l}{(\frac{\pi D^2}{4})}$$
[2.15]

From the measured resistance of a NW, its resistivity can be calculated using Equation 2.15. This is an average resistivity of the entire NW which should correspond to its doping level according to Equations 2.4 or 2.5.

#### 2.6.4 Measurement of the NW Carrier Profile

The spreading resistance provides a local measure of the resistivity. Considering a metal probe with a circular interface of diameter 2a contacting a flat semiconductor surface of resistivity  $\rho$  around the contact area, the spreading resistance (R<sub>s</sub>) is given by [1.69]

$$R_s = \frac{\rho}{4a}$$
 [2.16]

For a sufficiently small probe-tip,  $R_s$  can be the dominating term in Equation 2.12, thus providing local resistivity at a specific contact point in the NW. From the local resistivity, local carrier concentration can be calculated following the standard calibration curve (see Figure A2.1 in Appendix 2). For a cross-section of a Si NW, this can be very effectively done by scanning spreading resistance microscopy (SSRM) [2.31 – 2.34] and the same was adopted for this work. SSRM is a technique based on conductive atomic force microscopy (CAFM). A constant force in terms of the deflection voltage is maintained between a conductive tip and the sample, measuring the local spreading resistance in the material in a nanoscale volume. The key to measure the spreading resistance [2.33] is to apply a high force (> $\mu$ N) on a stiff AFM cantilever (10 – 100N.m) so that the probe indents the surface (~1nm) and an intimate contact is established. This allows R<sub>s</sub> to dominate over R<sub>c</sub> and R<sub>d</sub> in Equation 2.12. As the tip scans over the entire cross section of the sample, a two-dimensional profile of the spreading resistance can be obtained which can be duly converted to carrier concentration as mentioned already.

A schematic of the SSRM measurement used for this work is shown in Figure 2.9(a). The vertical NW is first embedded in an oxide matrix. In order to probe the axial cross-section, the NW is cut and planarized along its axis. On the other hand, to probe the radial cross-section it is planarized at the top. Experimental details are provided in Chapter 3. Figure 2.9(b) shows how the spreading resistance originates when the probe contacts the embedded NW. The underlying substrate of known resistivity serves the purpose of calibration which will be illustrated along with the results in Chapter 4. Unlike in the case of current-voltage measurements discussed in

Section 2.6.3, the NW resistance is significantly smaller than the spreading resistance due to the smaller tip size (CAFM tips ~ 10nm). It should be mentioned here that the measured  $R_s$  depends on the actual radius of the tip apex known as the 'electrical radius' that contacts the sample. Therefore, the quantity 'a' in Equation 2.16 is the 'electrical radius' which can be orders of magnitude smaller than the physical radius of the tip [2.34]. The spatial resolution of SSRM



**Figure 2.9** Measurement scheme for SSRM on Si NWs. (a) Circuit diagram showing the embedded NW, the AFM probe, the voltage source and the logarithmic amplifier. Both axial and radial profiling can be done by an appropriate sample preparation and tip scanning. (b) Illustration of the spreading resistance measured on the NW with a cylindrical probe tip of diameter 2a.

mainly depends on the electrical radius of the tip, the penetration depth into the sample and the nano-roughness of the tip (< 10nm), [2.34]. Typically, SSRM can achieve a spatial resolution of about 10nm [2.34] for a perfectly sharp and fresh tip and has a dynamic range of carrier concentration measured between  $10^{15}$  and  $10^{20}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>.

# **2.7** Morphological and Structural Characterization by Electron Microscopy (SEM and TEM)

Both SEM and TEM were used to for morphological and structural characterizations of the MBE-grown Si NWs in this work. SEM investigation requires minimal sample preparations and it provides an accurate measure of the diameter and length of the NWs, as well as their density on the substrate. These are helpful to understand how the growth parameters control the morphology of the NWs.

TEM enables a detailed understanding of the microstructure of the NWs as well as an elemental analysis on a nanoscale [2.35, 2.36]. TEM samples are very thin (<100nm) so that they allow transmission of a high energy (>100kV) electron beam through them. TEM can be used to investigate the morphology, crystallinity and crystal defects when used in diffraction contrast mode [2.35, 2.36]. Using a suitable aperture, electron diffraction pattern from a selected area on the sample can be obtained. This provides detailed information about the crystal structure of the sample. A special technique called phase contrast imaging [2.35, 2.36] can be used to obtain high resolution TEM (HRTEM) images that enable observation of the lattice planes in a crystal. Elemental analysis can be done by collecting the X-rays emitted from the sample surface on being hit by the electron beam in TEM. A lateral mapping of elements with a nanoscale resolution can provide detailed chemical composition of the sample surface.

All of the above TEM techniques were used for the Si NWs investigated in this work. The TEM sample preparations are briefly described in Chapter 3. Both SEM and TEM images of the NWs grown in this work are shown in Chapter 4 in connection with specific results.

In conclusion, MBE-growth, doping and various characterization techniques used for this work are briefly discussed here. They will be helpful to understand the experimental details (Chapter 3) and results (Chapter 4).

## Chapter 3 Experimental Details on Nanowire Growth and Doping

### 3.1 In-situ Doping of Si NWs in MBE

This chapter is focused on the details of the experimental techniques used for this work. An image of the MBE machine (Riber SiVa45) used which roughly corresponds to the scheme in Figure 2.1 is shown in Figure 3.1. The growth process was semi-automated, i.e. the wafer loading was manual, but the temperature control, shutter opening, and flux measurements etc were automated.



Figure 3.1 An image of the Riber SiVa45 MBE machine used for the experiments with its main parts labeled.

The prerequisite for in-situ doping is an appropriate calibration of the dopant fluxes. The dopants are heated inside a crucible in a Knudsen cell leading to effusion from an aperture at the end of the cell. The temperatures of the dopant sources are measured by thermocouples and regulated by Eurotherm<sup>TM</sup> temperature controllers.

#### **3.1.1** Calibration of the Dopant Sources

A useful way of calibrating a dopant flux with the dopant source temperature is to measure the SIMS profile of that dopant used to uniformly dope a Si layer. By varying the source temperature the dopant fluxes can be varied which is reflected in the measured dopant density in the grown Si film. Thus, a dopant calibration can be obtained by plotting the measured dopant density against the dopant source temperature. SIMS measurements (CAMECA IMS4F at RTG Mikroanalyse GmbH, Berlin) were performed for both B and Sb doped Si films grown at 525°C (the optimized Si NW growth temperature). Nominally undoped Si layers were grown just before introducing the dopants in order to achieve higher sensitivity during SIMS measurements. Details of these multi-layered structures are provided in Table 3.1 and typical SIMS spectra for B and Sb are shown in Figures 3.2. The growth substrate for all the experiments was phosphorus-doped 5" Si (111) wafer of resistivity 10 – 20  $\Omega$ -cm. All wafers were cleaned by RCA1 and RCA2 [3.1] before loading into the MBE chamber and the native oxide was removed by in-situ annealing at 870°C for 20 minutes prior to starting the Si layer growth.



**Figure 3.2** SIMS profile from segments of uniformly in-situ doped Si layers. (a) B from the sample B2 in Table 3.1 (b) Sb from the sample Sb1 in Table 3.1.

A remarkable difference between the B and Sb profiles are observed. The B profile (Figure 3.2 (a)) is almost flat at a B concentration of  $10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> over the entire depth of 200nm, and the transition length is within 20nm. On the other hand, the Sb profile (Figure 3.2 (b)) peaks at the interface between the nominally undoped and the Sb doped layer. The depth profile (N<sub>D</sub>(x)) of dopants in in-situ doped MBE-grown Si layers is given as [2.11]

$$N_{D}(x) = N_{D0} \{ 1 - exp(\frac{K_{I}x}{sv}) \}$$
 [3.1]

where  $N_{D0}$  is a constant,  $K_I$  is the incorporation coefficient, s is the sticking coefficient of the dopant and v is the film growth velocity. At the growth temperature of 525°C Sb is known to segregate significantly [2.11 – 2.14] owing to a very low value of the sticking coefficient while B is known to fully incorporate [2.7 – 2.10]. These results confirmed the same. Since a uniform doping profile is essential for a calibration, in-situ Sb doping of Si NWs was not pursued henceforward.

B calibration was done by plotting the B concentration values obtained from the flat B profiles at five different source temperatures (see Table 3.1) and this is shown in Figure 3.3. The measured doping levels were kept relatively high (> $10^{17}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>) keeping in mind the resolution limit of SIMS (~ $10^{14}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>). However, the calibration curve can be safely extrapolated down to the doping level of  $10^{15}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> as shown in Figure 3.3.



Figure 3.3 Calibration curve of B concentration in the grown Si film vs the B source temperature. The error bar is  $\sim 10\%$ . The fitted curve is an exponential fit that looks like a straight line on a semilogartihmic scale.

#### 3.1.2 Uniform Boron Doping of Si NWs

With the calibration done, B doping of Si NWs was carried out for different B concentrations. It should be noted that these B concentrations in Si NWs are only 'expected'. Since SIMS can't be applied directly to measure the dopant concentration in a NW owing to the size constraints, the 'real' electrically active dopant concentration inside a NW is verified latter with electrical

Sample Number	Layer 1	Layer 2	Layer 3	Layer 4	Layer 5	Layer 6
B1	200nm Si @	50nm Si during	200nm Si/B @ T = 525°C	50nm Si during	200nm Si @ T = 580°C	
	$T = 580^{\circ}C$	T ramp-down	(B source $T = 1700^{\circ}C$ )	T ramp-up		
B2	200nm Si @	50nm Si during	200nm Si/B @ T = 525°C	100nm Si @	200nm Si/B @ T = 525°C	200nm Si @
	$T = 580^{\circ}C$	T ramp-down	(B source $T = 1650^{\circ}C$ )	$T = 525^{\circ}C$	(B source $T = 1620^{\circ}C$ )	$T = 525^{\circ}C$
B3	200nm Si @	50nm Si during	200nm Si/B @ T = 525°C	200nm Si @	200nm Si/B @ T = 525°C	200nm Si @
	$T = 580^{\circ}C$	T ramp-down	(B source $T = 1750^{\circ}C$ )	$T = 525^{\circ}C$	(B source $T = 1550^{\circ}C$ )	$T = 525^{\circ}C$
Sb1	200nm Si @	50nm Si during	200nm Si/Sb @ T = 525°C	50nm Si during	200nm Si @ T = 580°C	
	$T = 580^{\circ}C$	T ramp-down	(Sb source $T = 350^{\circ}C$ )	T ramp-up		
Sb2	200nm Si @	50nm Si during	400nm Si/Sb @ T = 525°C	200nm Si @		
	$T = 580^{\circ}C$	T ramp-down	(Sb source $T = 300^{\circ}C$ )	$T = 525^{\circ}C$		

**Table 3.1** Key growth parameters for the in-situ doped multi-layers used for calibrations of dopant sources. All samples were grown on RCA-cleaned phosphorusdoped 5" Si (111) wafers (resistivity  $10 - 20 \Omega$ -cm) with a Si deposition rate always at 0.5Å/s. The chamber pressure during growth was around  $10^{-9}$  mbar.

measurements (see Chapter 4). For B-doping of Si NWs, p-type Si wafers were chosen as the substrate so that during electrical measurements no additional bipolar junction between the NW and the substrate is formed that can modify the current output. Like the B-doped Si layers, RCA-cleaned 5" p-type Si wafers (resistivity ~ 5 – 10  $\Omega$ -cm) were loaded into the MBE chamber and the native oxide was removed by an in-situ annealing at 870°C for 20 minutes. Afterwards, the substrate temperature was reduced to 525°C and a 200nm B-doped Si buffer layer was grown with a Si growth rate of 0.5Å/s. It was observed that the buffer layer increases the density of Si NWs probably by offering a cleaner surface than the substrate, and hence enhancing the surface diffusion of Si atoms which is the main driving force for NW growth in MBE. A higher density of NWs is very helpful for their characterizations. Immediately after the growth of the buffer layer, an Au layer of thickness around 2nm was deposited at the same temperature. The Au thickness was measured in-situ with a guartz-crystal oscillator. Since the growth temperature (525°C) was higher than the Au-Si Eutectic temperature (363°C) the Au layer subsequently broke into liquid Au/Si droplets that acted as the initiator for the Si NW growth [1.46 - 1.49]. Si and B were co-evaporated again for one and a half hour maintaining the same Si growth rate and keeping the B source temperature same as that for the buffer layer. This should result in the growth of B-doped Si NWs. A number of B-doped Si NWs with the Bdoping levels varying from  $10^{15}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> to  $10^{19}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> were grown and all the key growth parameters are listed in Table 3.2 (NWB1 – NWB5).

#### 3.1.3 Nominally Undoped Si NWs

In addition to the B-doped Si NWs, nominally undoped Si NWs were also grown using the same recipe as above except evaporating B with Si. Undoped Si NWs have two uses -1) to serve as a reference for comparison of the electrical properties with the doped ones, 2) to serve as targets for ex-situ doping with ion implantation. In case of undoped NWs, both p and n-type substrates were used in order to avoid bipolar junctions between the NW and the substrate once they are doped by implantations, i.e. the NWs meant for B implantation were grown on p-type substrates and the ones meant for P/As implantations were grown on n-type substrates. Experimental details on growth are provided in Table 3.2 (UNWB, UNWAs)

#### 3.1.4 Modulated Boron Doping of Si NWs

Modulation-doped Si NWs were also grown in order to form an intra-NW p-i junction first and subsequently transform it to an intra-NW p-n junction following the scheme shown in Figure 2.6(c) and (d). For these NWs, the B source was switched off at half of the total growth time so

that only the lower segments of the NWs turned p-type while the upper segments remained intrinsic (i-type). The experimental details are provided in Table 3.2 (MNWB).

#### **3.1.5 Boron Doped Si Films for Mobility Measurements**

In order to measure the carrier mobility by Hall effect, uniformly doped Si layers with doping levels matching that of the Si NWs were also grown. Hall measurements require the electrical conduction confined within the layer [1.69]. An efficient way of achieving this is to grow B-doped Si layers on n-type wafers and use the space charge region at the film-wafer interface to block the current flow in vertical direction during measurements. The same was done here and the details are provided in Table 3.3 (HB1 – HB5).

#### 3.2 Removal of Gold from Si NWs

As mentioned in Chapter 2, the MBE-grown Si NWs contain an Au cap on top and Au/Si nanoparticles on the sidewalls (see Figure 2.2). Au in Si NWs is unwanted for two reasons. Firstly, if diffused inside, Au can act as a mid-gap trap [3.2] in Si providing easy recombination centers for the charge carrier, and thus degrading the electrical conductivity. This is discussed more in details in connection with the results in Chapter 4. Secondly, the Au cap on a Si NW is unwanted for the following reasons. For electrical measurements, a direct Au-p-Si contact can be less Ohmic than the Pt/Ir-p-Si due to higher Schottky barrier height of the former [1.52, 3.3]. Due to heavy mass of Au, it can act as an effective ion-stopper during ex-situ doping of the NWs by ion implantation.

Therefore the Au caps on the Si NWs were removed by a wet etching with an aqueous solution of KI and I<sub>2</sub> prepared by mixing 20g of KI and 5g of I<sub>2</sub> with 100ml of deionized water (DI). The etch rate of a similar commercial etchant at room temperature is around 3nm/second [3.4]. The NWs were dipped in the etching solution for 5 minutes. However, this room-temperature etching did not remove the Au nanoparticles decorating the sidewalls of the NWs. Büttner et al. [3.5] found that these nanoparticles are much more strongly bound to the Si NW compared to the Au cap. However, it is possible to remove them in the following way. First the Au cap is removed from the Si NW at room temperature with the above Au-etchant. This was followed by a high temperature oxidation or annealing (at around 800°C) of the NWs. The thermal oxide grown during the oxidation process is removed with HF and subsequently the Au/Si nanoparticles on the lateral surface of the NWs are etched away with reapplication of the Auetchant. However, the dopants in the NWs can diffuse and redistribute themselves during the high temperature (800°C) oxidation or annealing for an extended time, thus changing the original carrier profile.

Sample Number	le Substrate per 5" Si(111)		Buffer Layer	Au deposition	NW Growth	
	Туре	Resistivity (Ω-cm)	_			
NWB1	р	5 - 10	200 nm Si/B @ T = 525°C (B source T = 1250°C )	2 nm Au @ T = 525°C	270 nm Si/B @ T = 525°C (B source T = 1250°C )	
NWB2	р	5 - 10	200 nm Si/B @ T = 525°C (B source T = 1450°C )	2 nm Au @ T = 525°C	270 nm Si/B @ T = 525°C (B source T = 1450°C )	
NWB3	р	5 - 10	200 nm Si/B @ T = 525°C (B source T = 1500°C)	2 nm Au @ T = 525°C	270 nm Si/B @ T = 525°C (B source T = 1500°C)	
NWB4	р	5 - 10	200 nm Si/B @ T = 525°C (B source T = 1620°C)	2 nm Au @ T = 525°C	270 nm Si/B @ T = 525°C (B source T = 1620°C)	
NWB5	р	5 - 10	200 nm Si/B @ @ T = 525°C (B source T = 1750°C)	2 nm Au @ T = 525°C	270 nm Si/B @ T = 525°C (B source T = 1750°C)	
UNWB	р	5 - 10	200 nm Si/B @ T = 525°C (B source T = 1620°C)	2 nm Au @ T = 525°C	270 nm Si @ T = 525°C	_
UNWAs	n	0.001 - 0.006	_	2 nm Au @ T = 525°C	270 nm Si @ T = 525°C	
MNWB	р	5 - 10	200 nm Si/B @ T = 525°C (B source T = 1620°C)	2 nm Au @ T = 525°C	135 nm Si/B @ T = 525°C (B source T = 1620°C)	135 nm Si @ T = 525°C

**Table 3.2** Key growth parameters for the uniform in-situ B-doped (NWB1-5), undoped (UNWB and UNWAs) and in-situ modulation B-doped (MNWB) Si NWs. The Si deposition rate was always at 0.5Å/s from which the thicknesses are calculated. The chamber pressure during growth was around  $10^{-9}$  mbar.

Sample Number	Layer	
HB1	200nm Si/B @ T = 525°C	
	(B source $T = 1250^{\circ}C$ )	
HB2	200nm Si/B @ T = 525°C	
	(B source $T = 1450^{\circ}C$ )	
HB3	200nm Si/B @ T = 525°C	
	(B source $T = 1500^{\circ}C$ )	
HB4	200nm Si/B @ T = 525°C	
	(B source $T = 1620^{\circ}C$ )	
HB5	200nm Si/B @ T = 525°C	
	(B source $T = 1750^{\circ}C$ )	

**Table 3.3** Key growth parameters for the uniform in-situ B-doped Si layers grown for measurement of carrier mobility by Hall effect with B-doping levels matching that of the uniform in-situ B-doped Si NWs reported in Table 3.2. All layers were grown on RCA-cleaned n-type 5" Si (111) wafers (resistivity  $10 - 20 \Omega$ -cm) with a Si deposition rate always at 0.5Å/s.

Therefore, for the Si NWs used for electrical measurements as well as ion implantation, only the Au caps were removed at room temperature leaving the Au/Si decorations on their lateral surface unaltered. It is worth noting that an attempt is made in this work to detect any Au diffused in the NW during growth, and the possible implications on the existence of Au in the Si NWs are discussed in Chapter 4.

#### **3.3 Ex-situ Doping of Si NWs by Ion Implantation**

As mentioned in Chapter 2, ion implantation for doping the Si NWs used in this work was carried out by first simulating the expected doping profiles with TRIM and then implanting them with the required ion energy and dose to achieve those profiles. Implantations were used to both uniformly dope the nominally undoped Si NWs with a single dopant specie, as well as to form an intra-NW p-n junction on the in-situ modulation-doped NWs. These two cases are described below. All implantations were carried out in Forschugszentrum Dresden-Rossendorf, Germany. Both high and low energy implanters (High Voltage Engineering Europa B.V.) were used as per the requirements.

#### **3.3.1 Uniform Doping with a Single Dopant Specie**

Nominally undoped NWs (samples from UNWB and UNWAs in Table 3.2) with their Au caps removed from top were chosen for the implantations in this case. The average length of the NWs was around 300nm. Multi-energy implantations were performed to obtain a uniform doping profile over the entire length of a NW, i.e. the final projected range was 300 nm. Boron implantation was performed on undoped Si NWs grown on p-type Si (111) wafers (UNWB in Table 3.2). The simulated/expected boron concentration was 10<sup>18</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>. Both phosphorus and arsenic implantations were performed on undoped Si NWs grown on n-type Si (111) wafers (UNWAs in Table 3.2). The simulated/expected dopant concentration for phosphorus was 10<sup>19</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup> and for arsenic was 10<sup>18</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>. In addition, high dose arsenic implantations were carried out to completely amorphize the Si NWs, and study their recrystallization upon annealing. The simulated dopant profiles are shown in Figure 3.4 and the implantation parameters for all the implantations are listed in Table 3.4. For each implantation, along with the NWs, a bare Si wafer was also included in order to measure the Hall mobility for the implanted doping level (WafAs, WafB1 and WafB2 in Table 3.4).

#### **3.3.2** Formation of an Intra-NW p-n Junction

The p-n junction Si NWs were formed on the modulation-doped p-i NWs described in section 3.2 (MNWB in Table 3.2). After removal of their Au caps, these NWs were spin-coated with a spin-on-glass (SOG) silicon dioxide (Silicafilm, Emulsitone Co., USA) for 30 seconds at 3000 RPM. This thereby protected the substrate and the B-doped lower segment of the NWs from being implanted with P ions from the sides in the subsequent step. A two-step implantation of phosphorus ions at room temperature was used to obtain a rectangular dopant profile with a uniform phosphorus concentration of  $10^{19}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> over half the average length of the NWs. This should convert the i-type upper segment of the p-i-NWs to n-type and result in the p-n junction. The implantation parameters are listed in Table 3.4 (MNWB) and the resulting doping profiles along with a NW scheme are shown in Figure 3.5. After the post-implant annealing (see section 3.3.3), the remaining SOG was removed by a 60 seconds dip in HF (5%).

#### 3.3.3 Post-implantation Annealing

Two types of thermal annealing were used in this work. For electrical activation of dopants in the NWs as well as the bare Si wafers that were not amorphized, RTA (Addax R100 at Forschungszentrum Dresden-Rossendorf) for 30 seconds was used. The experimental details are listed in Table 3.5. For boron implanted NWs and wafer (UNWB and WafAs in Table 3.5), an

annealing temperature of 850°C was used whereas for phosphorus and arsenic implanted NWs and wafers (UNWAs1, WafB1 and UNWAs2, WafB2 respectively in Table 3.5) two different annealing temperatures, 850°C and 1100°C, were used.



**Figure 3.4** Dopant profiles in the implanted NWs simulated by TRIM for (a) B (b) P (c) As (d) As with an amorphizing dose. The 0 in the X-axis corresponds to the top of the NW.

For the recrystallization of fully amorphized NWs, both RTA and conventional furnace annealing were used. In this case, both a single step anneal and a sequential anneal were tried. The single step annealing by RTA was done at 800°C, 900°C, 950°C and 1050°C for 30 seconds each (UNWAs3a in Table 3.5) and in a furnace at 600°C and 650°C for five hours each (UNWAs3b in Table 3.5). For the sequential annealing, first a low temperature annealing at 550°C for one hour was performed which was followed by a high temperature annealing at 950°C for 30 minutes in a furnace (UNWAs3c in Table 3.5) and for 30 seconds by RTA (UNWAs3d in Table 3.5). In all cases the annealing was done in argon atmosphere.



**Figure 3.5** Intra NW p-n junction formation. (a) Scheme of a p-n junction NW. (b) Simulated implant profile for P (red) superposed with in-situ modulation doped profile of B measured by SIMS on an in-situ doped layer with the same doping level.

#### **3.4 TEM Sample Preparations**

For structural investigation, cross-sectional TEM samples were prepared using the conventional technique involving gluing two pieces together with an epoxy (M-Bond 610, Vishy Micro-Measurements, USA), cutting 3mm discs, polishing, argon ion milling and finally attaching them to a copper ring for support. Details of the sample preparation can be found in Ref. 2.35. For analytical TEM, i.e. energy dispersive x-ray spectroscopy to detect any infiltration of Au into the NW, plan view samples were prepared using focused ion beam (FIB, Nova 600 NanoLab, FEI Company, Netherlands). TEM lamellas were prepared by embedding the free-

Sample	Implant		First		Second		Third		Fourth	
Number			Implantation		Implantation		Implantation		Implantation	
	Specie	Expected Conc	Energy	Dose	Energy	Dose	Energy	Dose	Energy	Dose
		(cm <sup>-3</sup> )	(keV)	(cm <sup>-2</sup> )	(keV)	(cm <sup>-2</sup> )	(keV)	(cm <sup>-2</sup> )	(keV)	(cm <sup>-2</sup> )
UNWB	В	$3x10^{18}$	55	$3.4 \times 10^{13}$	35	$1.7 \times 10^{13}$	15	$1.7 \times 10^{13}$		
WafAs										
UNWAs1	Р	10 <sup>19</sup>	140	$3.2 \times 10^{14}$	70	$1.3 \times 10^{13}$	25	$6.7 \times 10^{13}$		
WafB1										
UNWAs2	As	$10^{18}$	300	$1.7 \mathrm{x} 10^{13}$	140	$5.5 \times 10^{12}$	80	$2.2 \times 10^{12}$	30	$2.2 \times 10^{12}$
WafB2										
UNWAs3	As	10 <sup>19</sup>	300	$3.3 \times 10^{14}$	140	$1.1 \times 10^{14}$	80	$4.45 \times 10^{14}$	30	$4.45 \times 10^{14}$
MNWB	Р	10 <sup>19</sup>	45	$1.3 \times 10^{14}$	25	$3.2 \times 10^{13}$				

**Table 3.4** Implantation energies and doses for all the implantations used in this work. In each case, along with the NWs, a wafer was also implanted for measurement of carrier mobility by Hall effect. For details of the NWs refer to Table 3.2. WafAs was n-type Si (111) wafer (resistivity 10-20  $\Omega$ -cm), WafB1,2 were p-type Si (111) wafers (resistivity 5-10  $\Omega$ -cm)

Sample Number Implant		First Anneal	Second An	Second Anneal				
	Specie	Expected Conc	Туре	T(°C)	Time	Туре	T(°C)	Time
UNWB	В	$10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3}$	RTA	850	30s			
WafAs								
UNWAs1	Р	$10^{19} \mathrm{cm}^{-3}$	RTA	850/1100	30s			
WafB1								
UNWAs2	As	$10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3}$	RTA	850/1100	30s	_		_
WafB2								
UNWAs3a	As	$10^{19} \mathrm{cm}^{-3}$	RTA	800/900/950/1050	30s	_		_
UNWAs3b	As	$10^{19} \mathrm{cm}^{-3}$	Furnace	600/650	5h			
UNWAs3c	As	$10^{19} \mathrm{cm}^{-3}$	Furnace	550	1h	Furnace	950	30m
UNWAs3d	As	$10^{19} \mathrm{cm}^{-3}$	Furnace	550	1h	RTA	950	30s
MNWB	Р	$10^{19} \text{ cm}^{-3}$	RTA	850	30s			

Table 3.5 Annealing type, temperature and time for all the implantations used. Refer to table 3.4 for the implantation doses and energies.

standing Si NWs in carbon and then lifting them out by cutting trenches with the FIB. Details of the sample preparation can be found in Ref. 3.6.

#### **3.5 Electrical Measurement Setups**

Three different electrical measurements were performed on the doped NWs and Si wafers/layers. They are briefly described below.

#### **3.5.1 Measurement of Hall Mobility in Doped Si Wafers/Films**

Hall measurements were performed on both the in-situ doped (HB1-5 in Table 3.3) silicon films and implanted (WafAs, WafB1, WafB2) silicon wafers using Ecopia HMS-3000 (Bridge Technology, USA) Hall measurement system. A scheme and an image of the actual measurement setup are shown in Figure 3.6(a) and (b) respectively. In-Ga alloy droplets (Alfa Aesar, USA) were applied on the four corners of a 1cm x 1cm sample (See Figure 3.6(b)) in order to obtain the Van der Pauw geometry [1.69, 3.8] for measuring Hall effect. Subsequently electrical connections were made to the contact pads by copper wire bonding. Ohmic contacts were first confirmed by measuring linear current-voltage characteristics between any two contacts of 1, 2, 3, 4 in Figure 3.6. Subsequently, reciprocal current-voltage measurements [1.69, 3.8] were done without applying any magnetic field and the sheet resistance was extracted from them. From the sheet resistance the computer program associated with the measurements calculated the resistivity of the in-situ doped/implanted layer taking into account the layer thickness. A permanent magnet of 0.55T was used and was mechanically reversed as shown in Figure 3.6(b) to change the direction of the magnetic field perpendicular to the sample. Hall voltage was measured by averaging the net voltages measured across specific contacts [1.69, 3.8] of 1, 2, 3 and 4 in Figure 3.6 under positive and negative magnetic field. From the measured Hall voltage, the program automatically calculated the doping density and mobility using the measured sheet resistance and supplied layer thickness. The measured Hall mobilities are reported in Chapter 4.

#### 3.5.2 Measurement of the NW Resistance

For measuring the resistance of a NW, current-voltage measurements were performed by contacting individual NWs with a Pt/Ir tip inside an SEM (JSM6400, JEOL). Samples of 1cm x 0.5cm were cleaved and glued at the backside with highly conductive silver paste (G 302, Plano GmbH) to a copper stage which was attached to a chip carrier fitted to the stage of the SEM. Figure 3.7 shows an image of the setup. The pins of the chip carrier on which the copper stage



**Figure 3.6** The Hall measurement set-up. (a) The schematic showing the sliding permanent magnet, sample holder and sample. (b) The actual measurement setup. (Reprinted from Ref. 3.7)

sits were electrically grounded along with the SEM stage. On the SEM stage, two micromanipulators (MM3A-EM, Kleindiek Nanotechnik) were also fixed to which electrochemically etched Pt/Ir tips made from 25µm thick wires (Pt/Ir 80:20, GoodFellow) were attached. The tips were etched by the same procedure described in Ref. 3.9 and their average apex diameter was around 200nm. The micro-manipulators were operated with a joystick and had three degrees of freedom (r,  $\theta$ ,  $\phi$  in spherical coordinate system) with a radial (r) resolution of 0.25nm, and angular resolution ( $\theta$ ,  $\phi$ ) of 0.1 µrad each. The Pt/Ir tip attached to one of the micro-manipulators was connected to a picoammeter with an internal voltage source (Keithley 6487,  $\leq$  2fA noise) for the current-voltage measurements. The applied voltage could be varied between -12V to 12V and it could measure between 20fA to 20mA with a resolution of 10fA. With the electron beam on, the Si NWs as well as the Pt/Ir tip were imaged first. Subsequently the tip was moved with the joystick so that it makes a good contact with the top of the NW (see Chapter 4). The existence of an electrical contact was confirmed by the detection of a current by the picoammeter on application of a small voltage (~10mV). However, a 'good' contact strongly depended on the contact area between the tip and the NW and the force applied to the tip. It was not possible to measure the force on the tip. However a comparison between a 'good' and a bad 'contact' was made and it is included in the Appendix 4. With a 'good' contact established, the voltage was swiped stepwise from a positive to a negative value (confined within -1V to +1Vdue to the problem of self heating effect, see Appendix 4) with a step time of 1 second and the current was measured by the picoammeter. During the measurement, the electron beam was blanked to avoid its influence on the measured current. Differently doped NWs were measured with this technique and the results are discussed in Chapter 4.



**Figure 3.7** An image of the actual current-voltage, i.e. NW resistance measurement setup inside an SEM (JSM 6400, JEOL)

#### **3.5.3 Measurement of NW Carrier Profiles**

As discussed in Chapter 2, carrier profiles in individual NWs were extracted by measuring the local spreading resistance through scanning spreading resistance microscopy (SSRM). For the spreading resistance measurements, first the NWs were embedded in  $SiO_2$  (~ 400 nm) grown by plasma enhanced chemical vapor deposition (PECVD). Subsequently the samples were glued with the same epoxy adhesive (M-Bond 610, Vishay Micro-Measurement, USA) used for crosssectional TEM sample preparations to a dummy (a bare Si), and cut into 3mm x 1mm pieces. These pieces were lapped and ground first with SiC powder, and then polished with diamond powder. This reduced the thickness of the samples from around 625µm (~ thickness of the wafer on which the NWs were grown) down to around 100µm. An SEM image of a finished sample is shown in Chapter 4 where the NWs, the oxide matrix, the substrate and the dummy are indicated. The average roughness of the polished samples varied from 2nm to 10 nm which is illustrated with AFM topography images in Appendix 3. The SSRM measurements were performed using a conductive AFM system (Multimode Scanning Probe Microscope, Veeco Instruments) equipped with a conductive diamond coated Si tip (CDT-CONTR, NANOSENSORS) at Forschungszentrum Dresden-Rossendorf. An image of the measurement setup is shown in Figure 3.7.



Figure 3.7 An image of the actual SSRM measurement setup using the conductive AFM system

As shown in the scheme in Figure 2.9, the electrical circuit consists of the AFM tip, the specimen including the NW embedded in the oxide matrix and the bulk substrate, and a logarithmic current amplifier in the SSRM module of Figure 3.7 to read out the signal. The measured current was in the range of 10pA to 0.1mA. For two-dimensional image scans a constant bias voltage of -2.5 V was applied between the tip and the specimen to achieve a reasonable signal to noise ratio. For indenting the sample surface and moving deeper into the volume by abrading material from the NW, a deflection voltage between 0.2 and 1.5 V was used to generate a higher force. During the measurements, the tip was always scanned perpendicular to the Si/SiO<sub>2</sub> interface (shown in Chapter 4) in the axial direction of the NW. The output of the sample which can be duly converted to carrier concentration profiles and are discussed in Chapter 4.

## Chapter 4 Results and Discussions

#### 4.1 Morphology of the In-situ B-Doped NWs

Morphology of the in-situ B-doped Si NWs was investigated by a field emission SEM (JSM 6701F, JEOL) and are shown in Figure 4.1. Figure 4.1(a) and (b) show a plan view image of an ensemble of in-situ B-doped Si NWs (taken from sample NWB5 in Table 3.2) and a 45°-tilted image of the same (in a higher magnification) respectively. The intended B-doping was 10<sup>19</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>. However, as mentioned above, this intended doping level only corresponds to the calibration curve in Figure 3.3 obtained from SIMS measurements on B-doped Si layers and will be verified with electrical measurements latter. The dark hemispherical cap on top of the NW is the solidified Au that initiated the NW growth when it was an Au/Si Eutectic droplet. As can be seen in Figure 4.1(b), unlike the CVD-grown in-situ doped NWs [1.58, 1.103], no significant tapering was observed in the MBE-grown in-situ B-doped NWs. This implies that insitu doping mechanism as outlined in Section 2.3 did not increase the lateral growth rate of the NWs in comparison to the axial growth rate which is the case for the CVD-grown NWs. This reasonable uniformity in the shape of the B-doped NWs can be an added advantage for estimating their electrical properties where the geometry has to be taken into consideration. The morphology did not change with the doping levels as well. This further confirms that the boron flux did not influence the Si deposition and the NW growth rate.



**Figure 4.1** SEM image of (a) Plan view (b)  $45^{\circ}$ -tilted view of in-situ B-doped Si NWs. The intended B-doping level for these NWs was  $10^{19}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>.

From the top view images, the average diameter of the NWs for all doping levels (see Table 3.2) was calculated to be around 155nm (see Figure A4.1 in Appendix 4), and from the 45°-tilted images the average length amounted to around 350nm including the dark Au cap on top. For implantation and electrical measurements, the Au cap was removed which resulted in a decrease in the average height to around 300 nm.

#### 4.2 Gold in Si NW

Like the undoped Si NWs grown by MBE (see Figure 2.2(c)), cross-sectional TEM (CM20 Twin, Philips) images of the in-situ B-doped Si NWs revealed Au existing on the grown Si NWs. The TEM image in Figure 4.2(a), taken from sample NWB5 in Table 3.2, shows the Au cap on top and the Au decoration on the sidewalls of an as-grown NW. The TEM image in Figure 4.2(b) shows a NW with the Au cap removed by wet etching described in Chapter 3.



**Figure 4.2** Cross-sectional TEM images of in-situ B-doped (intended doping ~  $10^{19}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>) Si NWs. (a) An as-grown NW with both the Au cap on top and Au/Si nanoparticles on the sidewalls (b) A NW with the Au cap removed. The Au/Si nanoparticles remain. Insets of the images show SAED patterns confirming their crystallinity.

However, the decoration of Au/Si nanoparticles was not removed by this process. They are visible as tiny dark spots on the NW surface in Figure 4.2(b). As mentioned before, Au can form mid-gap levels (acceptor level at 0.35eV, donor level at 0.54eV) in the Si energy band [3.2, 4.1, 4.2] and thus can act as a carrier trap or recombination center reducing the free carrier concentration in the volume of the NW. Therefore, it is important to know whether any Au diffused into the volume of the NW during growth.

In order to probe if Au diffused into the Si NW during growth, TEM EDX (CM20 FEG, Philips) was performed on the plan-view Si NW samples prepared by FIB (Figure 4.3). Inset of Figure 4.3(a) shows the plan view TEM image of the top of the NW embedded in carbon with the red line (1-9) indicating the path of the EDX line-scan. An EDX spectrum was acquired at each of the equally spaced (~3nm) 9 points. The spectrum shown in Figure 4.3(a) is acquired at the point 4 which sits right at the periphery and falls on the outer surface of the NW. Along the entire line-scan a detectable AuLa peak (see Figure 4.3(a)) could be seen only at the point 4. No Au signal could be detected inside or outside of the NW (at the point 1 or 9 for example). This is clear from the intensity plot of the AuLa line in Figure 4.3(b). The Si Ka line is included in Figure 4.3(b) for reference. However, the detection limit of EDX is around 1% (atomic) which amounts to an Au concentration of  $10^{20}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>. At the Si NW growth temperature of 525°C the Au solubility in Si is only around  $10^{14}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> [4.1, 4.3]. Even at the annealing temperature of the ion-implanted Si NWs (850°C - 1100°C), the maximum solubility of Au in Si is around  $10^{16}$ 

cm<sup>-3</sup> [4.1, 4.3]. Therefore, a chemical detection of Au inside Si NWs by EDX is almost impossible. It must be mentioned that Perea et al. [1.71] could not detect Au in the CVD-grown Ge NWs using atom probe tomography. Putnam et al. [4.4] reported a maximum Au concentration of  $1.7 \times 10^{16}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> in the CVD-grown Si NWs using Nano-SIMS. Using scanning transmission electron microscopy (STEM) Oh et al. [4.5] reported an Au concentration of ~  $10^{18}$ cm<sup>-3</sup> inside MBE-grown Si NWs which is way above the solubility limit of Au in Si at 525°C mentioned above. However they mentioned that the probing electron beam could have influenced the measured value.

From the simulations (see Figure 3.4, 3.5), most of the ion implanted and annealed NWs in this work (see Table 3.4, 3.5) are expected to have a high doping level (> $10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>) which is orders of magnitude higher than the Au solubility at the annealing temperature (~ $10^{16}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>). As a result, full compensation of free carriers by mid-gap Au traps can be neglected. For the in-situ B-doped Si NWs in this work (see Table 3.2), a variety of doping levels from  $10^{15}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> to  $10^{19}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> were used. However, as mentioned above, the maximum Au solubility at the growth temperature of  $525^{\circ}$ C is only around  $10^{14}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> which is not high enough to compensate all the activated dopants. Therefore, the effect of in-diffused Au (if any) on the electrical properties of



**Figure 4.3** EDX analysis of a plan view in-situ B-doped (intended doping ~  $10^{19}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>) Si NW. (a) The spectrum acquired at point 4 on the line-scan (1-9) shown at the inset. The black dots on the periphery of the NW at the inset are Au/Si nanoparticles, same as the ones seen in Figure 4.2(a). (b) Intensity variation of the AuL $\alpha$  peak along the EDX line-scan 1-9. Points 1, 4 and 9 are marked on the figure. Intensity variation of the SiK $\alpha$  line is included for reference.

the Si NWs is neglected for the analysis here. It should be noted that the Au/Si nanoparticles on the sidewalls of the NWs (Figure 4.2), may modify the local conductivity [4.6] at the surface of

the NWs as suggested by Bauer et al. [1.108]. A detailed investigation on these Au-Si nanocontacts is underway.

#### 4.3. Microstructure of the In-situ B-Doped NWs

From the representative cross-sectional TEM images of Figure 4.2 it can be seen that the in-situ B-doped Si NWs grown in this work are free of any extended defect such as dislocation or stacking fault. The selected area electron diffraction pattern (SAED) shown at the inset of both Figure 4.2(a) and (b) prove that they are single-crystalline, oriented along the <111> direction, i.e. they are epitaxially grown. This is a significant difference from the in-situ B-doped CVD-grown NWs [1.58, 1.103] which often consist of a crystalline core and an amorphous shell.

It has been suggested [1.58] that the introduction of diborane ( $B_2H_6$ ) as a precursor for B, enhances the rate of dissociation of silane (SiH<sub>4</sub>), the precursor for Si, at the Au droplet. This leads to the deposition of amorphous Si. No such amorphization was observed for the MBE-growth Si NWs in this work at all B-doping levels. Unlike CVD, there is no cracking of the precursor involved either in growth or in doping of Si NWs in MBE. This further corroborates the fact that the Si incorporation rate was not significantly altered by the introduction of the B flux in MBE.

#### 4.4 Hall Mobility in Doped Si Films

The measured Hall mobility for each in-situ B-doped Si layers (see Table 3.3) as well as for the implanted and annealed Si wafers (see Table 3.4/3.5) are listed in listed in Table 4.1. Along with the mobility, carrier concentration and resistivity of the layers were also measured to get an estimate of the electrical activation in the Si film/wafer and are reported in Table 4.1 as well.

The measured mobility values are substituted Equation 4.2 to calculate carrier concentrations. From Table 4.1 it can be clearly seen that the electrical activation is almost 100% for both insitu and ex-situ doped Si thin films at all doping levels. The measured resistivity and mobility values match very well with the expected ones. These control experiments, therefore, show that both the in-situ and ex-situ doping techniques used here are quite effective in terms of dopant incorporation and activation in silicon films. Whether they are equally effective in doping Si NWs will be assessed in the next sections.
Sample	Dopant	Expected	Measured	Expected	Measured	Expected	Measured
Number	Specie	Doping	Doping	Resistivity	Resistivity	Mobility	Mobility
		$(cm^{-3})$	(cm <sup>-3</sup> )	(Ω-cm)	(Ω-cm)	$(cm^2V^{-1}s^{-1})$	$(cm^2V^{-1}s^{-1})$
HB1	В	10 <sup>15</sup>	$7x10^{14}$	13.5	20	462	465
HB2	В	$3x10^{16}$	$1 \times 10^{16}$	0.53	1.5	389	390
HB3	В	10 <sup>17</sup>	9x10 <sup>16</sup>	0.2	0.3	317	325
HB4	В	10 <sup>18</sup>	$10^{18}$	0.04	0.04	153	150
HB5	В	10 <sup>19</sup>	10 <sup>19</sup>	0.008	0.009	71	70
WafAs	В	$10^{18}$	$10^{18}$	0.04	0.04	153	150
WafB1	Р	10 <sup>19</sup>	5x10 <sup>18</sup>	0.005	0.008	115	138
WafB2	As	$10^{18}$	8x10 <sup>17</sup>	0.02	0.02	284	311

**Table 4.1** Expected and measured Hall mobility, doping (carrier concentration), and resistivity of differently doped Si layers/wafers. HB1-5 are in-situ B-doped Si layers while WafAs, WafB1 and WafB2 are implanted Si wafers

## 4.5 Electrical Property of the In-situ B-Doped NWs

This section is further subdivided according to the two different electrical characterizations pursued for this work.

# 4.5.1 Resistance of the B-Doped NWs

The resistance of the in-situ B-doped Si NWs listed in Table 3.2 were extracted from the current-voltage (I-V) characteristics measured by the technique described and illustrated in Chapter 2 and 3. An SEM image of a NW contacted with the Pt/Ir tip is shown in Figure 4.4. The measured I-V curves in the range of -0.5V to 0.5V for the NWs corresponding to different intended B-doping levels (N<sub>int</sub>) are shown in Figure 4.5. N<sub>int</sub> simply means the doping level that can be expected for a particular B source temperature from the B source calibration curve in Figure 3.3 during in-situ doping (see Table 3.2). A typical NW of comparable diameter (~ 155nm) and length (~270nm) was chosen for each  $N_{int}$  value. Broadly, the expected doping levels are divided into three categories -1. nominally undoped and low-doped (N<sub>int</sub> =  $10^{15}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>) (see Figure 4.5(a), (b)), 2. medium-doped ( $N_{int} = 3 \times 10^{16}$  and  $10^{17}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>) (see Figure 4.5(c)) and 3. high-doped ( $N_{int} = 10^{18}$  and  $10^{19}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>) (see Figure 4.5(d)). As seen in Figure 4.5(a), the I-V curves of both the low-doped and nominally undoped NW look similar. Both of them show highly rectifying characteristics. This is explained latter. Both the medium-doped and highdoped Si NWs showed Ohmic or quasi-Ohmic I-V curves. However, the order of magnitude of the current changed from hundreds of nA for the medium-doped to hundreds of µA for the highdoped NWs in the same voltage range (-0.5V - 0.5V) implying an obvious increase of the electrical conductivity. The s-shaped I-V curve of the highest-doped NW ( $N_{int} = 10^{19} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ ) results from self-heating as the current flowing through it is quite high (>300 $\mu$ A) at higher biases. In fact some of the NWs melted on applying a bias of 1V (see Figure A4.2 in Appendix 4). The Ohmic I-V curves result from an Ohmic contact between the Pt/Ir tip and the p-Si NW. The tip resistance was measured to be around  $10\Omega$ . The contact resistance between the tip and the NW can not be measured from a two-point measurement. The theoretical Schottky barrier height of this junction should be around -0.15V [1.52]. A negative barrier height is never measured in reality due to the unavoidable surface states at the metal-silicon interface [1.52, 3.3]. However, in order to estimate the contact resistance for the medium-doped NWs, this theoretical value was used which gave a contact resistance of around  $350k\Omega$  according to Equation 2.13 and 2.14, assuming the contact is formed across the entire cross section of a NW of diameter 155nm. This value of contact resistance can provide reasonable estimate for the medium-doped NWs (Figure 4.5(c)). The resistance (R) calculated from the slopes of the medium-doped NWs (Figure 4.5(c)), are 20M $\Omega$  for N<sub>int</sub> = 3x10<sup>16</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup> and 4M $\Omega$  for N<sub>int</sub> = 10<sup>17</sup>



Figure 4.4 A B-doped Si NW contacted with a Pt/Ir tip for current-voltage measurement

cm<sup>-3</sup> respectively, both of which are significantly higher than the theoretical value of the contact resistance (350k $\Omega$ ). For the high-doped NWs (Figure 4.5(d)), tunneling of charge carriers will result in an exponential decrease of the contact resistance [1.52, 2.30, 3.3] with N<sub>int</sub> as mentioned in Chapter 2. Most definitely the contact resistance is lowered by several orders of magnitude since the measured resistance from the slopes of the I-V curves in Figure 4.5(d) is 5k $\Omega$  for N<sub>int</sub> = 1x10<sup>18</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup> and 2k $\Omega$  for N<sub>int</sub> = 1x10<sup>19</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>. In these cases, the theoretical specific contact resistance ( $\rho_c$ ) should be lower than 10<sup>-7</sup>  $\Omega$ -cm<sup>-2</sup> [4.7]. Assuming a limiting value of 10<sup>-7</sup>  $\Omega$ -cm<sup>2</sup>, the contact resistance can be estimated as 0.5k $\Omega$  for N<sub>int</sub> = 10<sup>18</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup> and it should be even lower for for N<sub>int</sub> = 10<sup>19</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>. Both of them are significantly lower than the corresponding NW resistances. The resistivity ( $\rho$ ) of the NWs was calculated making use of Equation 2.15, i.e.

$$\rho = \frac{\pi D^2 R}{4l} \qquad [4.1]$$

where l is the length and D the diameter of the NW, measured from the SEM images (such as Figure 4.4) before measuring the I-V curves.



**Figure 4.5** Current-Voltage (I-V) curves of (a) An undoped NW (b) A low-doped NW. (c) Two mediumdoped NWs. (d) Two high-doped NWs. The intended doping levels are shown in the respective figures.

From the calculated resistivity, an apparent free carrier concentration  $(N_{app})$  was calculated using Equation 2.5, i.e.

$$N_{app} = \frac{1}{e\rho\mu_{p}} \qquad [4.2]$$

It was termed the 'apparent concentration' since they were calculated assuming the whole NW is a cylindrical resistor without taking into account the surface depletion effects [1.76, 1.77]. Using the mobility ( $\mu_p$ ) values from Table 4.1, N<sub>app</sub> values were calculated from Equation 4.2 and plotted against the intended doping levels in Figure 4.6. It can easily be seen in Figure 4.6 that for the medium-doped NWs, N<sub>app</sub> falls orders of magnitude short of N<sub>int</sub>. For N<sub>int</sub> = 3x10<sup>16</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>, N<sub>app</sub> = 10<sup>14</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>, and for N<sub>int</sub> = 10<sup>17</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>, N<sub>app</sub> = 10<sup>15</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>. For the high-doped NWs, the difference between N<sub>int</sub> and N<sub>app</sub> is less than an order of magnitude. For N<sub>int</sub> = 10<sup>18</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>, N<sub>app</sub> = 4x10<sup>17</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>, and for N<sub>int</sub> = 10<sup>19</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>, N<sub>app</sub> = 7x10<sup>18</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>. To explain this trend, the surface

depletion effect [1.76, 1.77] must be explicitly taken into account which is explained in the next section.



**Figure 4.6** Apparent ( $N_{app}$ ) and net ( $N_{net}$ ) carrier concentrations of the NWs against the intended doping level. This serves as a calibration curve for in-situ B-doping of Si NWs in MBE. The error in  $N_{app}$  from the linear fitting (not shown) of the I-V curves in Figure 4.5 was 2.5%, 1%, 3% and 5% corresponding to  $N_{int}$  values of  $3 \times 10^{16}$ ,  $10^{17}$ ,  $10^{18}$  and  $10^{19}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> respectively. The error in  $N_{net}$  obtained from the fittings in Figure 4.8 was 2% in all cases.

#### **4.5.2 Surface Depletion in the NWs**

It is well known that as soon as a 'fresh' Si wafer is exposed to air under ambient conditions, the Si surface starts to get oxidized at a very slow rate [4.8, 4.9]. This oxide, known as native silicon oxide, grows to around 1-2nm of thickness within a few hours [4.8, 4.9]. In the case of Si NWs, as soon as they are taken out of the MBE chamber, the native oxide starts to form on the outer surface of the NWs. As mentioned in Chapter 1, the Si/native oxide interface is characterized by unsatisfied or dangling bonds that give rise to electronic defects known as surface states with energy levels within the bandgap of silicon [1.52]. These surface states can effectively act as electron/hole trap by capturing the free electrons from the volume of the Si NWs, and thus deactivating them for current conduction through the volume. This creates an excess of charges on the surface which is balanced by bending of the conduction and valence energy bands of the NW even without the application of an external bias. This is called surface pinning of the Fermi level. A schematic illustration of surface depletion and Fermi level pinning for a p-type Si NW is shown in Figure 4.7(a) and (b) respectively. Due to the loss of free

carriers from the volume of the NW, the effective conductive cross-section of the NW reduces. Seo et al. [1.77] proposed a model to explain the surface depletion in Si NWs. This model is applied to explain the electrical properties of the NWs presented here. It is assumed that a uniform surface charge density of  $N_s$  exists at the outer surface of a NW at the interface between Si and the native oxide. It is also assumed that for a cylindrical NW of physical diameter D (determined from the SEM image before measurement), the surface depletion reduces the effective conductive region to a uniform cylindrical core of diameter d. In order to have an electrostatic balance of the total charges, the total charge contained in the shell of thickness (D-d)



Total Volume Charges [N<sub>net</sub> (cm<sup>-3</sup>)]

**Figure 4.7** (a) Schematic illustration of surface depletion in a p-type NW by the surface charges. With a charge density of  $N_S \text{ cm}^{-2}$ , the surface charges (negative in this case) uniformly deplete the NW of free carriers. If 1 is the length and D the physical diameter of the NW, it's real conductive diameter is reduced to d. The net free carrier concentration averaged over the entire NW volume is  $N_{net} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ . (b) Fermi level pinning of the surface depleted NW.  $E_C$ ,  $E_V$  and  $E_F$  refer to the conduction, valence and Fermi energy levels respectively.

surrounding the core should be equal to total surface charges, i.e.

$$\frac{\pi}{4}(D^2 - d^2)lN_{net} = \pi DlN_s \qquad [4.3]$$

where  $N_{net}$  is the net or average free carrier density in the total volume of the NW including both the core and the shell. Combining Equation 4.1 and 4.3

$$\frac{R}{l} = \frac{\frac{4\rho}{\pi}}{D^2 - \frac{4N_s}{N_{net}}D}$$
[4.4]

The resistance per unit length can be measured for NWs of different diameters (D) and lengths, and the data can be fitted against D. Figure 4.8 shows the measured data and the fitted curves of resistance per unit length for different doping levels. It can clearly be seen that the resistance per unit length increases according to Equation 4.4 as the diameter of the NW decreases. Physically it means that for the same surface charge density, thinner NWs get more strongly depleted by than the thicker ones since the carrier-depleted shell region (see Figure 4.7(a)) extends more into the core of the NW. It can also be seen that as the intended doping level is increased, the decrease of resistance per unit length becomes less abrupt with the increase of NW diameter. For an intended doping level of  $3 \times 10^{16}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> (Figure 4.8(a)) the resistance per unit length falls much more steeply than for an intended doping level of  $10^{19}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> (Figure 4.8(d)). This is due to the fact that as the doping level increases, the surface depletion effect subsides. For the same surface charge density, the ratio  $N_s/N_{net}$  decreases with the increase of  $N_{net}$ , rendering the second term in the denominator of Equation 4.4 less significant. As a result, the diameter dependence of R/l becomes more inverse parabolic like a uniformly charged solid cylinder. The average value of surface charge density extracted from the fits was  $2x10^{10}$  cm<sup>-2</sup> which is lower the standard value for Si thin films, i.e. ~  $10^{12}$  cm<sup>-2</sup> [1.52]. N<sub>net</sub> was also extracted from the fitted curves for each doping level and plotted against the doping level in Figure 4.6 along with Napp values extracted earlier. It can easily be seen that the N<sub>net</sub> values are always higher than the N<sub>app</sub> values for medium doping levels. For higher doping levels, the difference between  $N_{app}$  and  $N_{net}$  is significantly reduced since the surface depletion itself is not as strong as the medium-doped ones.

Using the extracted value for  $N_s$ , i.e.  $2x10 \text{ cm}^{-2}$ , it can also be shown by using Equation 4.4, that both the undoped and the low-doped NW will be fully depleted, i.e. devoid of any free carriers. The rectifying I-V curves for these two (see Figure 4.7(a) and (b)), as verified by Bauer et al.

[1.108] using electron beam induced current (EBIC) measurements, comes from the junction at





**Figure 4.8** Variation of resistance per unit length (R/L) with diameter and intended doping ( $N_{int}$ ) levels of NWs (a), (b) Medium-doped NWs and (c), (d) High-doped NWs. Both the measured data and the fitted curves using Equation 4.4 are shown in each case.

It is clear from the above discussion that surface charges heavily curtail the electrical conductivity of the in-situ B-doped Si NWs investigated here unless the doping level is significantly high (> $10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>).

## 4.5.3 Error Analysis I

There are a few sources of error in the NW resistance measurements performed with the micromanipulator. Subsequently, these errors affect the quantification of  $N_{app}$  and  $N_{net}$ .

Firstly, a stable contact between the NW and the tip is a necessity so that the contact pressure does not change during measurements. The contact pressure can be changed by pressing the tip

harder on top of the NW. It was observed that the contact pressure variation can change the measured current by almost three orders of magnitude (see Figure A4.3 in Appendix 4). Too high contact pressure, however, damaged the Pt/Ir tip. It is difficult to quantify this variation as the contact force/pressure can not be measured. Therefore, all the measurements were obtained for maximum current flow without damaging the tip or the NW.

Secondly, the actual tip-NW contact area is assumed to be the entire radial cross-section of the NW which may not be the case always. The NW top is not completely flat, and therefore it is possible that the tip does not contact the entire radial cross section of the NW on top. In addition, there exists an interfacial native silicon oxide layer all around the NW which can strongly modify the contact properties.

Thirdly, the contact resistance, although theoretically much smaller than the measured resistance as discussed above, is completely disregarded for all calculations. This may influence the  $N_{app}$  and  $N_{net}$  values as well.

From the linear I-V curves of Figure 4.5, a fitting error of 2.5%, 1%, 3% and 5% for  $N_{app}$  values  $9x10^{14}$ ,  $5x10^{15}$ ,  $3x10^{17}$  and  $3x10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> (see Figure 4.6) was calculated. The error from fittings in Figure 4.8 in the extracted values of  $N_{net}$  was around 2% in all cases.

# 4.5.4 Carrier Profile in a Single B-doped Si NW

As explained in Chapter 2 and 3, SSRM was used to measure the carrier profile in a single NW. In order to obtain the highest resolution [2.33], a NW from the high-doped  $(10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3})$  sample was used. Figure 4.9(a) and (b) shows SEM images of a plan view and a cross-sectional SSRM sample respectively. The NWs are indicated along with the substrate, the embedding oxide matrix and the dummy wafer used (for cross-section).



Figure 4.9 An SEM image of a (a) Plan view (b) Cross-sectional SSRM sample.

Also noticeable in Figure 4.9(b) is a long scratch line that resulted from polishing of the sample. Figure 4.10(a) and (b) show the SSRM images of a NW in a plan-view and axial cross-section respectively. A brighter contrast in the image signifies lower spreading resistance, i.e. higher conductivity while a darker contrast signifies lower conductivity. It is clear from the plan view image that the conductivity of the NW is higher near the surface. The surrounding SiO<sub>2</sub> is uniformly dark owing to its high resistance. The axial cross-section in Figure 4.10(b) clearly exhibits a difference in contrast from the substrate (Sub) to the epi-layer (Epi) and the NW. This is due to lower doping level  $(1.3 \times 10^{15} \text{ cm}^{-3}$  corresponding to the resistivity of 10  $\Omega$ -cm) of the substrate as compared to the expected doping level of  $10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3}$  in the NW and epi-layer. The dark lines in the epi-layer result from similar scratches as indicated in Figure 4.9. It highlights the importance of a highly perfect specimen polishing without mechanical surface defects.

The measured average spreading resistance ( $R_s$ ) values from Figure 4.10(b) in axial and radial directions are plotted in Figure 4.11(a) and (b) respectively. Figure 4.11 also shows the carrier concentrations (right Y-axis) that were extracted from the measured spreading resistance ( $R_s$ ) values in the following way.

The resistivity of the substrate was known from the specification of the wafer, and the epi-layer was assumed to be doped to  $10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> (also confirmed by SIMS (see Figure 3.2(a)) and Hall measurements (see Table 4.1) on similarly doped layers). Therefore, the resistivity values of the NW were derived using linear scaling of R<sub>s</sub> values as per Equation 2.16. It was assumed that the electrical radius (a) remains constant during an entire image scans. Since a higher carrier concentration is more desirable for calibration than a lower one [2.33], the  $\rho$  values in the NW were obtained from the epi-layer by scaling the corresponding R<sub>s</sub> values. Since the data in the entire epi-layer is not noise-free owing to the scratches (see Figure 4.10(b)), R<sub>s</sub> values from only a relatively noise-free small segment of the SSRM profile marked as AB in Figure 4.11(a) was used for calibration. The  $\rho$  values were then converted to carrier concentrations by using the standard carrier concentration vs. resistivity curve (see Figure A2.1 in Appendix 2) that takes into account the concentration dependent mobility of holes (majority carriers).

The extracted carrier concentrations in the NW (Figure 4.11(b)) are close to the expected doping level of  $10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> near the surface and dips to  $6x10^{17}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> near the center of the NW. This is consistent with the plan view SSRM image in Figure 4.10(a) that indicates higher conductivity near the surface. Such a 'core-shell' type of profile probably originates from the inherent inhomogeneity of the doping process of Si NWs. As indicated in Figure 2.3, dopant incorporation into the Si NW in MBE occurs both through the Au droplet on top and through the sidewalls of the NW. This way, the surface always accumulates more dopant than the bulk of the NW since both dopant fluxes I<sub>B1</sub> and I<sub>B2</sub> effectively add dopants to the surface while only

 $I_{B1}$  contributes to the bulk. Although an exact kinetics of doping can't be formulated from these profiles, the results confirm that in-situ doping of Si NWs in MBE do suffer from surface accumulation of dopants. It must be mentioned that surface depletion of carriers as illustrated in the previous section also occurs in this case. However, for the measured NW of diameter (D) 180nm, using  $N_{net} = 10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>, and  $N_S = 2x10^{10}$  cm<sup>-2</sup>, we get d = 179nm from Equation 4.3. This implies that the depletion width (D – d) is only 1nm. At present the SSRM measurement is limited to a resolution of around 10nm. This is why it is challenging to see a depleted shell of thickness 1nm just below the surface.

#### 4.5.5 Error Analysis II

There are a few sources of error in an SSRM measurement. Firstly, as mentioned already, the polishing of the sample surface is extremely important since any surface defect such as a scratch (see Figure 4.10(b)) will drastically change the measured resistance. This noisy data introduces a high error in the extracted carrier concentration. The error in treating the epi-layer of constant doping (i.e.  $10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>) was around 25% which subsequently introduced a 25% error in the carrier concentration values in the NW shown in Figure 4.11(b).

In order to suppress the effect of the surface defects, a higher deflection voltage can be applied so that the AFM tip can press harder on the sample. However, drastic change in spreading resistance was observed with the deflection voltage.  $R_s$  changed by two orders of magnitude as the deflection voltage was increased from 0.2V to 1.5V (see Figure 4.5 and 4.6 in Appendix 4). Therefore the extracted carrier concentration values in Figure 4.11, measured at a deflection voltage of 0.8V, can be off by an order of magnitude.

Thirdly, the simple formula exhibiting a linear scaling between  $R_s$  and the local resistivity ( $\rho$ ) as shown in Equation 2.16 is not very accurate. Wolf et al. [4.10] have shown that  $R_s$  depends on a barrier resistance ( $R_{barrier}(\rho)$ ) related to the combined effect of the actual tip shape, surface states, contact force (related to the deflection voltage) etc. In that case,

$$R_{s} = \frac{\rho}{4a} + R_{barrier}(\rho) \qquad [4.5]$$

Therefore, it is important to measure a calibration curve by using a thin film sample with multiple 'known' doping levels. In this work, the calibration was done only with respect to a single 'known' doping level. The advantage of this procedure is that the calibration is done in the same sample as the NWs. However, at the same time it probably increases the margin of error in the measurements.



# **Cross-section**

**Figure 4.10** (a) Plan view (b) Cross-sectional SSRM image of an in-situ boron-doped NW. Note that the dark lines in (b) are scratches resulting from the mechanical polishing as explained in Figure 4.9. In the spreading resistance scale bar at the right, LR means low resistance and HR means high resistance implying that lighter areas in the images are more conductive than the darker ones.



**Figure 4.11**  $R_S$  (left) and carrier (right) profiles extracted from the SSRM image shown in Figure 4.10. (a) The average profiles in axial direction (AS). (b) The average profile in radial direction (RS). The estimated error in quantifying the carrier concentration was around 25%.

# 4.6 Uniformly Ion Implanted Si NWs

Since the uniformly ion-implanted Si NWs were originally undoped (sample UNWB, UNWAs, see Table 3.2) their morphology and crystal structure before implantation were the same as the in-situ doped NWs discussed in the previous section. In this section, the implantation-induced changes of structural and electrical properties of the NWs are discussed. Specific attentions are

paid to recrystallization of NWs that were fully amorphized by heavy As ion implantation, and dopant profile of a P implanted NW.

# 4.6.1 Microstructure of the Implanted NWs

Figure 4.12 shows the TEM images of as-implanted and annealed NWs for B (UNWB in Table 3.4/3.5), P (UNWAs1 in Table 3.4/3.5) and As (UNWAs2 in Table 3.4/3.5) implantations. It can clearly be seen that the all the NWs in Figure 4.12 (as-implanted as well as annealed) are single-crystalline like the as-grown NWs in Figure 4.2. No secondary defects such as dislocation loops were observed in the NWs. However, sometimes extended defects like stacking faults (Figure 4.12(c), (e)) and dislocation loops (Figure 4.12(f)) were observed in the epi-layer underneath the NWs.

These results are particularly interesting because they show that relatively high implantations can be performed without damaging vertical nanostructures. The actual doping levels, however, have to be assessed from electrical measurements.

# 4.6.2 Recrystallization of Fully Amorphized NWs

The high As implanted NW (UNWAs3 in Table 3.4) was fully amorphized. This is evident from the uniform grey contrast in the entire NW as well as in the epi-layer next to it in the TEM image of Figure 4.13(a). The SAED pattern (top left inset) taken from the NW shows the Debye-Scherrer rings typical for amorphous materials. Underneath the NW, a concave shaped amorphous-crystalline (a-c) interface is visible and is indicated with a dotted line in Figure 4.13(a). Such curvy interface was observed for all as-implanted NWs. However, for shorter NW (length ~ 200nm or less), the interface lied much below (>100nm) the base of the NW (see Figure 4.13(a) is relatively much more flat than that in the NW. Figure 4.13(b) and (c) show high resolution TEM (JEM-4010, JEOL) image of the NW in Figure 4.13(a) taken from the bulk of the amosphous region (green box) and from the a-c interface (red box) respectively. It is clear from these two images that although some small crystalline pockets are present at the amorphous side of the a-c interface in Figure 4.13(c), no such pocket is present in the bulk of the amorphous region (Figure 4.13(b)). This signifies that the amrophization was complete. Figure 4.14(a) and (b) show the result of one step annealing in a furnace at 600°C (UNWAs3b

in Table 3.5) and in RTA at 900°C (UNWAs3a in Table 3.5) respectively. It is obvious that both figures look similar. As confirmed by the SAED pattern at the top inset Figure 4.14(a), the top



**Figure 4.12** Cross-sectional TEM image of a (a), (b) B-implanted NW (UNWB) before and after annealing; (c), (d) P-implanted NW (UNWAs1) before and after annealing; (e), (f) As-implanted NW (UNWAs2) before and after annealing. In this case, annealing for the B-implanted NW was done at 850°C for 30s while that for both P and As-implanted ones was done at 1100°C for 30s. The arrows indicate defects, i.e. stacking faults in case of (c) and (e), and dislocation loops in case of (f).

part of the NW is polycrystalline. The small dark areas in the top part are single grains. They are more clearly visible in the HRTEM images of Figure 4.14(c). The grain diameter varied from 5 to 20nm. The bottom part of each of the NWs is single-crystalline with <111> orientation which is confirmed by the corresponding SAED pattern (bottom inset in Figure 4.14(a)).

If the annealing temperature is not above the silicon melting point, i.e. 1400°C, it enables recrystallization of the amorphous silicon (a-Si) via a mechanism called solid phase epitaxial regrowth (SPER) [4.11, 4.12] wherein the random network of a-Si arranges itself in the same crystal orientation as the substrate underneath starting from the a-c interface. The regrowth velocity of SPER in <111> direction amounts to only 1 nm/min at 573.5°C [4.13]. Assuming this rate, for a 5 hour anneal in a furnace, the regrown c-Si should be around 300nm. This is what can be seen in the regrown epi-layer where the end of range (EOR) defects appears at around 300nm from the surface, and the regrown part is fully single-crystalline. Even though some residual defects are observed in the epi-layers (Figure 4.14(a), (b)), no poly-Si could be found. This elaborates the difference between two-dimensional and three-dimensional recrystallization.

The poly-Si grains in the NW are formed by a process known as the random nucleation and growth (RNG) [4.14] wherein nucleation occurs in random directions seeding from small crystallites or even crystal defects. The surface of a NW is a sink of broken bonds that can serve as nucleation sites to initiate RNG. Since no pre-existing crystallite was found in the volume of the as-implanted NWs, it is assumed that the random grains formed are nucleated at the surface and proceeded laterally. Eventually they collided with the SPER growth front moving up from the bottom of the NW which led to the termination of SPER. RNG and SPER probably start simultaneously at the annealing temperatures used because both very short time (30 seconds) anneal in RTA and long time (5 hours) anneal in a furnace yield the same result. Unless RNG is suppressed, a recovery of the single-crystalline structure of the NW by SPER is nearly impossible.

It is difficult to measure the regrowth velocity in the NW due to the irregular shape of the a-c interface. However, the ratio between the average length of the single-crystalline bottom part  $(L_{c-Si})$  and the total length of the NW  $(L_{NW})$  for both a furnace anneal (600C°, 5 hours) and RTA (900°C, 30 seconds) increased with  $L_{NW}$  (see Figure A4.8 in Appendix 4). In both cases the ratio increased monotonously. As mentioned above, for shorter than average NWs the a-c interface lies much below the base of the NW (see Figure A4.7(a) in Appendix 4). Since the constrained amorphous volume in the NW is further away from the single-crystalline substrate, the probability of RNG increases. When such a short NW undergoes a single step anneal, almost the

whole of it turns polycrystalline (see Figure A4.7(b) in Appendix 4). The same phenomenon was observed for all the single step anneals listed in Table 3.5.



**Figure 4.13** (a) A cross-sectional TEM image of an as-implanted NW. The SAED pattern at the top left was taken from the top of the NW, and the same at the bottom left was taken from underneath the NW, below the a-c interface as indicated. (b) An HRTEM image from the bulk of the amorphous region of the NW in (a) (green box). (c) An HRTEM image from the a-c interface in (a) (red box).



**Figure 4.14** Cross-sectional TEM image of Si NW after a single step thermal anneal. (a) 600°C for 5 hours in a furnace, top and bottom inset shows the SAED pattern taken from above and below the poly-c interface respectively. (b) 900°C for 30 seconds by RTA. (c) An HRTEM image from the NW in (b) taken from the poly-Si part (green box).

However, the maximum of  $L_{c-Si}/L_{NW}$  increased monotonously with the annealing temperature which is shown (see Figure A4.8 in Appendix 4). The maximum single-crystalline fraction achieved with a single step annealing was around 72% of the NW length.

The key to suppress RNG lies in the higher activation energy of it (4-5 eV [4.14]) with respect to SPER (2.7 eV [4.11, 4.12]). This implies that nucleation rate of RNG is negligible at low temperatures (<550°C) whereas SPER can start and proceed (although at a relatively slower rate). This concept was first suggested by Csepregi et al. [4.15].

This was utilized in this work with the sequential anneals (UNWAs3c and UNWAs3d in Table 3.5). The TEM image of a NW from the sample UNWAs3c in Table 3.5 after the first anneal at 550°C is shown in Figure 4.15(a). From Figure 4.15(a) and the diffractograms at its inset, it is clear that no poly-Si was formed after the first anneal. The entire NW turned single-crystalline except for a small amorphous pocket at the top left corner (see the diffractogram at the top inset). This bears testimony to the fact that the first anneal at a low temperature indeed suppressed RNG, and SPER from the bottom of the NW proceeded uninterrupted towards the top. The a-c interface (indicated by a dotted line in Figure 4.15(a)) moved much higher in the NW as compared to the cases of single step anneals. The diffractogram taken from the single-crystalline part of the NW (lower inset in Figure 4.15(a)) indicated the presence of micro-twins. This is verified by the HRTEM image in Figure 4.15(b) where the twin-planes are indicated. Formation of micro-twins during SPER is typical for Si (111) [2.21, 4.16] because for recrystallization along <111> direction, a simultaneous attachment of three adjacent atoms from amorphous to a crystalline part is required in order to initiate the nucleation. These three atoms can either add in the desired <111> direction or in a twin orientation.

The second anneal rendered the NWs completely single-crystalline. This is shown in Figure 4.16(a) and (b) for the furnace anneal and RTA respectively. The diffractogram in Figure 4.16(a) confirms a twin-free <111> orientation of the NWs. It shows that unlike the polycrystalline grains, the micro-twins in a NW can be annealed out and the leftover amorphous silicon from the first anneal can be fully converted to single-crystalline silicon. Both in Figure 4.16(a) and (b) a few dark colored triangle-shaped regions are visible. They are probably defects that formed on the thermal evolution of the micro-twins. However, the exact nature of these defects is not clear yet. A detailed characterization of these defects is under way.

To conclude, it was shown here that SPER of amorphous Si NWs is not trivial. It requires a sequential annealing that effectively suppresses the polycrystalline grain formation at the first low temperature anneal, and subsequently aligns the NW to its epitaxial orientation.



Figure 4.15 (a) A cross-sectional TEM image of a NW after the first step (550°C for 1 hour) of the two-step sequential anneal. The diffractogram at the top and bottom left was taken from above and below the a-c interface respectively. (b) An HRTEM image taken from the micro-twinned c-Si part in (a) (green box). The twins are indicated with arrows.



**Figure 4.16** A cross-sectional TEM image of a NW after the second step of the two steps sequential anneal. (a) 950°C for 30 min in furnace anneal. The diffractogram at the top left was taken from the middle of the NW. (b) 950°C for 30 seconds by RTA. The NW is fully single-crystalline; however some triangular shaped defects are visible as indicated in the images.

# 4.6.3 Resistance of the Uniformly Implanted NWs

The I-V curves of individual implanted Si NWs were measured in the same way as the in-situ B-doped NWs and are shown in Figure 4.14. Figure 4.17 (a), (c) and (e) show the semilogarithmic I-V curves of an unimplanted, an as-implanted and an annealed NW for B implantation (UNWB in Table 3.4/3.5), two implanted and annealed NWs each for P (UNWAs1 in Table 3.4/3.5) and As (UNWAs2 in table 3.4/3.5) implantation at different annealing temperatures respectively. Clearly it can be seen that the current increases by orders of magnitude from the unimplanted to as-implanted, and from the as-implanted to the annealed NWs. In case of P and As implantation, the current increased significantly with the increase of the annealing temperature. This is because of the fact that for P and As, higher electrical activation is achieved by increasing the annealing temperature beyond 1000°C while for B, the electrical activation saturates at 850°C [2.21, 2.22]. Figure 4.17 (b), (d), (f) show the I-V curves of three B, P and As-implanted NWs respectively in a linear scale. For comparison, the I-V curve of an unimplanted NW is also shown in each case. The NW resistance (R) was calculated from the slope of these Ohmic curves. Assuming the measured resistance is coming only from the bulk of the NW, the resistivity ( $\rho_{meas}$ ) was calculated using Equation 4.1 and listed in Table 4.2 for all the measured NWs. To compare the measured resistivity with that expected from the intended doping level, the expected resistivity ( $\rho_{exp}$ ) values were also calculated using Equation 4.2 and listed in Table 4.2. The mobility values used for evaluating Equation 4.2 were those measured for similarly implanted Si wafers (WafAs, WafB1, WafB2 in Table 3.4) and reported in Table 4.1.

From Table 4.2, it can be seen that in case of the B-implanted NWs,  $\rho_{meas}$  is of the same order of magnitude as  $\rho_{exp}$ . For the P-implanted NW,  $\rho_{meas}$  is 43 to 166 times higher than  $\rho_{exp}$ . For the As-implanted NWs  $\rho_{meas}$  is 16 to 26 times higher than  $\rho_{exp}$ . Possible reasons behind this are briefly discussed below.

# 4.6.4 Origin of Discrepancies in the NW Resistivity

Along with normal diffusion according to Fick's law [2.22], implanted dopants, mainly boron and phosphorus, often exhibit an anomalous diffusion known as transient enhanced diffusion (TED) [4.17 – 4.21] that arises out of coupling between Si self-interstitials generated by the implantation and the dopants. This coupling results in mobile dopant complexes that diffuse much faster than the dopants themselves. This effectively enhances the dopant diffusion which is measured by an enhanced diffusivity directly proportional to the concentration of Si selfinterstitial. The enhanced diffusivity can be orders of magnitude higher than the diffusivity of the dopant under equilibrium. This leads to a significant smearing out of the as-implanted dopant profiles, i.e. the dopants diffuse out and eventually segregate at the surface. This effect, however, is mainly observed for heavy doping that requires high implantation energy and dose.



**Figure 4.17** Current-Voltage (I-V) characteristics of unimplanted, as-implanted, and implanted and annealed NWs in semilog scale for (a) B (c) P and (e) As implantations, in linear scale for three NWs implanted (b) with B and annealed at 850°C for 30 seconds, (d) with P and annealed at 1100°C for 30 seconds and (f) with As and annealed at 1100°C for 30 seconds. The error from linear fits (not shown) in Figure (b), (d) and (f) was around 2%, 5% and 2% respectively.

Implant Specie	$N_{int}$ (cm <sup>-3</sup> )	NW number	D (nm)	L (nm)	<b>R</b> (Ω)	$ ho_{meas}$ ( $\Omega$ -cm)	$ ho_{exp}$ ( $\Omega$ -cm)
		NW 1	160	240	3.0k	0.02	
В	$3x10^{18}$	NW 2	176	308	2.6k	0.02	0.02
		NW 3	191	255	6.8k	0.07	
		Unimplanted NW	160	280	1.0G	7180	
	10	NW 1	150	270	21k	0.13	
Р	$1 \times 10^{19}$	NW 2	140	270	37k	0.20	0.003
		NW 3	160	240	71k	0.50	
		Unimplanted NW	165	295	980M	7103	
		NW 1	166	240	65k	0.50	
As	$1 \times 10^{18}$	NW 2	175	235	77k	0.70	0.03
		NW 3	180	260	80k	0.80	
		Unimplanted NW	165	295	980M	7103	

**Table 4.2** Measured resistance (R) and resistivity ( $\rho_{meas}$ ) of B, P, and As-implanted and annealed NWs. The I-V curves of these NWs are shown in Figure 4.14 (b), (d) and (f) and the resistivity calculated using Equation 4.2 with the diameters (D) and lengths (L) listed here. The expected resistivity ( $\rho_{exp}$ ) calculated using Equation 4.3 with mobility values from Table 4.1 are included for comparison.

Since the measured B-doped Si NWs showed the expected resistivity, TED is probably not active in this case. In fact, most examples of TED in the literature are found for an expected boron concentration of 10<sup>19</sup>cm<sup>-3</sup> or more [4.17] which is more than an order of magnitude higher than the boron implantation used for this work, i.e. 10<sup>18</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>. The Implanted boron, therefore, is expected to diffuse through interstitials and vacancies (interstitialcy) [4.16] which is the normal diffusion mechanism for it and is fully electrically active at the annealing temperature of 850°C. Besides, surface depletion effect at this B concentration plays an insignificant role as demonstrated with the in-situ B-doped NWs (see Figure 4.6). Like in the case of the in-situ B-doped Si NWs, the high doping also reduces the contact resistance at the p-Si NW - Pt/Ir tip which adds to the measurement accuracy.

In case of phosphorus, the implantation doses and energies were much higher than that for boron to result in a concentration of  $10^{19}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>. This however, can easily enable TED which may lead to an enhanced diffusion constant (D<sub>enh</sub>) of  $1.2x10^{12}$  cm<sup>2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> at 1100°C [4.21]. This can lead to a diffusion length ( $2\sqrt{D_{enh}t}$ , where t = annealing time) of 120nm for a 30 seconds of RTA. This diffusion length is close to the average NW diameter of 155nm implying that it is highly likely that the phosphorus atoms are diffused out and reach the surface of a NW. It has been observed that P atoms generally segregate at the Si/SiO<sub>2</sub> interface during a thermal oxidation [4.22 - 4.26] which generates the SiO<sub>2</sub> layer, as well as during a thermal anneal when a Si/native oxide interface is already present as in the case of the Si NWs measured here. The segregated dopants can get deactivated by the surface states as discussed in Chapter 1 and in Section 4.5. However, this has to be verified with carrier profiling.

In case of the As-implanted NWs, TED is probably not as pronounced as arsenic is not known for exhibiting significant TED [4.17]. However, As segregation at the Si/SiO<sub>2</sub> interface has been predicted [4.27], as well as observed [4.28, 4.29] even for low doses (~10<sup>13</sup> cm<sup>-2</sup>). Clement et al. [4.30] have reported an increase in resistivity by a factor of 14 for As-implanted horizontal NWs, i.e.  $\rho_{meas}$  was 14 times higher than  $\rho_{exp}$ . This agrees well with the results presented here.

# 4.6.5 Error Analysis III

The error from linear fits (not shown) in Figure 4.17(b), (d) and (f) is 2%, 5% and 2% for B-, P- and As-implanted NWs.

However, a significant difference of error between B-implanted and P/As-implanted NWs can come from the contact resistance. The contact resistance of the P/As-implanted n-Si NW – Pt/Ir contact can be significantly higher than the B-implanted p-Si NW – Pt/Ir contact as the theoretical Schottky barrier height is 0.85eV in case of the former and -0.15eV in case of the latter [1.52]. This implies a higher contact resistance for the P/As-implanted NW which probably affected the accuracy of the measurements.

## **4.6.6 Carrier Profile in a Single P Implanted NW**

Figure 4.18(a) presents the SEM image and 4.18(b) the SSRM images of a P-implanted NW. Figure 4.18(c) is the SEM image of the same NW after SSRM measurements. Like the SSRM image of the in-situ B-doped NW (Figure 4.10) the dark area surrounding the NW indicates the SiO<sub>2</sub> layer with high resistance (HR), and the brighter color shown in the substrate indicates a lower resistance (LR) there due to the high carrier concentration of  $7.4 \times 10^{19}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> corresponding to its resistivity of 0.001  $\Omega$ -cm. The uniform medium dark color shown both in the epi-layer and in the bulk of the NW demonstrate their homogeneous doping to the same level. This is in agreement with the expected carrier concentration (~10<sup>19</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>) simulated by the TRIM code (see Figure 3.4(b)). Evidently, there is a brighter colored band at the side wall of the NW shown in Figure 4.18(b). This indicates a lower resistance or higher conductivity there as compared to the bulk of the NW.

Averaged profiles of the spreading resistance  $(R_s)$  and carrier concentration in axial (AS) and radial (RS) directions are shown in Figures 4.19(a) and (b).  $R_S$  was converted to carrier concentration by the same scaling procedure as used for the in-situ B-doped NW. However, in this case the calibration was done with the known resistivity of the highly doped substrate (from the segment AB in Figure 4.19(a)). The carrier concentrations along the axial and radial directions to the NW are shown at the right Y axis of Figure 4.19(a) and (b) respectively. Figure 4.19(a) indicates, as expected, that the epi-layer and the bulk of NW are more than one order of magnitude less highly doped than the substrate. Figure 4.19(b) confirms a higher doping level close to the surface in comparison to the core region of the NW. The more highly doped region extends from the surface to about 30nm inside the NW, and the difference between the maximum doping level of this outer shell and the minimum doping level of the inner core is about a factor of 6-7. The average carrier concentrations of  $2.5 \times 10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> in the NW bulk (Figure 4.18) is off by a factor of 4 from the expected average doping level of  $10^{19}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>. The lower discrepancy compared to the values measured from NW resistance in the previous section (the measured resistivity was off from the expected resistivity by a factor of 40-50) is probably due to a better electrical contact between the tip and the sample since the conductive AFM tip for SSRM measurements presses the sample much harder than the metal tip for NW resistance measurements. However, as mentioned in section 4.5.5, the extracted carrier concentrations can be off by an order of magnitude due to the significant change of  $R_s$  with the deflection voltage (see Figure A4.5 and A4.6 in Appendix 4).



Figure 4.18 (a) SEM image of a P-implanted NW prepared for SSRM measurement (b) SSRM image of the same NW (c) SEM image of the same NW after SSRM measurement.



**Figure 4.19**  $R_S$  (left) and carrier (right) profiles extracted from the SSRM image shown in Figure 4.18. The profiles in axial direction (AS) and in radial direction (RS) are averaged over the whole NW.

Thus, the SSRM image and carrier profile confirmed the piling up of P at the Si NW surface. This probably happened during the RTA and the higher number of P atoms might have reached the NW surface owing to TED as discussed in section 4.6.4. However, it is interesting to notice from this profile that the high amount of P atoms detected near the surface are not electrically deactivated.

The deactivated dopants at the surface could not be observed. For the measured NW of diameter (D) 175nm, using  $N_{net} = 10^{19}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>, and  $N_s = 2x10^{10}$  cm<sup>-2</sup>, we get d = 173nm from Equation 4.3. This implies that the depletion width (D – d) is only 2nm. As mentioned previously, this thickness can not be resolved by the present SSRM measurement since the distance between the neighbouring data points is 1.6nm and the spatial resolution is evaluated to be 10nm by the measured width of a sharp thermally grown Si/SiO<sub>2</sub> interface.

Another important factor that can influence the dopant profiles in the Si NWs is the existence of the Au remaining from the growth-initiating phase on the sidewalls of the NWs. It has been already discussed that any Au diffused into the NW is limited to a maximum solubility of  $2 \times 10^{16}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> [4.4] at the annealing temperature. This can not compensate the high P concentration. However, the Au/Si nanoparticles on the side-walls may contribute to the surface conductivity which may be reflected on the SSRM profile. Since the average size of the Au particles is around 2nm, it is challenging to resolve the contribution coming from them with the current setup.

#### 4.6.7 Error Analysis IV

The error in treating the substrate of uniform resistivity was around 15%, i.e. the spreading resistance varied by 15% in the segment AB of Figure 4.19(a). Therefore, the error in the measured carrier concentration is roughly around 15% disregarding the error from contact pressure (see Figure A4.5 and A4.6).

# 4.7 Intra-NW p-n Junction

In this section, first the implication of an intra-NW p-n junction on its electrostatic properties is illustrated which is followed by the results of its current-voltage characteristics.

# **4.7.1 The p-n Junction Formation**

Figure 4.20 shows the p-n junction formation in the NW. Figure 4.20(a) shows an SEM image of a NW (tilted by 90°) for which the top half is expected to be n-type and bottom half p-type. Figure 4.20(b) is an energy band diagram of this NW simulated with Sim Windows<sup>TM</sup> [4.31]. For simulation, 100% electrical activation of both dopants from the doping profile in Figure 3.5(b) was assumed, i.e. the electron concentration was assumed to be fixed at  $2x10^{19}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> from 0 (NW top) to 135nm, and hole concentration from 135nm to 270nm. The average length of these NWs was found to be around 270nm which is slightly shorter than the average length of the uniformly implanted NWs. The p-n junction was assumed to be abrupt. The simulation

showed a built-in voltage of 1.04eV and a depletion width (w), i.e. the width of the space charge region of the p-n junction [1.52], of 40nm. This implies that ideally the p-n junction should be confined within the length of the NW. Indeed, preliminary results of the cross-sectional SSRM



**Figure 4.20** (a) SEM image of a p-n junction NW (b) Band diagram of a p-n junction NW assuming the dopant profile shown in Figure 3.5(b) and 100% electrical activation of the dopants.

profile of an unimplanted, i.e. p-i junction NW indicated this as well. Figure 4.21(a) shows an back scattered electron (BSE) SEM image of a cross-sectional SSRM sample, and Figure 4.21(b) shows the SSRM image of the same. It is obvious from Figure 4.21(b) that the B-doped lower segment is more conductive (lighter) than the undoped upper segment (darker). This confirmed that the modulation doping (MNWB in Table 3.2) worked. SSRM profiling of a p-n junction NW is underway.



**Figure 4.21** (a) BSE SEM image of a cross-sectional SSRM sample of unimplanted p-i junction NW. (b) SSRM image of the same sample

# 4.7.2 The NW Diode

The measured I-V curves of three different p-n junction NWs along with an unimplanted p-i NW are shown in Figure 4.22(a). Details of these NWs are listed in Table 4.3. The inset of Figure 22(a) shows the I-V curve of the substrate of the NW. This was measured by contacting the epi-layer just next to the base of the NW with the Pt/Ir tip. As can be seen from Figure



**Figure 4.22** The measured current-voltage (I-V) characteristics from the NWs. (a) I-V curves of three p-n NWs, and a p-i (unimplanted) NW. Refer to Table 4.3 for details of the NWs. Inset of Figure (a) shows the I-V curve of the substrate in the same voltage range. (b) Semi-log plot of the I-V curves in Figure (a). For extracting the ideality factors of the p-n junctions, the linear regions of the curves of the p-n NWs in forward bias (-0.2 - -0.6 volt) were used.

4.22(a), all the p-n junction NWs show excellent rectifying characteristics with an ON/OFF current ratio of 168, 120, and 50 respectively at  $\pm 1$  volt (see Table 4.3). In comparison, the unimplanted p-i NW shows a quasi-Ohmic behavior implying the lack of a significantly rectifying junction. The p-type substrate of the implanted NWs (inset of Figure 4.22(a)) showed an Ohmic (linear) behavior. This confirmed that the P implantation is indeed forming a p-n junction within the NWs as illustrated in Figure 3.5(b) and 4.20(b) and it did not extend to the substrate. The protection of the substrate with the SOG was successful.

In forward bias, the diode current (I) in the lower voltage range can be written as [1.52]

$$I = I_{s} exp[\frac{eV}{nkT} - 1] \qquad [4.6]$$

where  $I_s$  is the saturation current, V the applied voltage, k the Boltzmann constant, T the temperature and n the ideality factor of the diode. The ideality factor of a diode is a measure of the influence of the electrical defects present in the device on its current rectification ability. For an ideal diode, the carrier transport is determined by diffusion current which leads to an ideality factor of 1. In order to extract n, the I-V curves of Figure 4.22(a) are plotted in a semi-log scale in Figure 4.22(b). From the slope (S) of the linear parts of these curves in the lower voltage range (-0.2 - -0.6 volt) n was extracted by using

$$n = \frac{e}{(ln10)SkT}$$
 [4.7]

The values of n for the three p-n junction NWs were 2.0, 1.8, and 1.7 respectively (see Table 4.3). This indicates presence of defects in or around the depletion/space-charge region of the p-n junction.

Туре	Number	Diameter	Length	ON/OFF	Ideality Factor (n)
		( <b>nm</b> )	(nm)	Current Ratio	
p-n	1	160	250	168	1.8
p-n	2	155	290	125	1.7
p-n	3	230	277	50	2.0
p-i	-	145	280	_	_

 Table 4.3 Dimensions (diameter and length), ON/OFF ratio, and the ideality factor for the three NW p-n junctions plotted in Figure 4.22.

In addition to diffusion that leads to an ideality factor of 1, the carriers also recombine both in the bulk as well as on the surface of the NW. Sah et al. [4.32] have found that the ideality factor of a p-n diode can vary from 1 to 4 (or even higher in special cases) depending on what kind of carrier recombination mechanism is dominating. A value close to 2 (as in the case of NW p-n junctions discussed here) indicates that recombination across the p-n junction through the surface states is dominant in the carrier transport mechanism [4.32]. Previous discussions have already demonstrated that the MBE-grown Si NWs are indeed covered with a thin (~2nm) native oxide with an estimated surface state density in the order of  $10^{10}$  cm<sup>-2</sup>. These surface states are in direct contact with the space charge region of the p-n junction and therefore they can play a major role in carrier recombination. Surface recombination drastically reduces the lifetimes of minority carriers which adversely affect the diode current. In fact, surface recombination is identified as a stumbling block for using the NW p-n junctions as effective solar cells [4.33, 4.34]. An effective surface passivation by thermal oxidation [2.22] or long lasting hydrogen termination [4.35] will be important to reduce the surface recombination and use the NW p-n junctions for photovoltaics. It is worth noting that NW p-n junctions fabricated by pure in-situ doping [1.89] or by pure ion implantation [1.67] are reported to show even higher ideality factors than 2 which indicates even stronger surface recombination in them. In conclusion, the p-n junction Si NWs worked as functioning nano-diodes showing significant current rectification. However, they are probably strongly affected by surface recombination.

# Chapter 5 *Conclusions and Outlook*

This chapter is intended to highlight the coherent connections between the previous chapters from where a number of significant conclusions can be drawn and an outlook for future work can be identified.

# **5.1 Conclusions**

In brief, a number of phenomena related to doping of Si NWs were investigated in details and the results were explained with relevant physical explanations.

Firstly, in-situ doping of Si NWs with boron was demonstrated using MBE [5.1]. A wide range of doping levels from 10<sup>15</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup> to 10<sup>19</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup> were achieved. Unlike CVD, the dopants were introduced following a calibration curve based on doped Si layers, and with electrical measurements the actual doping levels were assessed. TEM investigations revealed defect free single crystalline structure for all doping levels which is desirable for superior electrical properties. The effect of surface depletion was extensively investigated as a function of NW diameter and doping density. It was observed that thinner NWs are more depleted than the thicker ones, and the depletion width diminishes as the doping density increases. A direct visualization and simple quantification of the carrier profile of a highly doped NW revealed that surface accumulation of active dopants [5.2] may be related to inherent inhomogeneity of in-situ doping.

Another part of the motivation was to fully exploit ion implantation as an ex-situ doping technique for the MBE-grown NWs. This was successfully achieved by uniformly implanting the undoped NWs with boron, phosphorus and arsenic separately. The electrical activation of the dopants was achieved by a rapid thermal annealing. The measured resistivity for the B-implanted NWs [5.3] corresponded to that expected from the implantation assuming full electrical activation. However, the resistivity of both P, and As-implanted NWs was 1-2 orders of magnitude higher than expected even after annealing at a higher temperature [5.3]. In order to investigate if this is specific to n-type NWs, carrier profiling of a single P-implanted NW was performed [5.2] which revealed a significant accumulation of the active dopants at the Si/native oxide interface at the surface.

Another unique phenomenon investigated in connection with implantation was recrystallization of fully amorphized NWs. It was observed that solid phase epitaxial regrowth, the classical mechanism of recrystallization, is incomplete in case of NWs and is greatly hindered by polycrystalline grain formation. A sequential annealing technique was successfully optimized to completely recrystallize the amorphized NWs.

A novel method to form an intra-NW p-n junction by combining in-situ and ex-situ doping was demonstrated [5.4]. The NW p-n junctions showed reasonably good diode characteristics and evidences of surface recombination in the current conduction mechanism.

#### 5.2 Outlook

In order to carry forward the knowledge and understanding generated from this work, a number of future directions can be identified.

From the point of view of basic physics, the concerted effort in the NW community now is to relate the properties of the NWs to their atomic structures. In this respect, a combination of atom probe tomography and scanning spreading resistance microscopy will provide valuable information about dopant activation from an atomistic point of view. However, since both the techniques are destructive, a qualitative rather than a quantitative trend can be measured by comparing different NWs grown and doped during the same experimental run. As an alternative, a three-dimensional SSRM [5.5] can be performed to map the active dopants in the volume of the NW. By repeated scanning of the same NW with a controlled force the tip can abrade some material from the surface of the measured NW cross section. In Figure 4.18(c) the change of the surface after the SSRM investigation is clearly visible. In this way, the tip gradually moves deeper through the volume of the NW. By measuring the cross sections at different depths of the same NW in succession, a three-dimensional (3D) carrier profiling of the NW can potentially be obtained by using an appropriate projection of the two-dimensional profiles along the depth scale. Further investigations regarding 3D SSRM are in progress [5.5].

To probe the conduction mechanism in depth, a temperature dependent electrical transport measurement will be helpful. From an Arrhenius plot of the measured electrical conductivity vs temperature, the activation energy of the dopants can be extracted and the dominant current conduction mechanism can be identified. In this respect, surface passivation of NWs was another important factor that was not explored in this work. The unpassivated surface curtailed the electrical properties of the NWs measured, as explained in Chapter 4. Surface passivation either by thermal oxidation, atomic layer deposition of a dielectric or spin-coating organic molecules can be investigated. A strong surface passivation will be the key to use the NWs in photovoltaics where surface recombination of carriers on the NW surface offsets the gain achieved by their superior light absorption compared to Si wafers.

In addition, the effect of the Au/Si nanoparticles decorating the sidewalls of the NWs on the electrical properties of the NWs needs to be investigated in details. Since the spatial resolution
of the SSRM measurements used for this work was around 10nm, it was challenging to resolve the Au/Si nano-contacts on the NW sidewalls. However, a more precise conductive AFM measurement to study these nano-contacts is under progress.

To conclude, this work has touched and can be further extended to probe many different aspects of NW doping that are extremely important for Si NW based future nanotechnology.

# Bibliography

- 1.1. http://nobelprize.org/educational\_games/physics/transistor/function/firsttransistor.html
- 1.2. B. Lojek, History of Semiconductor Engineering, 2007, Springer-Verlag, Berlin
- 1.3.G. Moore, Cramming More Components onto Integrated Circuits, Electronics, 1965, 38, 1959
- 1.4. International Technology Roadmap for Semiconductors, www.itrs.net/reports.html
- 1.5. P. S. Peercy, The Drive to Miniaturization, Nature, 2000, 406, 1023
- 1.6. N. Mathur, Nanotechnology: Beyond the Silicon Roadmap, Nature, 2002, 419, 573
- 1.7. http://www.intel.com/technology/silicon/post\_CMOS.htm
- 1.8. H. R. Huff, ed., Into the Nano Era, 2009, Springer-Verlag, Berlin
- 1.9. G. P. Lansbergen, R. Rahman, C. J. Wellard, I. Woo, J. Caro, N. Collaert, S. Biesemans, G. Klimeck, L. C. L. Hollenberg, S. Rogge, *Gate-Induced Quantum-Confinement Transition of a Single Dopant Atom in a Silicon FinFET*, Nat Phys, 2008, 4, 656
- 1.10. B. Yang, K. D. Buddharaju, S. H. G. Teo, N. Singh, G. Q. Lo, D. L. Kwong, Vertical Silicon-Nanowire Formation and Gate-All-Around MOSFET, IEEE Electr Device L, 2008, 29, 791
- 1.11. K. Björkqvist, Short Channel Effects in MOS Transistors, Phys. Scripta, 1981, 24, 418
- 1.12. A. J. Read, R. J. Needs, K. J. Nash, L. T. Canham, P. D. J. Calcott, A. Qteish, First-Principles Calculations of the Electronic Properties of Silicon Quantum Wires, Phys. Rev. Lett., 1992, 69, 1232
- 1.13. B. Delley, E. F. Steigmeier, *Size Dependence of Band Gaps in Silicon Nanostructures*, Appl. Phys. Lett., 1995, 67, 2370
- 1.14. J. B. Xia, K. W. Cheah, *Quantum Confinement Effect in Thin Quantum Wires*, Phys. Rev. B, 1997, 55, 15688
- 1.15. Renewables Global Status Report: 2009 Update, REN21 http://www.ren21.net/
- 1.16. N. S. Lewis, D. G. Nocera, *Powering the Planet: Chemical Challenges in Solar Energy Utilization*, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 2006, 103, 15729
- 1.17. B. M. Kayes, H. A. Atwater, N. S. Lewis, Comparison of the Device Physics Principles of Planar and Radial p-n Junction Nanorod Solar Cells, J. Appl. Phys., 2005, 97, 114302
- 1.18. L. Hu, G. Chen, Analysis of Optical Absorption in Silicon Nanowire Arrays for Photovoltaic Applications, Nano Lett., 2007, 7, 3249
- 1.19. T. E. Humphrey, H. Linke, *Reversible Thermoelectric Nanomaterials*, Phys. Rev. Lett., 2005, 94, 096601
- 1.20. S. Wolf, Microchip Manufacturing, 2004, Lattice Press, Sunset Beach, California
- 1.21. T. Tada, T. Kanayama, K. Koga, P. Weibel, S. J. Carroll, K. Seeger, R. E. Palmer, *Formation of 10 nm Si Structures Using Size-Selected Metal Clusters*, J. Phys. D, 1998, 31, L21
- 1.22. K. Seeger, R. E. Palmer, Fabrication of Silicon Cones and Pillars Using Rough Metal Films as Plasma Etching Masks, Appl. Phys. Lett., 1999, 74, 1627
- 1.23. K. Q. Peng, Y. J. Yan, S. P. Gao, J. Zhu, Synthesis of Large-Area Silicon Nanowire Arrays via Self-Assembling Nanoelectrochemistry, Adv. Mater., 2002, 14, 1164
- 1.24. C. M. Hsu, S. T. Connor, M. X. Tang, Y. Cui, Wafer-Scale Silicon Nanopillars and Nanocones by Langmuir-Blodgett Assembly and Etching, Appl. Phys. Lett., 2008, 93, 133109
- 1.25. K. Peng, Y. Xu, Y. Wu, Y. Yan, S. T. Lee, J. Zhu, *Aligned Single-Crystalline Si Nanowire* Arrays for Photovoltaic Applications, Small, 2005, 1, 1062
- 1.26. Z. Fan, H. Razavi, J. Do, A. Moriwaki, O. Ergen, Y. L. Chueh, P. W. Leu, J. C. Ho, T. Takahashi, L. A. Reichertz, S. Neale, K. Yu, M. Wu, J. W. Ager, A. Javey, *Three-*

Dimensional Nanopillar-array Photovoltaics on Low-Cost and Flexible Substrates, Nat. Mater., 2009, 8, 648

- 1.27. M. D. Kelzenberg, S. W. Boettcher, J. A. Petykiewicz, D. B. Turner-Evans, M. C. Putnam, E. L. Warren, J. M. Spurgeon, R. M. Briggs, N. S. Lewis, H. A. Atwater, *Enhanced Absorption and Carrier Collection in Si Wire Arrays for Photovoltaic Applications*, Nat. Mater., 2010, 9, 239
- 1.28. E. Garnett, P. Yang, *Light Trapping in Silicon Nanowire Solar Cells*, Nano Lett., 2010, 10, 1082
- 1.29. G. D. Yuan, Y. B. Zhou, C. S. Guo, W. J. Zhang, Y. B. Tang, Y. Q. Li, Z. H. Chen, Z. B. He, X. J. Zhang, P. F. Wang, I. Bello, R. Q. Zhang, C. S. Le, S. T. Lee, ACS Nano, 2010, Article ASAP, DOI: 10.1021/nn1001613
- 1.30. Z. L. Wang, ed., *Nanowires and Nanobelts, Materials, Properties and Devices, Metal and Semiconductor Nanowires*, Volume I, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 2003
- 1.31. R. S. Wagner, W. C. Ellis, Vapor-Liquid-Solid Mechanism of Single Crystal Growth, Appl. Phys. Lett., 1964, 4, 89
- 1.32. E. T. Thostenson, Z. Ren, T. W. Chou, Advances in the Science and Technology of Carbon Nanotubes and Their Composites: a Review, Compos. Sci. Technol., 2001, 61, 1899
- 1.33. M. Law, J. Goldberger, P. Yang, *Semiconductor Nanowires and Nanotubes*, Annu. Rev. Mater. Res., 2004, 34, 83
- 1.34. N. Wang, Y. Cai, R.Q. Zhang, Growth of Nanowires, Mat. Sci. Eng. R., 2008, 60, 1
- 1.35. V. Schmidt, J. V. Wittemann, U. Gösele, Growth, Thermodynamics, and Electrical Properties of Silicon Nanowires, Chem. Rev., 2010, 110, 361
- 1.36. P. R. Bandaru, P. Pichanusakorn, An Outline of the Synthesis and Properties of Silicon Nanowires, Semicond. Sci. Technol., 2010, 25, 024003
- 1.37. Y. Shi, Q. Hu, H. Araki, H. Suzuki, H. Gao, W. Yang, T. Noda, Long Si Nanowires with Millimeter-Scale Length by Modified Thermal Evaporation from Si Powder, Appl. Phys. A, 2005, 80, 1733
- 1.38. D. D. D. Ma, C. S. Lee, F. C. K. Au, S. Y. Tong, S. T. Lee, *Small-Diameter Silicon Nanowire Surfaces*, Science, 2003, 299, 1874
- 1.39. R. S. Wagner, W. C. Ellis, K. A. Jackson, S. M. Arnold, Study of the Filamentary Growth of Silicon Crystals from the Vapor, J. Appl. Phys., 1964, 35, 2993
- 1.40. E. I. Givargizov, Fundamental Aspects of VLS Growth, J. Cryst. Growth, 1975, 31, 20
- 1.41. W. Ostwald, Lehrbuch der Allgemeinen Chemie, Vol. 2, Engelmann, Leipzig, Germany, 1896
- 1.42. V. Schmidt, S. Senz, U. Gösele, *Diameter-Dependent Growth Direction of Epitaxial Silicon Nanowires*, Nano Lett., 2005, 5, 931
- 1.43. A. M. Morales, C. M. Lieber, A Laser Ablation Method for the Synthesis of Crystalline Semiconductor Nanowires, Science, 1998, 279, 208
- 1.44. J. D. Holmes, K. P. Johnston, R. C. Doty, B. A. Korgel, *Control of Thickness and Orientation of Solution-Grown Silicon Nanowires*, Science, 2000, 287, 1471
- 1.45. Z. W. Pan, Z. R. Dai, L. Xu, S. T. Lee, Z. L. Wang, Temperature-Controlled Growth of Silicon-Based Nanostructures by Thermal Evaporation of SiO Powders, J. Phys. Chem. B, 2001, 105, 2507
- 1.46. L. Schubert, P. Werner, N. D. Zakharov, G. Gerth, F. M. Kolb, L. Long, U. Gösele, T. Y. Tan, *Silicon Nanowhiskers Grown on <111>Si Substrates by Molecular-Beam Epitaxy*, Appl. Phys. Lett., 2004, 84, 4968
- 1.47. N. D. Zakharov, P. Werner, G. Gerth, L. Schubert, L. Sokolov, U. Gösele, *Growth Phenomena of Si and Si/Ge Nanowires on Si (1 1 1) by Molecular Beam Epitaxy*, J. Cryst. Growth, 2006, 290, 6
- 1.48. P. Werner, N. D. Zakharov, G. Gerth, L. Schubert, U. Gösele, On the Formation of Si Nanowires by Molecular Beam Epitaxy, U. Int. J. Mater. Res., 2006, 97, 1008
- 1.49. N. Zakharov, P. Werner, L. Sokolov, U. Gösele, Growth of Si Whiskers by MBE: Mechanism and Peculiarities, Physica-E, 2007, 37, 148

- 1.50. V. G. Dubrovskii, N. V. Sibirev, G. E. Cirlin, J. C. Harmand, V. M. Ustinov, *Theoretical Analysis of the Vapor-Liquid-Solid Mechanism of Nanowire Growth During Molecular Beam Epitaxy*, Phys. Rev. E, 2006, 73, 021603
- 1.51. R. F. Pierret, Advanced Semiconductor Fundamentals, 2<sup>nd</sup> Ed., 2003, Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ
- 1.52. S. M. Sze, *Physics of Semiconductor Devices*, 2<sup>nd</sup> Ed., 1981, John Wiley & Sons, Inc. Hoboken, NJ
- 1.53. Y. Cui, X. Duan, J. Hu, C. M. Lieber, *Doping and Electrical Transport in Silicon Nanowires*, J. Phys. Chem. B, 2000, 104, 5213
- 1.54. G. Zheng, W. Lu, S. Jin and C.M. Lieber, Synthesis and Fabrication of High-Performance n-Type Silicon Nanowire Transistors, Adv. Mater., 2004, 16, 1890
- 1.55. Y. Wang, K. K. Lew, T. T. Ho, L. Pan, S. W. Novak, E. C. Dickey, J. M. Redwing, T. S. Mayer, Use of Phosphine as an n-Type Dopant Source for Vapor-Liquid-Solid Growth of Silicon Nanowires, Nano Lett., 2005, 5, 2139
- 1.56. H. Schmid, M. T. Björk, J. Knoch, S. Karg, H. Riel, W. Riess, *Doping Limits of Grown in situ Doped Silicon Nanowires Using Phosphine*, Nano Lett., 2009, 9, 173
- 1.57. H. Schmid, M. T. Björk, J. Knoch, H. Riel, W. Riess, P. Rice, T. Topuria, Patterned Epitaxial Vapor-Liquid-Solid Growth of Silicon Nanowires on Si(111) Using Silane, J. Appl. Phys., 2008, 103, 024304
- 1.58. K. Lew, L. Pan, T. E. Bogart, S. M. Dilts, E. C. Dickey, J. M. Redwing, Y. Wang, M. Cabassi, T. S. Mayer, S. W. Novak, *Structural and Electrical Properties of Trimethylboron-Doped Silicon Nanowires*, Appl. Phys. Lett., 2004, 85, 3101
- 1.59. L. Pan, K. K. Lew, J. M. Redwing, E. C. Dickey, *Effect of Diborane on The Microstructure of Boron-Doped Silicon Nanowires*, J. Cryst. Growth, 2005, 277, 428
- 1.60. C. Y. Meng, B. L. Shih, S. C. Lee, *The Influence of B*<sub>2</sub>H<sub>6</sub> on *The Growth of Silicon Nanowires*, J. Nanopart. Res., 2005, 7, 615
- 1.61. N. Fukata, J. Chen, T. Sekiguchi, N. Okada, K. Murakami, T. Tsurui, S. Ito, *Doping and Hydrogen Passivation of B in Silicon Nanowires Synthesized by Laser Ablation*, Appl. Phys. Lett., 2006, 89, 203109
- 1.62. N. Fukata, J. Chen, T. Sekiguchi, S. Matsushita, T. Oshima, N. Uchida, K. Murakami, T. Tsurui, S. Ito, *Phosphorus Doping and Hydrogen Passivation of Donors and Defects in Silicon Nanowires Synthesized by Laser Ablation*, Appl. Phys. Lett., 2007, 90, 153117
- 1.63. N. Misra, L. Xu, Y. Pan, N. Cheung, C. P. Grigoropoulos, Excimer Laser Annealing of Silicon Nanowires, Appl. Phys. Lett., 2007, 90, 111111
- 1.64. G. M. Cohen, M. J. Rooks, J. O. Chu, S. E. Laux, P. M. Solomon, J. A. Ott, R. J. Miller, W. Haensch, *Nanowire Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor Field Effect Transistor with Doped Epitaxial Contacts for Source and Drain*, Appl. Phys. Lett., 2007, 90, 233110
- 1.65. A. Colli, A. Fasoli, C. Ronning, S. Pisana, S. Piscanec, A. C. Ferrari, Ion Beam Doping of Silicon Nanowires, Nano Lett., 2008, 8, 2188
- 1.66. S. Hoffmann, J. Bauer, C. Ronning, T. Stelzner, J. Michler, C. Ballif, V. Sivakov, S. H. Christiansen, Axial p-n Junctions Realized in Silicon Nanowires by Ion Implantation, Nano Lett., 2009, 9, 1341
- 1.67. S. Ingole, P. Aella, P. Manandhar, S. B. Chikkannanavar, E. A. Akhadov, D. J. Smith, S. T. Picraux, *Ex situ Doping of Silicon Nanowires with Boron*, J. Appl. Phys., 2008, 103, 104302
- 1.68. J. C. Ho, R. Yerushalmi, Z. A. Jacobson, Z. Fan, R. L. Alley, A. Javey, *Controlled Nanoscale Doping of Semiconductors via Molecular Monolayers*, Nat. Mater., 2008, 7, 62
- 1.69. D. K. Schroder, *Semiconductor Material and Device Characterization*, 3<sup>rd</sup> Ed., 2006, John Wiley & Sons, Inc. Hoboken, NJ
- 1.70. T. F. Kelly, M. K. Miller, Atom Probe Tomography, Rev. Sci. Instrum., 2007, 78, 031101
- 1.71. D. E. Perea, E. R. Hemesath, E. J. Schwalbach, J. L. Lensch-Falk, P. W. Voorhees, L. J. Lauhon, *Direct Measurement of Dopant Distribution in an Individual Vapor-Liquid-Solid Nanowire*, Nat. Nanotechnol., 2009, 4, 315
- 1.72. P. V. Radovanovic, Nanowires: Keeping Track of Dopants, Nat. Nanotechnol., 2009, 4, 282

- 1.73. L. J. Lauhon, P. Adusumilli, P. Ronsheim, P. L. Flaitz, D. Lawrence, *Atom-Probe Tomography of Semiconductor Materials and Device Structures*, MRS Bull., 2009, 34, 738
- 1.74. M. V. Fernandez-Serra, C. Adessi, X. Blase, Surface Segregation and Backscattering in Doped Silicon Nanowires, Phys. Rev. Lett., 2006, 96, 166805
- 1.75. H. Peelaers, B. Partoens, F. M. Peeters, *Formation and Segregation Energies of B and P Doped and BP Codoped Silicon Nanowires*, Nano Lett., 2006, 6, 2781
- 1.76. V. Schmidt, S. Senz, U. Gösele, Influence of the Si/SiO2 Interface on the Charge Carrier Density of Si Nanowires, Appl. Phys. A: Mater. Sci. Process., 2007, 86, 187
- 1.77. K. I. Seo, S. Sharma, A. A. Yasseri, D. R. Stewart, T. I. Kamins, Surface Charge Density of Unpassivated and Passivated Metal-Catalyzed Silicon Nanowires, Electrochem. Solid-State Lett., 2006, 9, G69
- 1.78. M. Diarra, Y. M. Niquet, C. Delerue, G. Allan, *Ionization Energy of Donor and Acceptor Impurities in Semiconductor Nanowires; Importance of Dielectric Confinement*, Phys. Rev. B., 2007, 75, 045301
- 1.79. M. T. Björk, H. Schmid, J. Knoch, H. Riel, W. Riess, *Donor deactivation in Silicon Nanostructures*, Nat. Nanotechnol., 2008, 4, 103
- 1.80. R. A. Schlitz, D. E. Perea, J. L. Lensch-Falk, E. R. Hemesath, L. J. Lauhon, Correlating Dopant Distributions and Electrical Properties of Boron-Doped Silicon Nanowires, Appl. Phys. Lett., 2009, 95, 162101
- 1.81. P. Xie, Y. Hu, Y. Fang, J. Huang, C.M. Lieber, *Diameter-Dependent Dopant Location in Silicon and Germanium Nanowires*, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 2009, 106, 15254
- 1.82. E. Koren, J. E. Allen, E. R. Hemesath, L. J. Lauhon, Y. Rosenwaks, *Non-Uniform Doping Distribution along Silicon Nanowires Measured by Kelvin probe Force Microscopy and Scanning Photocurrent Microscopy*, Appl. Phys. Lett., 2009, 95, 092105
- 1.83. E. Garnett, Y. Tseng, D. Khanal, J. Wu, J. Bokor, P. Yang, *Capacitance-Voltage Measurements for Single Silicon Nanowire Dopant Profiling and Surface Analysis*, Nature Nanotech., 2009, 4, 311
- 1.84. G. Imamura, T. Kawashima, M. Fujii, C. Nishimura, T. Saitoh, S. Hayashi, *Distribution of Active Impurities in Single Silicon Nanowires*, Nano Lett., 2008, 8, 2620
- 1.85. M. I. den Hertog, H. Schmid, D. Cooper, J. L. Rouviere, M. T. Bjrk, H. Riel, P. Rivallin, S. Karg, W. Ries, *Mapping Active Dopants in Single Silicon Nanowires Using Off-Axis Electron Holography*, Nano Lett., 2009, 9, 383
- 1.86. Q. Tang, T. I. Kamins, X. Liu, D. E. Grupp, James S. Harris, *In Situ p-n Junctions and Gated Devices in Titanium-Silicide Nucleated Si Nanowires*, Electrochem. Solid-State Lett., 2005, 8, G204
- 1.87. G. Goncher, R. Solanki, J. R. Carruthers, J. Conley Jr, Y. Ono, *p-n Junctions in Silicon Nanowires*, J. Electron. Mater., 2006, 35, 1509
- 1.88. Y. Rangineni, C. Qi, G. Goncher, R. Solanki, K. Langworthy, *Current Rectification in a Single Silicon Nanowire p–n Junction*, J. Nanosci. Nanotechnol., 2008, 8, 2419
- 1.89. T. J. Kempa, B. Tian, D. R. Kim, J. Hu, X. Zheng, C. M. Lieber, *Single and Tandem Axial p-i-n Nanowire Photovoltaic Devices*, Nano Lett., 2008, 8, 3456
- 1.90. L. Tsakalakos, J. Balch, J. Fronheiser, B. A. Korevaar, O. Sulima, J. Rand, *Silicon Nanowire Solar Cells*, Appl. Phys. Lett., 2007, 91, 233117
- 1.91. T. Stelzner, M Pietsch, G. Andrä, F. Falk, E. Ose, S. Christiansen, *Silicon Nanowire-Based Solar Cells*, Nanotechnology, 2008, 19, 295203
- 1.92. B. Tian, X. Zheng, T. J. Kempa, Y. Fang, N. Yu, G. Yu, J. Huang, C. M. Lieber, Coaxial Silicon Nanowires as Solar Cells and Nanoelectronic Power Sources, Nature 2007, 449, 885
- 1.93. V. Schmidt, H. Riel, S. Senz, S. Karg, W. Riess, U. Gösele, *Realization of a Silicon* Nanowire Vertical Surround-Gate Field-Effect Transistor, Small, 2005, 2, 85
- 1.94. J. Goldberger, A. I. Hochbaum, R. Fan, P. Yang, Silicon Vertically Integrated Nanowire Field Effect Transistors, Nano Lett., 2006, 6, 973

- 1.95. Y. Huang, X. Duan, Y. Cui, L. J. Lauhon, K. H. Kim, C. M. Lieber, *Logic Gates and Computation from Assembled Nanowire Building Blocks*, Science, 2001, 294, 1313
- 1.96. Z. Li, Y. Chen, X. Li, T. I. Kamins, K. Nauka, R. S. Williams, Sequence-Specific Label-Free DNA Sensors Based on Silicon Nanowires, Nano Lett., 2004, 4, 245
- 1.97. X. Duan, C. Niu, V. Sahi, J. Chen, J. W. Parce, S. Empedocles, J. L. Goldman, *High-Performance Thin-Film Transistors Using Semiconductor Nanowires and Nanoribbons*, Nature, 2003, 425, 274
- 1.98. A. I. Hochbaum, R. Chen, R. D. Delgado, W. Liang, E. C. Garnett, M. Najarian, A. Majumdar, P. Yang, *Enhanced Thermoelectric Performance of Rough Silicon Nanowires*, Nature, 2007, 451, 163
- 1.99. A. I. Boukai, Y. Bunimovich, J. T. Kheli, J. K. Yu, W. A. Goddard, J. R. Heath, *Silicon Nanowires as Efficient Thermoelectric Materials*, Nature, 2008, 451, 168
- 1.100. C. Thelander, P. Agarwal, S. Brongersma, J. Eymery, L.F. Feiner, A. Forchel, M. Scheffler, W. Riess, B.J. Ohlsson, U. Gösele, L. Samuelson, *Nanowire-Based One-Dimensional Electronics*, Mater. Today, 2006, 9, 28
- 1.101. W. Lu, C. M. Lieber, Nanoelectronics from the Bottom Up, Nature Mater. 2007, 6, 841
- 1.102. O. Hayden. R. Agarwal, W. Lu, Semiconductor Nanowire Devices, Nano Today, 2008, 3, 12
- 1.103. E. Tutuc, S. Guha, J. O. Chu, *Morphology of Germanium Nanowires Grown in Presence of B*<sub>2</sub>*H*<sub>6</sub>, Appl. Phys. Lett., 2006, 88, 043113
- 1.104. N. Li and T. Y. Tan, U. Gösele, Transition Region Width of Nanowire Hetero- and p-n-Junctions Grown Using Vapor-Liquid-Solid Processes, Appl. Phys. A-Mater. Sci. Process., 2008, 90, 591
- 1.105. E. Tutuc, J. Appenzeller, M. C. Reuter, S. Guha, *Realization of a Linear Germanium* Nanowire p-n Junction, Nano Lett., 2006, 6, 2070
- 1.106. B. Margesin, R. Canteri, S. Solmi, A. Armigliato, F. Baruffaldi, *Boron and Antimony Codiffusion in Silicon*, J. Mater. Res., 1991, 6, 2353
- 1.107. S. Solmi, S. Valmorri, R. Canteri, *Codiffusion of Arsenic and Boron Implanted in Silicon*, J. Appl. Phys., 1995, 77, 2400
- 1.108. J. Bauer, F. Fleischer, O. Breitenstein, L. Schubert, P. Werner, U. Gösele, M. Zacharias, *Electrical properties of nominally undoped silicon nanowires grown by molecular-beam epitaxy*, Appl. Phys. Lett., 2007, 90, 012105
- 1.109. J. C. Bean in *Impurity Doping Processes in Silicon*, Chap. 4, ed., F. F. Y. Wang, 1981, North Holland Publishing Co. Amsterdam
- 1.110. S. S. Iyer, R. A. Metzger, F. G. Allen, *Sharp Profiles with High and Low Doping Levels in Silicon Molecular Beam Epitaxy*, J. Appl. Phys., 1981, 52, 5608

- 2.1. R.F.C. Farrow, ed., *Molecular beam Epitaxy Applications to Key Materials*, 1995, Noyes Publication, Park Ridge, NJ
- 2.2. http://www.cameca.com/html/sims\_technique.html
- 2.3. J. B. Hannon, S. Kodambaka, F. M. Ross, R. M. Tromp, *The Influence of the Surface Migration of Gold on the Growth of Silicon Nanowires*, Nature, 2006, 440, 69-71
- 2.4. S. W. Jones, *Diffusion in Silicon*, IC Knowledge LLC, <u>http://www.icknowledge.com/misc\_technology/Diffusion.pdf</u>, last accessed on Jan 25, 2010
- 2.5. Y. Wu, B. Messer, P. Yang, Superconducting MgB2 Nanowires, Adv. Mater., 2001, 13, 1487
- 2.6. P. Nimmatoori, Q. Zhang, E. C. Dickey, J. M. Redwing, Suppression of the Vapor-Liquid-Solid Growth of Silicon Nanowires by Antimony Addition, Nanotechnology, 2009, 20, 025607

- 2.7. G. E. Becker, J.C. Bean, Acceptor Dopants in Silicon Molecular-Beam Epitaxy, J. Appl. Phys., 1977, 48, 3395
- 2.8. R. A. A. Kubiak, Y. W. Leong, E. H. C. Parker, *p-type Doping in Si Molecular Beam Epitaxy by Coevaporation of Boron*, Appl. Phys. Lett., 1984, 44, 878
- 2.9. R. S. Ostrom, F. G. Allen, *Boron Doping in Si Molecular Beam Epitaxy by Coevaporation* of *B*<sub>2</sub>*O*<sub>3</sub> or Doped Silicon, Appl. Phys. Lett., 1986, 48, 221
- 2.10. H. Kujirai, E. Murakami, S. Kimura, Ultra-Shallow and Abrupt Boron Profiles in Si by δ-Doping Technique, Jpn. J. Appl. Phys., 1995, 34, 782
- 2.11. F. G. Allen, S. S. Iyer, R. A. Metzger, Dopant Incorporation Studies in Silicon Molecular Beam Epitaxy, Appl. Surf. Sci., 1982, 11, 517
- 2.12. R. A. Metzger, F. G. Allen, *Evaporative Antimony Doping of Silicon during Molecular Beam Epitaxial Growth*, J. Appl. Phys., 1984, 55, 931
- 2.13. J. C. Bean, Arbitrary Doping Profiles Produced by Sb-doped Si MBE, Appl. Phys. Lett., 1978, 33, 654
- 2.14. U. König, E. Kasper, H. J. Herzog, *Molecular Beam Epitaxy of Silicon: Effects of Heavy Sb Doping*, J. Cryst. Growth., 1981, 52, 151
- 2.15. J. F. Nützel, G. Abstreiter, *Segregation and Diffusion on Semiconductor Surfaces*, Phys. Rev. B, 1996, 53, 13551
- 2.16. Y. Ota, *n-type Doping Technique in Silicon Molecular Beam Epitaxy by Simultaneous Arsenic Ion Implantation and by Antimony Evaporation*, J. Electrochem. Soc., 1979, 126, 1761
- 2.17. H. Sugiura, Silicon Molecular Beam Epitaxy with Antimony Ion Doping, J. Appl. Phys., 1980, 51, 2630
- 2.18. R. A. A. Kubiak, Y. W. Leong, E. H. C. Parker, *Potential-Enhanced Doping of Si Grown by Molecular Beam Epitaxy*, J. Electrochem. Soc., 1985, 132, 2738
- 2.19. R. A. A. Kubiak, Y. W. Leong, E. H. C. Parker, *Potential-Enhanced Doping of Si Grown by Molecular Beam Epitaxy*, J. Electrochem. Soc., 1985, 132, 2738
- 2.20. J. L. Stone, J. C. Plunkett in *Impurity Doping Processes in Silicon*, Chap. 2, ed., F. F. Y. Wang, 1981, North Holland Publishing Co. Amsterdam
- 2.21. E. Rimini in *Ion Implantation: Basics to Device Fabrication*, 1995, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Boston
- 2.22. S. K. Gandhi in *VLSI Fabrication Principles: Silicon and Gallium Arsenide*, 2<sup>nd</sup> Ed, Chap 6, 1994, John Wiley & Sons, Inc. NJ
- 2.23. J. F. Gibbons, Ion Implantation in Semiconductors Part I. Range Distribution Theory and Experiments, Proc. IEEE, 1968, 56, 295
- 2.24. W. Dening, W. Weiyuan, A Study of Multi-Energy Ion Implantation, J. Electron (China), 1987, 4, 39
- 2.25. <u>www.srim.org</u>
- 2.26. J. W. Corbett, *Radiation Damage in Silicon and Germanium* in *Proceedings of the First International Conference on Ion Implantation*, L. Chadderton, F. Eisen, eds., 1971, Gordon and Breach, New York
- 2.27. K. S. Jones, S. Prussin, E. R. Weber, A Systematic Analysis of Defects in Ion-Implanted Silicon, Appl. Phy. A-Mater. Sci. Process., 1988, 45, 1
- 2.28. S. Furukawa, H. Ishiwara, Mass Dependence of Critical Amorphizing Dose in Ion Implantation, Jpn. J. Appl. Phys., 1972, 11, 1062
- 2.29. L. Csepregi, E. F. Kennedy, T. J. Gallagher, J. W. Mayer, T. W. Sigmon, *Reordering of Amorphous Layers of Si Implanted with* <sup>31</sup>P, <sup>75</sup>As, and <sup>11</sup>B, J. Appl. Phys., 1977, 48, 4234
- 2.30. M. Grundmann, The Physics of Semiconductors, 2006, Springer-Verlag, Berlin
- 2.31. P. De Wolf, T. Clarysse, W. Vandervorst, J. Snauwaert, L. Hellemans, One- and Two-Dimensional Carrier Profiling in Semiconductors by Nanospreading Resistance Profiling, J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B, 1996, 14, 380
- 2.32. P. De Wolf, T. Clarysse, W. Vandervorst, *Quantification of Nanospreading Resistance Profiling Data*, J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B, 1998, 16, 320

- 2.33. P. Eyben, W. Vandervorst, D. Alvarez, M. Xu, M. Fouchier, *Probing Semiconductor Technology and Devices with Scanning Spreading Resistance Microscopy* in *Scanning Probe Microscopy*, 2007, Springer New York
- 2.34. P. Eyben, N. Duhayon, D. Alvarez, W. Vandervorst, Assessing the Resolution Limits of Scanning Spreading Resistance Microscopy and Scanning Capacitance Microscopy in Characterization and Metrology for VLSI Technology: 2003 Int. Conf., (eds., D.G. Seiler, A.C. Diebold, T.J. Shaffner, R. McDonald, S. Zollner, R.P. Khosla, E.M. Secula) Am. Inst. of Phys., 2003, 683, 678
- 2.35. D. B. Williams, C. B. Carter, *Transmission Electron Microscopy A Textbook for Materials Science*, 1996, Plenum Press, NY
- 2.36. http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Transmission\_electron\_microscopy#Contrast\_formation

## Chapter 3

- 3.1. W. Kern, Ed., *Handbook of Semiconductor Cleaning Technology*, 1993, Noyes Publishing: Park Ridge, NJ
- 3.2. W. M. Bullis, Properties of Gold in Silicon, Solid. State. Electron., 966, 9, 143
- 3.3.E. H. Rhoderick and R. H. Williams, *Metal-Semiconductor Contacts*, 2<sup>nd</sup> Ed, 1988, Clarendon Press, Oxford
- 3.4. http://www.transene.com/au\_etchant.html
- 3.5. C. C. Büttner, A. Langner, M. Geuss, F. Müller, P. Werner, Ulrich Gösele, Formation of Straight 10 nm Diameter Silicon Nanopores in Gold Decorated Silicon, ACS Nano, 2009, 3, 3122
- 3.6.L.A. Giannuzzia, F.A. Stevieb, A review of focused ion beam milling techniques for TEM specimen preparation, Micron, 1999, 30, 197
- 3.7. http://www.bridgetec.com/ecopia.html
- 3.8. http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Van\_der\_Pauw\_method
- 3.9.L. Libioulle, Y. Houbion, J.-M. Gilles, Very sharp platinum tips for scanning tunneling microscopy, Rev. Sci. Instrum., 1995, 66, 97

- 4.1. N. A. Stolwijk, B. Schuster, J. Hölzl, H. Mehrer, W. Frank, *Diffusion and solubility of gold in silicon*, Physica B, 1983, 116, 335
- 4.2. C. B. Collins, R. O. Carlson, C. J. Gallagher, *Properties of Gold-Doped Silicon*, Phys. Rev., 1957, 105, 1168
- 4.3. J. D. Struthers, *Solubility and Diffusivity of Gold*, Iron, and Copper in Silicon, J. Appl. Phys., 1956, 27, 1560
- 4.4. M. C. Putnam, M. A. Filler, B. M. Kayes, M. D. Kelzenberg, Y. Guan, N. S. Lewis, J. M. Eiler, H. A. Atwater, *Secondary Ion Mass Spectrometry of Vapor–Liquid–Solid Grown, Au-Catalyzed, Si Wires*, Nano Lett., 2008, 8, 3109
- 4.5. S. H. Oh, K. van Benthem, S. I. Molina, A. Y. Borisevich, W. Luo, P. Werner, N. D. Zakharov, D. Kumar, S. T. Pantelides, S. J. Pennycook, *Point Defect Configurations of Supersaturated Au Atoms Inside Si Nanowires*, Nano Lett., 2008, 8, 1016
- 4.6. L.Yan, J. M. Seminario, *Electron Transport in Nano-Gold–Silicon Interfaces*, Int. J. Quantum. Chem., 2007, 107, 440
- 4.7. C. Y. Chang, Y. K. Fang, S. M. Sze, *Specific Contact Resistance of Metal-Semiconductor Barriers*, Solid. State. Electron., 1971, 14, 541
- 4.8. F. Lukes, Oxidation of Si and GaAs in Air at Room Temperature, Surf. Sci., 1972, 30, 91
- 4.9. M. Morita, T. Ohmi, E. Hasegawa, M. Kawakami, M. Ohwada, *Growth of Native Oxide on a Silicon Surface*, J. Appl. Phys., 1990, 68, 1272

- 4.10. P. D. Wolf, T. Clarysse, W. Vandervorst, *Quantification of Nanospreading Resistance Profiling Data*, J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B, 1998, 16, 320
- 4.11. G. L. Olson, J. A. Roth, *Kinetics of Solid Phase Crystallization in Amorphous Silicon*, Mater. Sci. Rep., 1988, 3, 1
- 4.12. J. Narayan, O. W. Holland, *Solid-Phase-Epitaxial Growth in Ion-Implanted Silicon*, Phys. Stat. Sol (a)., 1982, 73, 225
- 4.13. L. Csepregi, E. F. Kennedy, J. W. Mayer, T. W. Sigmon, Substrate-Orientation Dependence of the Epitaxial Regrowth Rate from Si-Implanted Amorphous Si, J. Appl. Phys., 1978, 49, 3906
- 4.14. C. Spinella, S. Lombardo, Crystal Grain Nucleation in Amorphous Silicon, J. Appl. Phys., 1998, 84, 5383
- 4.15. L. Csepregi, W. K. Chu, H. Muller, J. W. Mayer, T. W. Sigmon, *Influence of Thermal History on The Residual Disorder in Implanted <111> Silicon*, Radiat. Eff. Defects Solids, 1976, 28, 227
- 4.16. H. Foell, T.Y. Tan, W. Kracow in *Defects in Semiconductors*, eds., J. Narayan, T. Y. Tan, North-Holland, New York, 1981, 2, 13
- 4.17. S. Solmi, M. Servidori, *Dopant Anomalous Diffusion induced in Silicon by Ion Implantation*, Solid. St. Phen., 1988, 1, 65
- 4.18. P. A. Stolk, H. J. Gossmann, D. J. Eaglesham, D. C. Jacobson, C. S. Rafferty, G. H. Gilmer, M. Jaraı', J. M. Poate, H. S. Luftman, T. E. Haynes, *Physical Mechanisms of Transient Enhanced Dopant Diffusion in Ion-Implanted Silicon*, J. Appl. Phys., 1997, 81, 6031
- 4.19. K. Suzuki, Model for Transient Enhanced Diffusion of Ion-Implanted Boron, Arsenic, and Phosphorus over Wide Range of Process Conditions, Fujitsu. Sci. Tech. J., 2003, 39, 138
- 4.20. H. J. Grossman, Dopants and Intrinsic Point Defects During Si Device Processing, in H. R. Huff, U. Goesele, H. Tsuya, eds., Semiconductor Silicon 1998, Electrochem. Soc. Proc., 1998, 98, 1
- 4.21. G. S. Oehrlein, S. A. Cohen, T. O. Sedgwick, *Diffusion of Phosphorus during Rapid Thermal Annealing of Ion Implanted Silicon*, Appl. Phys. Lett., 1984, 45, 417
- 4.22. A. S. Grove, O. Leistiko, S. H. Sah, *Redistribution of Acceptor and Donor Impurities during Thermal Oxidation of Silicon*, J. Appl. Phys., 1964, 35, 2695
- 4.23. S. A. Schwarz, R. W. Barton, C. P. Ho, C. R. Helms, *Studies of Phosphorus Pile-Up at the Si-SiO2 Interface Using Auger Sputter Profiling*, J. Electrochem. Soc., 1981, 128, 1101.
- 4.24. P. B. Griffin, S. W. Crowder, J. M. Knight, *Dose Loss in Phosphorus Implants Due to Transient Diffusion and Interface Segregation*, Appl. Phys. Lett., 1995, 67, 482
- 4.25. R. D. Chang, J. R. Tsai, Loss of Phosphorus Due to Segregation at Si/SiO<sub>2</sub> Interfaces: Experiments and Modeling, J. Appl. Phys., 2008, 103, 053517
- 4.26. E. Schroer, M. Uematsu, Simulation of Clustering and Pile-Up during Post-Implantation Annealing of Phosphorus in Silicon, Jpn. J. Appl. Phys., 1999, 38, 7
- 4.27. J. E. Rubio, M. Jaraiz, I. Martin-Bragado, P. Castrillo, R. Pinacho, J. Barbolla, *Dose Loss and Segregation of Boron and Arsenic at The Si/SiO*<sub>2</sub> *Interface by Atomistic Kinetic Monte Carlo Simulations*, Mater. Sci. Eng. B, 2005, 124, 392
- 4.28. Y. Sato, J. Nakata, K. Imai, E. Arai, Arsenic Pile Up at The SiO<sub>2</sub>/Si Interface, J. Electrochem. Soc., 1995, 142, 655
- 4.29. N. Aoki, T. Kanemura, I. Mizushima, Anomalous Diffusion of Lightly Implanted As into Si Substrate during N<sub>2</sub> Annealing, Appl. Phys. Lett., 1994, 64, 3133
- 4.30. N. Clément, D. Tonneau, H. Dallaporta, V. Bouchiat, D. Fraboulet, D. Mariole, J. Gautier, V. Safarov, Electronic Transport Properties of Single-Crystal Silicon Nanowires Fabricated Using an Atomic Force Microscope, Physica E, 2002, 13, 999
- 4.31. http://www.simwindows.com/
- 4.32. C. H. Sah, *Effect of surface recombination and channel on p-n junction and transistor characteristics*, IRE Trans. Electron Devices, 1962, 9, 94

- 4.33. B. Tian, T. J. Kempa, C. M. Lieber, *Single Nanowire Photovoltaics*, Chem. Soc. Rev., 2009, 38, 16
- 4.34. Z. Fan, D. J. Ruebusch, A. A. Rathore, R. Kapadia, O. Ergen, P. W. Leu1, A. Javey, *Challenges and Prospects of Nanopillar-Based Solar Cells*, Nano. Res., 2009, 2, 829
- 4.35. C. S. Guo, L. B. Luo, G. D. Yuan, X. B. Yang, R. Q. Zhang, W. J. Zhang, S. T Lee, *Surface Passivation and Transfer Doping of Silicon Nanowires*, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed., 2009, 48, 9896

- 5.1. P. Das Kanungo, N. Zakharov, J. Bauer, O. Breitenstein, P. Werner, U. Gösele, Controlled In-Situ Boron Doping of Short Silicon Nanowires Grown by Molecular Beam Epitaxy, Appl. Phys. Lett., 2008, 92, 263107
- 5.2. X. Ou, P. Das Kanungo, R. Koegler, P. Werner, U. Gösele, W. Skorupa, X. Wang, Carrier Profiling of Individual Si Nanowires by Scanning Spreading Resistance Microscopy, Nano Lett., 2010, 10, 171
- 5.3. P. Das Kanungo, R. Koegler, K. Nguyen-Duc, N. Zakharov, P. Werner, U. Gösele, *Ex-Situ n* and *p* Doping of Vertical Epitaxial Short Silicon Nanowires by Ion Implantation, Nanotechnology, 2009, 20, 165706
- 5.4. P. Das Kanungo, R. Koegler, P. Werner, U. Gösele and W. Skorupa, A Novel Method to Fabricate Silicon Nanowire p-n Junctions by a Combination of Ion Implantation and in-situ Doping, Nanoscale Res. Lett., 2010, 5, 243
- 5.5.X. Ou, P. Das Kanungo, R. Koegler, P. Werner, U. Gösele, W. Skorupa, X. Wang *Three-Dimensional Carrier Profiling of Individual Si Nanowires by Scanning Spreading Resistance Microscopy*, Adv. Mater., (accepted)



**Figure A1.1:** The Gold-Silicon phase diagram. The Eutectic point occurs at 363°C at 18.6% of silicon. The Si NWs for this work were grown at 525°C which is indicated in the image.



Figure A2.1: Resistivity vs carrier concentration in p- and n-type silicon.



**Figure A3.1** Contact mode AFM topography scan to asses the average roughness of the SSRM samples. (a) Plan view sample of Figure 4.10(a), average roughness across the NW ~ 5nm. (b) Cross-section sample of Figure 4.18(b), average roughness across the NW ~ 7nm.



**Figure A4.1** Diameter distribution of in-situ B-doped Si NWs. A total of 400 NWs were sampled for the expected B doping of  $10^{19}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> in this case. The average diameter for all doping levels was in the same range.



**Figure A4.2** SEM images to illustrate the melting of high-doped NWs upon application of a high external bias. (a) NW contacted with the Pt/Ir tip, but no bias applied. (b) 1V Bias applied to the Pt/Ir tip resulting in immediate melting of the NW and loss of contact.



**Figure A4.3** I-V curves illustrating a 'good' and a 'bad' contact between the Pt/Ir tip and a B-doped Si NW. The current drops nearly three orders of magnitude for a 'bad' contact.



**Figure A4.4** (a) SEM image of an undoped Si NW contacted with the Pt/Ir tip. (b) Electron beam induced current (EBIC) image of the NW in (a) The dotted lines frame the NW and the tip. The EBIC signal is generated at the base of the NW at its interface with the substrate, and not at the top where the tip contacts the Au cap of the NW (they were not removed in this measurement). (c) The energy band diagram of the metal (Au in this case which contacts the Pt/Ir tip) – i-Si NW- n-Si substrate that is consistent with the EBIC measurement. CB and VB are the conduction and valence bands, and  $E_F$  is the Fermi level. The band bending occurs between n-Si substrate and i-Si NW. (Reprinted form Ref. 1.108)



**Figure A4.5** Variation of contrast in the SSRM image scans with the deflection voltage. As the deflection voltage (indicated in each figure) is increased from 0.2V in (a) to 1.5V in (f), the AFM tip presses with an increasing force on the sample surface. This increases the contrast by suppressing the effects of surface defects such as scratches. The scale bar is 100 nm.



**Figure A4.6** Average spreading resistance ( $R_s$ ) values extracted from the SSRM images in Figure A4.5 along the direction  $R_s$  (see Figure A4.6(a)) at different deflection voltages (shown in the figure).  $R_s$  decreases consistently (from A to B) by two orders of magnitude with the increase of the deflection voltage as the AFM tip presses harder on the sample surface allowing higher current flow.



**Figure A4.7** TEM images of shorter than average Si NWs. (a) A NW of length ~ 220nm with the amorphous-crystalline (a-c) interace around 120nm below the NW base. (b) A NW of equal length as the one in (a) after a single step thermal anneal at 900°C for 30 seconds by RTA. The entire NW turns poly-crystalline as the a-c interface too far below the NW base to recrystallize the NW by solid phase epitaxial regrowth (SPER).



**Figure A4.8** Dependence of the recrystallization on the NW length. (a) The fraction of single crystalline (c-Si) length  $(L_{c-Si})$  w.r.t to the total length  $(L_{NW})$  vs the total length  $(L_{NW})$  for an RTA and furnace anneal. (b) The maximum fraction of the single-crystalline length vs annealing temperature (T) for both RTA and furnace anneal.

# Erklärung an Eides statt (I)

Hiermit erkläre ich, dass ich die vorliegende Arbeit selbstständig und ohne fremde Hilfe verfasst, andere als die von mir angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel nicht benutzt und die den benutzten Werken wörtlich oder inhaltlich entnommenen Stellen als solche kenntlich gemacht habe. Eine Anmeldung der Promotionsabsicht habe ich an keiner anderen Fakultät einer Universität oder Hochschule beantragt.

Pratyush Das Kanungo Halle (Saale), 28th April, 2011

# Erklärung an Eides statt (II)

Hiermit erkläre ich, dass ich die vorliegende Arbeit selbstständig und ohne fremde Hilfe verfasst, andere als die von mir angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel nicht benutzt und die den benutzten Werken wörtlich oder inhaltlich entnommenen Stellen als solche kenntlich gemacht habe. Eine Anmeldung der Promotionsabsicht habe ich an keiner anderen Fakultät einer Universität oder Hochschule beantragt.

Pratyush Das Kanungo Halle (Saale), 28th April, 2011

# PRATYUSH DAS KANUNGO

Max Planck Institute of Microstructure Physics, Weinberg 2, 06120 Halle, Germany Tel (Off): +49-345-5582919, (Cell): +49-17664288551, E-mail: <u>kanungo@mpi-halle.de</u>

#### PERSONAL INFORMATION

- Date of Birth: 06/29/1980
- ➢ Citizenship: Indian
- Current Country of Residence: Germany
- Marital Status: Single

EDUCATION						
Degree	Year Received	Institute/University	Thesis			
Doctor rerum naturalium (Dr. rer. nat) in Physics	July, 2010 (Expected)	Max Planck Institute of Microstructure Physics & Martin Luther University, Halle, Germany	'On the doping of silicon nanowires' with Prof. Ulrich Gösele (recently passed away) & Dr. Hartmut Leipner			
Master of Science in Electrical Engineering (MSEE)	January, 2005	University of Notre Dame, Indiana, USA	'Gated Hybrid Hall Effect Devices on Silicon' with Prof. Wolfgang Porod			
Bachelor of Science (BS) in Physics	May, 2003	Indian Institute of Technology, Kharagpur, India	-			

REASEARCH EXPERIENCE					
Institute/University	Time Frame	Position	Project		
Max Planck Institute of Microstructure Physics	March, 2007 - Present	Graduate Research Assistant in the group of silicon/germanium molecular beam epitaxy (MBE)	MBE growth, in-situ and ex-situ doping, device fabrication, structural and electrical characterization of individual silicon and silicon-germanium nanowires		
University of Notre Dame	August, 2003 – November, 2005	Graduate Research Assistant in the Center for Nanoscience and Technology	Design and fabrication of silicon metal-oxide- semiconductor-field- effect-transistor (MOSFET) based Hall effect devices		
Indian Association for the Cultivation of Science	May – July, 2003	Undergraduate Summer Student Research Assistant in the group of ZnO thin films	Sol-gel growth and structural characterization of nickel and manganese doped ZnO thin films as a dilute magnetic semiconductor		

TEACHING EXPERIENCE					
Institute/University	Time Position		Class		
	Frame				
University of	January –	Graduate	Electronics II Laboratory for		
Notre Dame	April, 2004	Teaching	Juniors majoring in Electrical		
		Assistant	Engineering		

INDUSTRY EXPERIENCE					
Employer	Time	Position	Tasks		
KLA-	March,	Application	1.Scanning electron imaging		
TENCOR Corporation	2006 – March.	Development Engineer in the Electron Beam	and review of material defects in silicon integrated		
- <u>r</u>	2007	Defect Review division	circuits at different process		
			<b>2.</b> Training Yield Engineers at		
			United Microelectronics		
			(Taiwan), and Chartered Semiconductors (Singapore)		

#### PEER-REVIEWING EXPERIENCE

- Assisted supervisors in reviewing manuscripts from ACS Nano (ACS), Applied Physics A (Springer), and Journal of Crystal Growth (Elsevier)
- Assisted supervisors in reviewing project proposals from German Research Foundation, European Research Council and Israel Science Foundation

#### TECHNICAL SKILLS

#### Semiconductor Processing and Characterization

- Thin film deposition and epitaxial growth Molecular Beam Epitaxy (MBE), Physical Vapor Deposition (PVD)
- Morphological characterization Reflection High Energy Electron Diffraction (RHEED), Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM)
- Structural characterization Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) and Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM)
- Device fabrication Reactive Ion Etching (RIE), Sputtering, Oxidation, Annealing, Electron Beam Deposition, Optical and Electron Beam Lithography, Focused Ion Beam (FIB) Lithography in Class 1 – Class 1000 cleanrooms
- Electrical Transport Current-Voltage, Capacitance-Voltage Measurements etc. in a Probe Station, inside a Cryostat, and inside an SEM using Nano-Manipulators

#### Computation

- Data Analysis Origin, Matlab
- ➢ Simulation − SRIM, Silvaco TCADs
- Documentation Microsoft Office, Open Office
- Image Processing Adobe Photoshop, Paint-Net, Image-J
- Physical Layout Design L-Edit

#### AWARDS

- Graduate Fellow, Department of Electrical Engineering, University of Notre Dame, Fall 2003
- National (India) Top 1% in Physics Olympiad, 1999

#### LANGUAGE PROFICIENCY

- English Native Fluency
- German Intermediate Fluency

#### **OTHER ACTIVITES**

- Member IEEE, MRS, German Physical Society (DPG)
- Organizer Max-Planck-Halle 'Movie-Nights'
- Former President Phy Society and India Association at Notre Dame, a student club in the Physics department of IIT-Kharagpur and University of Notre Dame respectively

#### REFERENCES

Available on request

# **Publication List**

## Journals

- 1. 'Three-dimensional carrier profiling of individual Si nanowires by scanning spreading resistance microscopy', X. Ou, **P. Das Kanungo**, R. Koegler, P. Werner, U. Gösele and W. Skorupa (accepted in **Adv. Mater.**, Manuscript ID: adma.201001086)
- 'Carrier profiling of individual Si nanowires by scanning spreading resistance microscopy', X. Ou, P. Das Kanungo, R. Koegler, P. Werner, U. Gösele, W. Skorupa and X. Wang, Nano Lett. 2010, 10, 171
- 'A Novel Method to Fabricate Silicon Nanowire p–n Junctions by a Combination of Ion Implantation and in-situ Doping', P. Das Kanungo, R. Koegler, P. Werner, U. Gösele and W. Skorupa, Nanoscale Res. Lett. 2010, 5, 243
- 'Comparison of the Top-Down and Bottom-Up Approach to Fabricate Nanowire-based Silicon/Germanium Heterostructures', A. Wolfsteller, N. Geyer, T.-K. Nguyen-Duc, P. Das Kanungo, N.D. Zakharov, M. Reiche, W. Erfurth, H. Blumtritt, P. Werner and U. Gösele, Thin Solid Films (in press), DOI:10.1016/j.tsf.2009.08.021
- 'Enhanced electrical properties of nominally undoped Si/SiGe heterostructure nanowires grown by molecular beam epitaxy', P. Das Kanungo, A. Wolfsteller, N. D. Zakharov, P. Werner and U. Gösele, Microelectron. J. 2009, 40, 452
- 'Ex-situ n and p doping of vertical epitaxial short silicon nanowires by ion implantation', P. Das Kanungo, R. Koegler, K. Nguyen-Duc, N. Zakharov, P. Werner and U. Gösele, Nanotechnology. 2009, 20, 165706
- 'Controlled in-situ boron doping of short silicon nanowires grown by molecular beam epitaxy', P. Das Kanungo, N. Zakharov, J. Bauer, O. Breitenstein, P. Werner and U. Gösele, Appl. Phys. Lett. 2008, 92, 263107
- 8. 'Gated Hybrid Hall Effect Devices on Silicon', **P. Das Kanungo**, A. Imre, W. Bin, A. Orlov, G. Snider, W. Porod, N. P. carter, **Microelectron. J**. 2005, 36, 294297

## **Conference Presentations**

- 'Doping and electrical characterization of individual silicon nanowires' Poster Presentation, P. Das Kanungo, X. Ou, R. Kögler, N. Zakharov, P. Werner, W. Skorupa and U. Gösele, Spring Meeting of the Material Research Society (MRS), April 5 – 9, 2010, San Fransisco, USA
- 'Ex situ n and p doping of vertical Si nanowires by ion implantation' X. Ou, P. Das Kanungo and M. Zier, Workshop Ion Beam Physics, March 29 – 31, 2010, Forschungszentrum Dresden, Dresden, Germany
- 'On the in-situ and ex-situ doping of silicon nanowires' Oral Presentation, P. Das Kanungo, R. Koegler, N. Zakharov, P. Werner and U. Gösele, 12<sup>th</sup> International Conference on the Formation of Semiconductor Interfaces (ICFSI-12), July 5 – 10, 2009, Weimar, Germany

- 'Doping of vertical silicon nanowires by ion implantation' Oral Presentation, P. Das Kanungo, R. Koegler, N. Zakharov, P. Werner and U. Gösele, Spring Meeting of the German Physical Society (DPG), March 22 - 27, 2009, Dresden, Germany
- 'Optical and electrical characterization of silicon nanowires etched from highly doped silicon wafers', P. Das Kanungo, N. Geyer, O. Moutanabbir, M. Alexe, W. Erfurth, P. Werner, U. Gösele – poster, Spring Meeting of the German Physical Society (DPG), March 22 – 27, 2009, Dresden, Germany
- 'In-situ and ex-situ doping of silicon nanowires grown by molecular beam epitaxy Oral Presentation, P. Das Kanungo, R. Koegler, N. Zakharov, P. Werner and U. Gösele, Summer School on Nanowire based One-Dimensional Electronics (NODE), July 1 – 5, 2008, Cortona, Italy
- 'Enhanced electrical properties of nominally undoped Si/SiGe heterostructure nanowires grown by molecular beam epitaxy' – Poster, P. Das Kanungo, A. Wolfsteller, N. D. Zakharov, P. Werner and U. Gösele, Workshop of Recent Advances in Low Dimensional Structures and Devices (WRALDSD), April 7 – 9, Nottingham, England
- Controlled boron doping of silicon nanowires grown by molecular beam epitaxy' Poster, P. Das Kanungo, A. Wolfsteller, J. Bauer, O. Breitenstein, N. Zakharov, P. Werner and U Gösele, (Presented by A. Wolfsteller), Spring Meeting of the Material Research Society (MRS), March 24 – 28, 2008, San Fransisco, USA
- 'Electrical and optical characterization of boron doped silicon nanowires grown by molecular-beam epitaxy' – Poster, P. Das Kanungo, A. Wolfsteller, J. W. Chou1, O. Breitenstein, P. Werner and U. Gösele, Spring Meeting of the German Physical Society (DPG), February 25 – 29, 2008, Berlin, Germany
- 'Effect of gold on the electrical properties of silicon nanowhiskers grown by molecular beam epitaxy' - Poster, P. Das Kanungo, C. Büttner, J. Bauer, O. Breitenstein, N. Zakharov, P. Werner and U. Gösele, 397<sup>th</sup> Wilhelm and Else Heraeus Seminar -Semiconducting Nanowires, October 14 – 17, 2007, Bad Honnef, Germany

## **Science Journalism**

- 1. Prepared the following press-release on his collaborative paper 'High, Not Flat: Nanowires for a New Chip Architecture' <u>http://www.sciencedaily.com/releases/2010/02/100202103625.htm</u>
- 2. Contributed to the reports in the MRS Spring 2010 Meeting Scene <u>http://www.mrs.org/s\_mrs/doc.asp?TrackID=ZTEVTP6BUN5G7M6QERQDLUBMTEBE</u> <u>WD6Z&CID=26519&DID=320537</u>